» Annual Report 2016 EQS Group AG «
Building a Global Player

» Corporate Profile «
EQS Group is a leading international technology provider
for Digital Investor Relations. More than 8,000 companies
worldwide trust EQS’s products and services to securely,
efficiently, and simultaneously fulfil complex national and
international disclosure and compliance requirements to
the global investment community.

The EQS COCKPIT also provides access to one of the most
important financial newswires, over which more than
20,000 financial and corporate releases are distributed
annually. In Germany, all DAX companies trust EQS Group’s
DGAP service as the main institution to comply with legal
and regulatory submission and publication requirements.

The heart of the technology is the EQS COCKPIT, a
cloud-based IR workflow platform, which digitally
maps the work processes of IR Officers, streamlining
them for maximum efficiency. Special modules maintain
IR websites contents (CMS), contact data (CRM) and
insider data as well as access to global investor data and
proprietary monitory and analytics functions. The EQS
COCKPIT platform is connected to the company‘s website
in order to guarantee integrated workflows.

As a digital single source provider, EQS Group also
develops IR and corporate websites and apps, creates
digital financial and sustainability reports, and performs
corporate audio and video transmissions.
EQS Group was founded in Munich, Germany in 2000 and
has developed from a start-up into an international concern
with offices in the world’s key financial markets. In
addition, the group holds the majority interest in ARIVA.
DE AG and employs more than 300 professionals.

» Key Figures «
Profit figures

Revenues

2016
26,061

2015
18,377

+/42%

Non-IFRS* EBIT

3,281

2,983

10%

EBIT

2,663

2,364

13%

Non-IFRS* group earnings

1,443
814

1,407 **
1,125 **

-28%

3,473
Dec. 31, 2016
42,403

3,637 **
Dec. 31, 2015
29,749 **

43%

25,224

17,148 **

47%

Group earnings
Operating cash flow
Asset figures
Balance sheet total
Equity
Equity ratio (%)
Liquid funds
Group employees
Average of the reporting period
Personnel expenses
Non-IFRS* earnings per share (EUR)
Earnings per share (EUR)
Market capitalisation (million EUR)

3%
-5%
+/-

59%

58%

-

6,610
2016
260

3,607
2015

83%
+/-

182

43%

12,897
Dec. 31, 2016
0.96

8,463
Dec. 31, 2015

52%
+/-

0.43
63

1.20 **
0.96 **

-20%

39

62%

-55%

Unless expressly otherwise stated, all data are in thousand Euros (except for the number of employees)
* Non-IFRS key figures before amortisation on the acquired customer base, purchase price allocation and acquisition expenses
** Prior-year figures adjusted. We refer to Point 2. „Significant accounting and valuation methods“
(2.4 Changes in the previous year‘s figures) in the notes
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» Foreword, Achim Weick, CEO «
Dear shareholders, employees, partners, and friends of
EQS Group AG!
2016 was another successful year for us. We mastered
important key stages on the way to becoming a leading
global cloud provider for digital investor relations. In
doing so, we have benefitted from three mega trends:
digitization, regulation, and globalization.
Digitization is advancing in our market. Our customers
are looking for an efficient, integrated communications
solution that covers all reporting and documentation
requirements for a listed company, which also enables
active communications with global investors. To this end,
we designed our cloud-based IR platform, COCKPIT, ten
years ago and have been constantly adapting it to international markets and customer requirements since.
We have also been buoyed by increased regulation of
financial markets. The 2016 EU Market Abuse Regulation
has, on the one hand, intensified reporting obligations
for the open market and, on the other hand, considerably tightened existing insider rules. We responded by
introducing a new cloud product tailored to customers’

demands and requirements in meeting these new insider
obligations. More than 500 companies across Europe are
using our INSIDER MANAGER, a workflow solution for
managing insider lists and digitally processing new insider
legal requirements.
Further EU regulations will take effect next year. The
MiFID II and PRIIP regulations, aimed at making financial
instruments more transparent, particularly affect
securities companies and financial service providers.
ARIVA.DE AG has proven to be an important solution
provider in this sector, which is why EQS Group AG decided
to take a majority stake in ARIVA.DE and intensify our
cooperation with them.
Digitization and regulation are also becoming more intricately tied to one another as globalization advances.
Our customers can use our digital products worldwide as
well as reach investors globally. Our new locations in New
York and Dubai will play an important role in our international network in the future, enhancing our position as a
leading global player for digital investor relations.
Our dynamic geographic expansion is happening against
the backdrop of a stable German-speaking capital
market in which we have used cross-selling to expand our
unchallenged market leadership. All DAX 30 companies
use our COCKPIT, with regular surveys confirming consistently high levels of customer satisfaction.
Our business model in Russia has proven to be
sustainable. In a difficult environment, characterized
by recession, sanctions, currency deterioration, and a
commodity crisis, we were able to expand our marketleading position in the 2016 financial year, with doubledigit growth in Euros and Rubles and ending the year
profitably.
We are also the market leader in Hong Kong, Asia’s most
important stock market, with double-digit, profitable
growth. Hong Kong has given us a strong foothold in the
Asian market by which we’ve positioned our entry into the
Chinese capital market through our location in Shanghai.
Although the Taiwan and Singapore markets have
developed hesitantly, we were able to significantly reduce
our losses in Asia with breaking even a possibility. In the
medium term, we see enormous potential for growth
in this dynamic economic region as the digitization of
investor communications, as well as increased regulation,
are still in their infancy — particularly in China.
Our relatively new subsidiary in London was able to win its
first customers in Ireland, Italy, and France in addition to
companies listed in the UK. Despite Brexit, London remains
a leading international capital market and a strategically
important location with great potential for growth.
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An important pillar of our expansion strategy is growing
our technology center in Kochi, India. It has developed
into a successful supplier of tailor-made solutions for our
global markets and frees up our equally fast-growing
headquarters in Munich to concentrate on developing
new, cutting edge platforms and products.

We thank all those who support us as we build this
great company: our highly motivated employees, our
long-standing business partners who have placed their
trust in us and our loyal shareholders who continue to
support our international expansion and strengthen us on
this path.

Investments in our international network, our product
portfolio, as well as in organisation and processes
remain high. Successfully penetrating new markets,
developing new departments, creating a new company
management system and introducing an integrated
project management software system, are but a few ways
we are investing in our future. All these investments serve
our international growth strategy and are absolutely
necessary to EQS Group’s growth into a new size class. We
are firmly convinced that we can create lasting value for
our shareholders through our growth strategies.

We look to the future with great optimism and look
forward to having you at our side.
Sincerely yours,

Achim Weick
CEO
Munich, April 2017

Without the passion and team spirit of our highly
qualified and committed employees, however, none
of this would be possible. And yet, our strategy provides
our employees with a challenging, international work
environment that motivates them to achieve peak performance and strengthens our success factors: innovative
products, top quality, and best service. Our attractiveness as an employer is confirmed by both external
evaluation platforms and by annual employee surveys.
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» Investor Relations «
EQS Group’s closing share price on XETRA on the last
trading day of the year was € 48.00, approximately +45%
higher than at the beginning of the year (€ 33.00). The
share price ranged from € 27.80 to € 49.55. EQS Group‘s
share outperformed both the Entry Standard Index and
TecDAX-Index, which were both virtually unchanged at
year’s end for the time under review. Market capitalization amounted to €62.81 million on December 31, 2016.
The price increase was accompanied by a clear increase in
the share’s Xetra trading volume over the previous year
(+38%).
As a result of its successful capital increase from authorized capital, EQS Group received an additional €5.4 million
of gross proceeds by issuing its shares in December of
the previous year. 118,998 newly registered shares were
issued against cash contributions. The company‘s share
capital increased from €1,189,980.00 to €1,308,978.00.
The new shares were placed with institutional investors at
a price of €45.00 per share as part of an accelerated book
building process. The acquired funds will be earmarked
primarily for the financing of EQS’s global expansion.

EQS’s Management Board continued to present the
company at numerous investor conferences in the 2016
financial year, including the DVFA Spring Conference
in Frankfurt, and the Munich and Zurich Capital Market
Conferences. In addition, EQS’s German Roadshow
actively engaged and informed investors and other
interested parties of the company’s many new developments and prospects. EQS Group AG published an interim
report for each quarter and held a detailed telephone
conference with analysts and investors on the same day.
Audio Webcasts can be found in the Investor Relations
section of our company website.
EQS Group AG has for years been distinguished by its
attractive dividend policy. After the shareholders received
a dividend of €0.75 for the 2016 financial year, we propose
a dividend of €0.75 for the 2016 financial year to the
Annual General Meeting. Based on the year-end price, this
represents a dividend yield of 1.56%.

Four independent research houses — GBC AG, GSC
Research GmbH, Edison Investment Research and, since
2016, the newly-added Quirin bank —- have regularly
produced analyst studies on EQS Group AG. In current
publications, two of the institutions gave buy recommendations, while two analysts rated the share as “hold“.
All studies are available for download in the Investor
Relations section of the EQS Group website.
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EQS Group AG

TecDAX

Total Return

389.9 %
311.9 %

343.58 %

233.9 %
155.9 %
78.0 %
72.31 %

0.0 %
Jan. 2007

Jan. 2008

Jan. 2009

Jan. 2010

Jan. 2011

Jan. 2012

Jan. 2013

Jan. 2014

Jan. 2015

Jan. 2016

Jan. 2017

Shareholders‘ structure EQS
Group AG:

Achim Weick: 23%
Investmentaktiengesellschaft
für langfristige Investoren TGV: 22%
Rony Vogel: 4%
Peter Conzatti: 2%
Christian Pfleger: 2%
Robert Wirth: 2%
EQS Group AG: 0,1%
Free Float: 45%
Share > 5% & Management and Board
of directors
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» In Dialogue With the Board «
In 2016, EQS Group AG once again achieved records sales.
€ 26 million, a 42% increase over €18 million in revenues the
previous year. Non-IFRS EBIT rose by 10% to € 3.3 million.
How would you characterize 2016 in a few key words?
Achim Weick: “Digitization, regulation, and globalization.
And a strong pace of growth. I think those concepts best
describe our trajectory. At the beginning of the year, we
focused our attention on integrating our acquisitions in the
UK and Switzerland. We also adapted and strengthened our
COCKPIT for new impending EU regulations. In particular, the
Market Abuse Regulation which took effect in the middle of
2016. In the second half of the year, we pushed forward with
our geographic expansion.”
You opened new subsidiaries in Dubai and New York?
Achim Weick: “That’s right. We now have staffed offices in all
major capital markets across the world and our cross-border
business will strongly benefit from the additional locations in
the years to come. Network synergies will continue help power
our growth.“
What does that mean exactly?
Achim Weick: ”Companies that are globally positioned and
need services in several markets can be optimally served by our

teams from the respective home market under central coordination, so customers benefit from our worldwide expansion, as
well.”
Christian Pfleger: ”On the product side, we’ve had great
success with our newly developed workflow solution INSIDER
MANAGER. The introduction of the European Market Abuse
Regulation has led to much stricter insider laws. Because
INSIDER MANAGER fulfills all MAR requirements, more than
500 companies are already using it to digitally process their
insider data. And because the Market Abuse Regulation is a
European Union regulation, it is a cross-border issue.“
How have the foreign companies developed in general?
Achim Weick: ”We are really pleased that Switzerland and
Russia are right on track and generating profits, while our
Asian subsidiary was able to reduce losses by almost 70%. We
are heading towards Break-Even in 2017.
Christian Pfleger: “We are also expanding our technological
center in Kochi, India to ensure corresponding support on the
development side for the entire Group. Our Indian employees
are highly motivated to make their contribution to the growth
of the Group and, last but not least, their office has the lowest
level of employee fluctuation of all EQS locations worldwide.“

Management of EQS Group AG (left to right):
Achim Weick, CEO and Christian Pfleger, COO.
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We have not yet spoken about one subsidiary in particular. You
increased your share in ARIVA.DE AG?
Achim Weick: “We now own 67% of ARIVA.DE AG, with four
founders who hold the remaining outstanding shares remaining on
the team. A part of our strong sales growth is due to the full consolidation of ARIVA.DE AG, which just had it best financial year since its
founding. The new PRIIP and MiFID II regulations for financial institutions are a large factor in this growth momentum. Financial institutions will be required to provide pre-contractual key information
documents on financial products beginning in January 2018. ARIVA
provides solutions for meeting these new regulatory mandates.”
Christian Pfleger: “We want to continue investing in companies,
products, and markets that open up growth opportunities through
the trends of digitization, regulation, and globalization.“
Were the funds from the December capital increase earmarked
for an acquisition in this area?
Achim Weick: “The funds from the successfully implemented capital
increase will be used for future growth financing, which includes
company acquisitions. A project for which we made a declaration
of intent to purchase hasn’t yet been fully realized. The ARIVA
transaction took some time – 15 months in total – but was ultimately
successfully accomplished.“
Will the successes of the 2016 business year result in a dividends
payout again?
Christian Pfleger: “Like last year, the dividend payout will amount
to € 0.75 per share, allowing us to continue our sustainable dividend
policy, while at the same time providing sufficient financial scope for
our future growth. We are set up for a positive 2017.”
Achim Weick: “For the 2017 fiscal year, we expect growth in sales
of 20% - 25%, to € 31.2 - € 32.5 million. Non-IFRS EBIT is expected to
increase 10% - 20%, to €3.6 - € 3.9 million. We also expect organic
revenue growth of 10% - 15% on average for the next five years until
2021. We are working with a strong team spirit and passion on our
growth story.“
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» Supervisory Board Report «
The Supervisory Board followed closely the business
development of EQS Group AG and its subsidiaries in the
financial year 2016. Its relationship with the Management
Board was one of trust and transparency. The Management
Board consistently informed and updated the Supervisory
Board on EQS’s business and strategic developments,
risk management, and other essential company events
through regular board meetings, conference calls, emails,
and personal communications. Management involved
the Supervisory Board whenever essential decisions
concerning company operations were being made. In
addition, Supervisory Board members continued the
practice of discussions with key EQS Group employees, in
particular management of subsidiaries and department
heads. This formed the basis of the Supervisory Board's
fulfilling of their legally-mandated task of overseeing
executive management in its company leadership. The
measure of the Supervisory Board’s oversight was the
legality, compliance, expediency and business efficiency
of Management Board activities.

Meetings of the Supervisory Board
The supervisory board met six times during the 2016
business year: March 17, April 14, May 31, September 22,
November 29 and December 15.
In addition to current developments, the Supervisory
Board discussed strategic topics:
»» Integration of Tensid AG into EQS Group
»» Setting up UK business
»» Increase of stake in ARIVA.DE AG
»» Setting up U.S. operations
»» Establishing a subsidiary in Dubai
»» Market entry in France
»» Capital increase from (parts of) authorised capital 2015

Supervisory Board
»» Appointment of new auditor
The composition of the Supervisory Board has not
changed during the 2016 financial year. The members
of the Supervisory Board – Rony Vogel, Peter Conzatti,
Robert Wirth – were approved at the Annual Meeting on
June 12, 2015 for a term ending December 31, 2019, after
discharging the member of the Supervisory Board at the
following AGM. No committees were formed in 2016.
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The Annual General Meeting of May, 31 2016
appointed of Deloitte GmbH Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft, München as auditor for the
EQS Group AG for the 2016 fiscal year. The auditor
examined EQS Group AG's financial statements
and management report from December 31, 2016,
as well as IFRS consolidated financial statements
from December 31, 2016 (including a management
report), and approved each with an unqualified
auditor’s certificate.
The Supervisory Board received audited and
certified financial statements and IFRS-consolidated financial statements as well as management
reports on time, analysed them and discussed their
contents in detail with the Management Board. The
result of the audit revealed no cause for objection.
We approved the annual financial statements, the
consolidated accounts, and management reports at
our April 3, 2017 meeting. All financial statements
were thus adopted. The Supervisory Board also
agreed to the Management Board proposal for the
use of EQS Group AG net profits. We are pleased
that the positive earnings situation and the strong
equity position of the company make it possible
for EQS Group to pay out a stable dividend that is
commensurate with its performance.
The Supervisory Board thanks the Management
Board and all EQS Group employees for their continued commitment. It is the employees who, after
17 years of shared company history, form the basis
for EQS’s continuing success. Their extraordinary
commitment, creativity, and team spirit ensure the
company’s future success.
Munich, April 3, 2017

Rony Vogel
Chairman of the Supervisory Board
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» Management Report «

» Business Model «
The mission of EQS Group AG as a parent company and
its domestic and foreign subsidiaries to provide the
world‘s best solutions and products for investor relations
managers.
EQS Group AG’s vision is to become the world‘s leading
provider of digital investor relations by 2020.
The firm foundation for our goals is the values of team
spirit and passion which define EQS globally.
Investor capital fuels both our continual development of
client platforms and online products and services, while
we invest our intellectual capital in expanding of our
innovative expertise. Another vital asset for innovation
and the development of customer and partner relationships - and ultimately for our business success - is our
committed, highly qualified and versatile employees.
We develop and engineer all of our core platforms,
products and services ourselves. Our product developers, designers, front and backend developers as well as
quality managers work hand in hand from idea to market
entry. Our customer support, project managers and
content managers are responsible for individual adjustments for each respective customer.
We distribute our products and services mainly through
our direct sales. We define our sales strategies globally,
and then adapt and implement regionally through our
subsidiaries. In close cooperation with the sales support
and marketing departments, our sales representatives
promote demand, acquire new customers and maintain
client contact in our target industries. Our marketing and
sales activities are aimed primarily at listed issuers and
corporations that value open corporate communications.
Partners play an important role for us. Our international media network guarantees us the worldwide
news breadth in real time while our partner network of
communication agencies helps acquire new customers in
the run up to IPOs and by realizing complex projects such
as corporate websites or digital business reports.

Our price model in the news area is based primarily on
a payment-per-news system, depending on the chosen
distribution network. In addition, we obtain licensing
fees for supplying software. In the agency sector, we
receive recurring revenues for report conversion and
delivery to the Federal Gazette as well as for the conducting video and audio broadcasts. We receive single
payments for the setup of websites, apps, charts, tools
or online reports, and ongoing subscription fees for
hosting and maintenance solutions.
We use four key figures to measure our business
success at the corporate level: sales, non-IFRS EBIT *,
customer satisfaction and employee management.
* Non-IFRS key figures are before scheduled depreciation
on acquired customer bases, purchase price allocation
& acquisition costs. Customer satisfaction is assessed
every two years by means of a customer survey, while
employee commitment and performance is determined
through annual employee performance reviews. Each
ratio correlates directly with our ability to deliver returns
to our investors. Ultimately, committed employees are
the key factor for gaining and maintaining the loyalty of
our customers and ensuring the success of our company.
The EQS Group contributes in many ways to creating
long-term value for society. We help our clients
to create transparency and, in particular, to create
confidence among investors. The actual situation of a
company is to be presented clearly and authentically. By
means of a fair company valuation, the cost of capital is
reduced and long-term positive corporate development
is the result. We also ensure compliance with legal and
regulatory requirements, increase the efficiency of
internal workflows and help prevent errors in the publication of information.
We make our largest contribution to the environment
by helping our customers year move away from paper
year by year by presenting their information online and
digitizing their work processes. This saves printing and
transport costs. Similarly, webcasts of telephone conferences and financial events lead to significant reductions
in the carbon footprint that travel causes.
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» Strategy «
The business model of EQS Group AG is geared towards
continuous increases in highly profitable softwareas-a-service (SaaS) sales. EQS Group benefits from
the global trends of digitalization, regulation, and
globalization.

Milestones 2016:

1. Digitization

»» E
 xpansion of business operations to financial
services providers due to EQS Group’s majority
takeover of ARIVA.DE

»» L
 aunch of the European Market Abuse Regulation
(MAR) in July 2016 expands both product portfolio
and customer base

Digitization of work processes in IR departments is
growing continuously worldwide.

3. Globalization
Milestones in 2016:
As a result of the globalization of the financial markets,
IR departments are developing worldwide strategies.

»» S
 uccessful implementation of the SaaS workflow
solution, INSIDER MANAGER

Milestones 2016:
»» D
 evelopment of proprietary content management
system (CMS)

»» E
 xpansion of the London team and of European sales
activities within the framework of MAR in Europe

»» Revenue record for webcasts
»» F
 ounding of a subsidiary in the United Arab Emirates
(Dubai)

2. Regulation

»» Establishment of a subsidiary in the USA (New York)

The regulation of financial markets and issuers is increasing due to alignment, global standards, and crises.

4) Insiders confirm the receipt
of the instruction

» INSIDER MANAGER «
Your secure corporate workflow
2) Send letter of
instruction
1) Choose Insider

3) Instruction of the
nsiders via e-mail
5) Time of confirmation
is saved

6) Insiders complete or update 
their personal data
7) Data is saved in the directory
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Kiel
Hamburg

Moscow

London
Frankfurt
Zurich Munich
New York

Shanghai
Shenzhen
Taipeh
Hong Kong

Dubai

Kochi
Singapore

» Corporate structure «
Group

100%

100%

100%

EQS Group AG

Tensid EQS AG

EquityStory RS, LLC

EQS Asia Ltd.
(EQS TodayIR)

Digital Investor Relations
Digital Corporate
Communications
Germany
Austria

Digital Investor Relations
Digital Corporate
Communications
Switzerland

Digital Investor Relations
Digital Corporate
Communications
Russia

Digital Investor Relations
Digital Corporate
Communications
Hong Kong
China
Singapore
Taiwan

100%

100%

100%

100%

EQS Group Ltd.

EQS Group Inc.

EQS Web
Technologies Pvt. Ltd.

EQS Financial
Markets & Media GmbH

Digital Investor Relations
Digital Corporate
Communications

Digital Investor Relations
Digital Corporate
Communications

Global Tech Center

Financial Media Agency
and Community

UK

51%

100%

ARIVA.DE AG

EQS Group FZ-LLC

Financial Software, Data
and Portal

Digital Investor Relations
Digital Corporate
Communications

Germany
Austria
Switzerland

India

USA

UAE
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Germany
Austria
Switzerland

» Research and Development «
In 2016, we continued to develop our existing products
and services, while also engineering new solutions for our
customers. The EQS COCKPIT is our central web-based
product platform which we are continually expanding
with new functionalities and software modules. We offer
solutions and adapt existing products to customers’
ever-evolving needs and requirements, ensuring that our
tools provide the highest level of quality in meeting our
customers’ current and future demands.

In 2016, EQS Group acquired the status of a Local Operating
Unit (LOU), from the Global Legal Entity Identifier
Foundation, Basel, Switzerland, giving us the authority
to issue and manage Legal Entity Identifiers (LEI). To tap
the full potential of our new status, EQS engineered the
LEI-MANAGER. This web application supports EQS
Group in fulfilling all its duties and tasks as an LOU — in
particular, in awarding LEIs — and provides a modern user
interface for our customers.

The European Union’s implementation of the Market
Abuse Regulation (MAR) in July 2016 ushered in harsher
penalties for issuers‘ insider dealings. EQS Group AG has
developed INSIDER MANAGER, a new workplace-independent and internet-based software solution within
the COCKPIT, for customers to manage their insider lists
efficiently, reliably, and securely. EQS has also enhanced
input templates for mandatory reporting categories as a
result of the new legislation.

In total, intangible assets in the amount of € 396K (€
300K) were capitalised in the fiscal year. We completed
the INSIDER MANAGER (€ 222K) and made significant
progress on the LEI-MANAGER platform (€ 92k) in the
reporting year. In 2016, 25% of the total development
costs were capitalised (2015: 40%). The (scheduled)
depreciation on costs capitalised totalled € 153K (€ 106K).

EQS COCKPIT &
EQS SITE MANAGER
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» Economic and Regulatory Environment «
The 2.3% growth of the global economy in 2016, in
real terms of gross domestic product (GDP), is expected
to be below the previous year‘s level (+ 2.7%), according
to the World Bank‘s semi-annual report published in
January 2017. Stagnant world trade and low investment
levels due to political uncertainty are significant factors
leading to this decline. While a moderate upturn in the
US as well as cuts within the European Union continued
in 2016, economic development in China was dampened
by weak industrial production. According to government
data, the Chinese economy’s 6.7% growth rate was its
lowest recorded growth since 1990. The currencies of
commodity-exporting countries such as Russia and Brazil
rose sharply against the Euro and the US dollar in 2016,
owing to substantial recovery in commodity prices. The
US Federal Reserve’s (FED) interest rate reversal, coupled
with the European Central Bank’s (ECB) continued
expansive monetary policy, led to an appreciation of the
US dollar against the Euro. By contrast, the British pound
clearly outperformed the Euro as a result of the Brexit
vote.
Germany’s economy experienced solid and steady
economic growth in 2016. According to initial calculations by the Federal Statistics Office, gross domestic
product (GDP) in real terms was +1.9% higher than in
the previous year(2015: +1.7%). In particular, private and
public consumption, as well as investments, rose sharply
over the previous year and compensated for emerging
markets’ weaker demand on the export economy.

Germany’s stock markets in 2016 were characterized
by temporary fluctuations similar to the previous year. At
the beginning of the year, the DAX fell well below 9,000
points but recovered significantly over the year (despite
the Brexit vote) and closed +7% at 11,481 points. The 11
public offerings (IPOs and listings), which all took place
on the regulated market (Prime and General Standard)
in Germany in 2016, was a significant drop from the 34
the previous year. As a result of increased legal requirements for delistings, the number of completed delistings
and downlistings on the regulated market fell significantly in 2016 compared to previous years. However, as
of December 31, 2016, these events resulted in only 4
fewer companies (457) being represented on the Prime or
General Standard.
In regard to legal frameworks, the Market Abuse
Regulation (MAR) took effect in July 2016 in the European
Union, leading to a significant increase and tightening of
reporting obligations for issuers. In Germany, over the
counter, as well as Entry Standard issuers, were affected.
Although the number of Entry Standard issuers fell by
20 down to 137 owing to MAR’s increased requirements,
EQS Group’s potential customer group in the area of
reporting obligations increased significantly.
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» Highlights 2016 «
»» R
 evenue growth of +42% to a new record level of €
26.1 million

»» D
 omestic markets benefits from new regulations.
Revenue grows by +38%

»» Non-IFRS EBIT increases by +10% to € 3.3 million

»» I
nternational business increases by +57%, all
markets grow at double-digit rates

»» Consolidation of ARIVA.DE AG and Tensid AG

»» Sucessful market entry in New York and Dubai
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» Overview of Business Performance «
EQS Group significantly strengthened its strategic
market position in 2016 through its introduction of new
cloud products, further international expansion, and its
majority takeover of ARIVA.DE AG (ARIVA). Against the
backdrop of overall market growth, EQS benefitted from
the following mega trends: growing digitization, stricter
financial market regulations, and increasing globalization.

Domestic Developments
Domestic core business experienced a +6% sales
increase, up to € 15.104 million (€ 14.238 million). The
2016 financial year was dominated by the new EU Market
Abuse Regulation (MAR), which came into effect on July
3, 2016. The MAR was both a catalyst for EQS Group’s
creation of its new INSIDER MANAGER cloud product,
as well as the impetus for EQS expanding its business
to companies on the open market. Although the new
regulation recently took effect, its positive effects on
EQS’s business development will only be fully realized
within the course of 2017 and beyond.

The development of our subsidiary, ARIVA.DE AG (51.1%),
also benefited from a new pan-European regulation
which will take effect on January 1, 2018, requiring basic
information sheets for packaged investment products for
small investors and insurance products (PRIIP). ARIVA has
developed a software solution for the PRIIP regulation,
which requires issuers of investment products to issue
pre-contractual basic information sheets. The pro rata
consolidated sales revenues (as of July 1, 2016) totaled
€ 4.752 million of € 7.441 million for all of 2016.
EQS Financial Markets & Media GmbH, a media agency
for financial marketing, increased its sales slightly by +3%
to € 524K. The number of media campaigns for equity
measures increased, while dependency on issuance of
SME bonds was reduced.
In total, EQS Group generated +38% in increased sales in
Germany, with an end result of € 20.381 million (€14.748
million). Despite investing heavily in bringing new
products to market, expanding our international network,
expanding IT infrastructure, organization, and processes,
EQS’s non-IFRS EBIT decreased by only -5% to € 3.57
million compared to the previous year (€ 3.77 million).
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International Developments
In 2016, our Asian group division achieved an +12%
increase in sales, up to € 2.449 million (€ 2.181 million).
The local currency (HKD) also strengthened by 12%. In
addition to an increase in revenues in the core IR website
business, sales from the news business almost doubled,
as well. On the expense side, exceptional development
compared to the previous year led to a significant and
expected decline in losses.
In Switzerland, we achieved a significant increase in
sales, up + 176% to € 2.153 million (€ 780K) as a result
of acquiring Tensid AG (effective January 1, 2016). Sales
growth measured in the local currency (CHF) strengthened by + 182%. In addition to licensing fees in the news
section, our Swiss business was particularly active in the
area of digital business reports and IR websites. Tensid
AG was merged retroactively with EQS Schweiz AG, with
the resulting Swiss company renamed Tensid EQS AG,
effective January 1, 2016.
Our Russian subsidiary capitalised on both its marketleading position and long-term customer relationships in
2016. Sales increased by + 10% to € 724K (€ 657K), while
the Russian ruble was up by 20%. The Webcasts and News
business segments were main drivers of this growth in
sales.

Our UK subsidiary generated sales of € 350K (€ 11K) in
2016. In addition to licensing sales with customers won
as a result of our acquisition of Obsidian IR (December
2015), EQS expanded its customer portfolio with sales
of its INSIDER MANAGER. EQS also expanded its US
and European sales team in the second half of 2016 in
order to capitalize on the potential that the new Market
Abuse Regulation offers, particularly in terms of INSIDER
MANAGER sales.
Our new USA office in New York City, as well as our
new subsidiary in the United Arab Emirates (UAE), will
increase future sales and earnings that can be tapped
from these foreign markets. Opened in the second half
of 2016, these new international offices complete EQS’s
successful entry into every major global capital market.
In total, EQS Group increased its overall international
sales by + 57% to € 5.681 million (€ 3.629 million). The
share of foreign sales as a percentage of consolidated
sales thus rose by + 22% (2015: 20%) over the previous
year. Non-IFRS EBIT improved over the previous year to
€ -289K (€ -786 thousand) due to smaller losses in Asia and
the profit contributions of Tensid AG. It should be taken
into account that six foreign markets were still being
established in 2016, generating corresponding losses.
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» Earnings position «
In the 2016 fiscal year, EQS Group increased revenues by
+ 42% to 26.061 million (€ 18.377 million), outperforming
sales forecasts by + 9% (€ 23 million - € 23.9 million). The
strong growth of our subsidiary ARIVA.DE was a decisive
factor in these results, this is specifically tied in particular
to the strong growth of our subsidiary ARIVA.DE AG (from
July 1, 2016), which, in addition to Tensid AG (January 1,
2016), was consolidated for the first time.
Total sales also rose by + 42% to € 26.934 million
(€ 18.933 million). This figure includes capitalised capital
contributions of € 396K (€ 300K), particularly for the
creation of our INSIDER MANAGER cloud solution.
INSIDER MANAGER was specifically developed for the
new, extensive insider law regulations mandated by
European Market Abuse Regulation (MAR). Capital
contributions also fueled the creation of our LEI (Legal
Entity Identifier) issuing platform.
The two-pronged reality of increased and stricter
reporting requirements and EQS’s newly created cloudservice INSIDER MANAGER saw cloud sales grow by + 29%
to € 7.68 million (€ 5.954 million). The share of recurring
revenues (cloud, licenses) in relation to group sales
amounted to 68% (78%) in 2016. This decline is due to a
higher share of media and project revenues generated by
ARIVA.

Revenue
(in € million)

Product Divisions

2016

2015

Cloud

News, Compliance,
Workflow

7.68

5.95

Licensing

Filing, Webcast,
Hosting

10.13

8.44

Projects

Website, Platform

6.19

3.09

Media

Portal, Media

2.06

0.89

26.06

18.38

Total

On the expense side, operating costs increased by + 46%
to € 24.271 million (€ 16.569 million) as a result of global
expansion and associated infrastructure expenses, as well
as the first-time consolidation of ARIVA.DE AG.
Personnel expenses rose by + 52% to € 12.897 million (€
8.463 million), disproportionately to the average number
of 260 employees (+ 43%). This is primarily due to the
sharp rise in the share of domestic employees at ARIVA.
DE AG and EQS Group AG.
Services purchased increased by + 44% to € 4.144
million (€ 2.872 million), an increase consistent with
expanded business activities and a +42% increase in total
sales.
The acquisition of the customer portfolios of euro-adhoc,
TodayIR, Obsidian IR, Tensid AG (as of January 1, 2016),
and ARIVA.DE AG (from July 1, 2016) in the course of the
acquisition of those companies depreciated according to
plan, thereby increasing overall depreciation by + 77% to
€ 1.512 million (€ 853K) over the previous year.
Other operating income rose by +31% to € 5.719 million
(€ 4.381 million), disproportionately lower than sales
expansion. This is due to simpler corporate and organizational structures, and the associated operating expenses
of the newly-consolidated companies ARIVA.DE AG and
Tensid AG.
Non-IFRS EBIT before one-off acquisition costs (€ 130K),
purchase price allocation (€ -113K), and the scheduled
amortization of acquired customers (€ 602K) rose by
+10% to € 3.281 million (€ 2.983 million), slightly below
(-3%) the forecasted € 3.4 million- €3.6 million. EBIT
rose by + 13% to € 2.663 million (€ 2.364 million).

Revenue
(in € million)

2016

2015

EBIT

2.66

2.36

Customer asset amortization

0.60

0.35

Acquisitions

0.13

0.27

Purchase price allocation
Non-IFRS EBIT
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-0.11

0

3.28

2.98

The purchase price allocation of ARIVA.DE AG resulted
in non-cash expenses from the write-off of € 758K in
equity. At the same time, income was produced from the
lower-than-expected last purchase price tranche for the
2014 acquisition of TodayIR, as well as the related liability
(non-cash).
Exchange rate fluctuations between the Euro (€) and both
the Hong Kong dollar (HKD) and British pound sterling
(GBP) negatively affected financial results. These non-cash
losses from currency differences resulted primarily
resulted from balance sheet items of the parent company
in relation to subsidiaries (intercompany loans, customer
portfolio, etc), leading to a negative financial result of
€ -888K (2015: € 107K *).

Taxes on profits declined as a result of lower pre-tax
profits. However, due to expense positions insignificant
to taxes, this decline was disproportionately low at -29%
or € 960K (€ 1.346 million*) as a portion of the financial
result. Accordingly, net profit fell by -28% to € 814K (€
1.125 million.*). Non-IFRS Group net income, on the
other hand, rose by + 3% to € 1.443 million (€ 1.407
million *).
*Prior-year figures adjusted. We refer to item 2: „Significant accounting and valuation methods“ (2.3 Change in
accordance with IAS 8) in the notes to the consolidated
financial statements.

» Dividend proposal «
Based on EQS Group AG’s healthy profit situation and solid
company equity, shareholders will be paid a dividend for
the 2016 financial year. The balance sheet profit relevant
to the dividend is € 7.543 million.

The Management Board’s proposal for the appropriation
of profits, which was approved by the Supervisory Board
on April 3, 2017, provides for a dividend of € 0.75 per
share. This represents dividends of € 981K in relation to
dividend-bearing capital.
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» Segments «
Our operating business is divided into two segments.
Regulatory Information & News (RI & N) bundles our
solutions in the field of reporting requirements, as well as
news distribution. The Products & Services segment (P &
S) offers digital communication solutions.
The operating business of ARIVA.DE AG, which was
consolidated for the first time, was distributed to both
segments. Workflow solutions for implementing the
new PRIIPS regulation are shown in the RI & N segment.
Derivatives, licensing sales for websites, and advertising
revenues from the financial portal www.ariva.de are
allocated to the P & S segment.
Both the Regulatory Information & News segment and
the Products & Services segment significantly increased
their sales over the previous year.

Segment Regulatory Information &
News (RI & N)
The EU Market Abuse Regulation (MAR) took effect on
July 3, 2016, spurring EQS Group to develop the new
INSIDER MANAGER cloud product, which by 2016 was
already being used by over more than 400 companies
throughout Europe.

Increased reporting obligations mandated by MAR, such
as for ad-hoc notifications and directors‘ dealings, now
apply to open market companies, as well, resulting in
more than 200 new customer contracts for EQS.
These positive developments offset sales declines caused
by both the deregulation of voting rights and the subsequent decline in news volume.
As a result of the first-time consolidated sales of the
acquired companies Tensid AG (effective January 1,
2016) and ARIVA.DE AG (as of July 1, 2016), the revenues
for the RI & N segment rose significantly by + 66% to
€ 9.872 million (€ 5.953 million). Segment EBIT fell by
-1% to € 1.563 million (€ 1.58 million), specifically due to
higher operating expenses for geographical expansion,
infrastructure, depreciation, and one-time expenses
associated with MAR.
Further developing and expanding the COCKPIT with
additional software modules, including the INSIDER
MANAGER, led to the capitalization of own contributions in the amount of € 269K. Non-IFRS EBIT in the RI
& N segment (before pro-rata customer amortization,
purchase price allocation, and acquisition costs) rose
slightly by + 2% to € 1.805 million (€ 1.775 million).
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Products & Services (P & S) Segment
Revenues, including internal sales of € 544K (€ 631K),
in the Products & Services segment —- comprising the
Reports & Webcasts, Websites & Platforms, as well as
Distribution & Media business segments — were significantly higher, + 28% to € 16.733 million (€13.054
mil-lion). Revenue increased + 30% when internal sales
were excluded.

for instance, experienced a double-digit percentage
increase, while the XML submission service gained
momentum in throughout the course of the year.
The Distribution & Media division reported a sales
increase of + 108% with €2.121 million (€ 1.019 million)
in sales, primarily due to the first-time consolidation of
ARIVA.DE AG. Media business with listed companies has
developed stably.

The Websites & Platforms division recorded € 7.105
million (€ 5.195 million) in sales, a significant increase of
+ 37% over the previous year. The first-time consolidation
of ARIVA.DE AG and Obsidian IR Ltd., as well as growth
in Asia, were overarching factors in this segment’s sales
growth.

EBIT rose by + 40% to € 1.1 million (€ 784K) due to a
significant increase in sales coupled with lower expansion
expenses than in the RI & N segment. Non-IFRS EBIT
(before established customer amortization, purchase
price allocation, and acquisition costs) in the Products &
Services segment also developed positively, rising by +
22% to € 1.476 million compared to € 1.209 million in the
previous year.

The Reports & Webcasts division performed successfully, achieving a sales increase of + 11% to € 7.025 million
(€ 6.336 million). Webcasts and digital annual reports,

in € million

Regulatory
Information &
News

Products &
Services

Consolidation

Group

Revenues

9.87

16.73

-0.54

26.06

Other operating income

0.12

0.36

0

0.48

Own cost capitalised

0.27

0.13

0

0.40

Operating expenses

-8.12

-15.19

0.54

-22.76

Depreciation
EBIT
Non-IFRS EBIT

-0.58
1.56
1.81

-0.93
1.10
1.48

0
0
0

-1.51
2.66
3.28

Financial expenses/income

-0.09

-0.06

0

-0.15

Income from associated companies
EBT
Non-IFRS EBT

0
1.48
1.69

-0.74
0.30
0.65

0
0
0

-0.74
1.78
2.39
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» Financial Situation «
The balance sheet total rose sharply by + 43% to
€ 42.403 million (€ 29.749 million *), predominately due
to the full consolidation of ARIVA.DE AG and Tensid AG, as
well as to the capital increase.
As a result, intangible assets rose by + 47% to € 26.314
million, with ARIVA.DE AG‘s at-equity investment (€ 2.131
million) being eliminated. Included in this are acquired
customer portfolios, which are regularly amortized over
15 years and had a € 9.168 million book value on December
31, 2016, as well as intangible assets in the amount of
€ 832K. All goodwill resulting from the consolidation of
the acquired companies was activated at 100%.
Property also rose by + 58% to € 2.14 million (€ 1.356
million) as of December 31, 2016 as a result of the ARIVA.
DE AG acquisition. However, office property held by
ARIVA was sold before the balance sheet date, resulting
in a significant increase in liquid assets of + 83% to
€ 6.61 million (€ 3.607 million).

Accounts receivable were up by + 40% on the previous
year to € 3.908 million (€ 2.794 mil-lion), slightly down
in proportion to sales. This is attributable to an increase
in pre-payments for software licenses, in addition to
efficient receivables management.
EQS Group uses a multilevel liquidity management
planning process built on 3-month short-term liquidity
planning, as well as rolling 36-month plans for the
individual companies and for the Group as a whole.
Due to the relatively low level of sales in foreign
currencies (15% - 20%) which are transacted mainly in
hard currencies (CHF, GBP, USD, HKD) as well as expenses,
which are predominantly paid in local currencies, regular
exchange-rate hedging transactions have been forgone.

» Financial position «
The equity of the EQS Group increased by a significant
+45% to € 25.224 (€17.148 million*) with profit retained
in the amount of € 9.924 million (€ 10.301 million*). The
equity increase is a result of three main factors: full
consolidation of ARIVA.DE AG effective July 1, 2016, the
capital increase in December 2016 (€ 5.208 million), and
the net profit for the year as of December 31, 2016.
Despite high repayments on loans in 2016, EQS Group’s
financial liabilities rose by +11 % to € 9.224 million
(EUR 8.324 million*) — a result of new borrowing for
the majority takeover of ARIVA.DE AG, financing of the
Obsidian IR Ltd. acquisition in the UK, as well assuming
ARIVA.DE AG’s leasing liabilities (financial leases).

The increase in other liabilities is mainly due to higher
customer pre-payments at Tensid EQS AG and EQS
Group AG. As a result, working capital (current non-financial receivables minus current non-financial liabilities)
increased significantly to € - 646K (€ - 98 K*).
The equity ratio rose slightly to 59% (58%), which is the
target corridor of the Group‘s capital structure.
*Prior-year figures adjusted. Please refer to item 2. “Significant accounting and valuation methods“ (2.4 Changes
in the previous year‘s figures) in the notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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» Employees «
On average in 2016, EQS Group AG employed 260 people
(2015: 182). As of the balance sheet date, the number of
employees rose sharply, up to 319 from197 the previous
year. The increase is due mainly to the addition of ARIVA.
DE AG (+ 102) and Tensid AG (+ 12) employees. The number
of employees increased by + 62% on the reporting date.
The number of employees dedicated to web development
increased significantly through the acquisition of
ARIVA.DE AG. We have also enlarged our technology
center in Kochi, India to 27 employees (+5), and product
development to 42 (+5), as well as adding to our
headquarters in Munich (+3). In order to better explore
the opportunities MAR offers in Europe, we have established an international sales team (8 employees) in the

Employees
Dec 31

UK. Employee development is part of our investment in
our international network, our product portfolio, and
in organization and processes. These investments serve
our growth strategy and are absolutely vital for growing
EQS Group into a new size class.
Our employees did an excellent job in 2016. Their
expertise, experience, motivation, and exceptional team
spirit form the basis for EQS Group AG’s sustained success.
In order to reward their deep commitment, pay compensation package consist of a fixed salary supplemented by
a performance-related, variable salary component for
a large number of EQS employees. The amount of the
variable portion of salary is dependent on the position
within the company and area of activity.

Web
Development

Marketing/
Sales

Data Service

Management/
Administration

Design/
Content

Newsroom/
ERS-System

Total

2016

144

42

26

41

60

6

319

2015

76

39

22

29

24

7

197
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» Risk report «
Risk policy
EQS’s risk philosophy is an integral element of our
comprehensive company philosophy. Our goal: to
increase company value with the most durable commensurate returns possible. Because the pursuit of our goal
is directly connected to potential risks, approaching risks
responsibly is the cornerstone of our risk policy.
Systematic risk management in identifying and evaluating
risks early, as well as the use of appropriate measures
to reduce overall risk, is a permanent priority and task
of both EQS’s Management and Supervisory Board, and
of each business unit. The Group’s risk policy also understands the importance of taking risks as a necessary
condition of leveraging valuable opportunities.

are then reviewed together with management. Financial
forecasts are also influenced by regulation prospects,
capital markets forecasts, and industry trends. Result-relevant changes within a component are communicated
in the form of immediate reporting directly between the
Management Board and the heads of divisions. As such,
organisational structure and elements of the controlling
system form a comprehensive mechanism between
strategic and operative corporate levels.

Risk management system
We utilise a detailed risk management system in order
to create opportunity and risk profiles of our heterogeneous business divisions.

The Group’s internal control system
The structure and organisation of EQS Group follows
the “structure follows strategy“ principle. Perpetual
adjustments to organisational structure define clear
responsibilities, thereby clarifying responsibilities
within monitoring, planning, and control systems. EQS’s
monitoring and planning systems consist essentially of
the following components:
»» Weekly management-level conferences
»» Weekly division and team meetings
»» Monthly management information reporting systems
»» R
 olling monthly planning / liquidity development at
corporate level
»» Risk and opportunities management
Our control system is oriented toward revenues planning,
target objectives for Non-IFRS EBIT, EBIT-Margins.
Planning for the subsequent two business years is based
on a percentage rate of increase. Targets for revenue
planning are produced at the Company level by the sales
departments and delivered to Finance and Management
who review them and adapt them to EQS’s global
perspective. Key expense positions are forecasted by the
finance department based on accounting data history
and information gathered from cost center heads, and

Risk identification is rooted in analyses of capital
markets, markets and competition analyses in close
relation to issuers, institutions, partners and suppliers,
as well as through intensive cooperation between
management and those responsible for each division.
Identified risks are assessed through a survey of potential
probabilities of risk and any pursuant damages, and
the possible allocation of risk capital thereto, and the
allocation of necessary risk capital in association with
possible assessed damage. Risks are then systematically
countered and opportunities leveraged via consistent
development and application of appropriate counter
measures and control instruments.
Specific objectives form a systematic and efficient
management tool which pay a decisive role in operational management’s early risk detection, as well as
analyses and communication. Frequent periodic reporting
informs business managers about any and all changes in
risk situations.
Risk officers catalogue all risks annually within a risk
manual, giving the board a continuous and current
assessment of overall risk situations. Possible adjustments can then be made in order to avoid or minimise
damages and resulting costs.
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Environmental risks

Corporate risks

The further development of EQS Group AG is decisively
influenced by economic conditions in both domestic and
international markets. Economic trends, legal frameworks, and capital market developments play a particularly decisive role.

The factors summarised under the term “corporate-specific” are Frameworks such as growth, product, service,
tax, and personnel risks.

The weakening of economies in emerging markets, particularly the Chinese economy, as well as the ongoing crisis
in Russia, led to high volatility in share prices on capital
markets in 2015. The 2016 financial year saw a reduction
of this volatility, although the affirmative BREXIT vote in
the middle of 2016 was cause for short-term uncertainty
among market participants.
Regarding legal frameworks on capital markets, the
Market Abuse Regulation took effect in the European
Union in July 2016 and subsequently led to a major
expansion in reporting obligations for issuers. As a
result, EQS Group‘s potential customer base and product
portfolio have also expanded, thereby increasing sales
with existing customers, bolstering our number of
customers, and improving our overall risk profile.
The EU-wide obligation of the financial services industry
(PRIIPS) to provide standardized product information
sheets – for which ARIVA.DE AG would create technological solutions – has been postponed by one year to
January 1, 2018. This gives users and technology providers,
including ARIVA.DE AG, the necessary additional time to
prepare, and has no averse influence on EQS’s risk profile.
Our progressive global expansion with market entry into
the USA, our improved market position in Switzerland,
and our laid groundwork for a Middle East presence –
these factors have all led to further diversification of
EQS Group’s market risk. EQS remains the unchallenged
market leader in its core market in the German-speaking
realm. EQS’s majority takeover of ARIVA.DE expanded
its product portfolio for financial service providers, also
reducing EQS’s market risk.
The risk from competition also price competition has
reduced due to the successful introduction of the
INSIDER MANAGER. As a consequence, customer value
and stickyness have increased. For the future, we see
continued clear differentiation from competitors both
in this core area, as well as globally. In sum, our environmental risks have decreased in 2016 over the previous
year.

Potential risks arise primarily in the areas of strategic
development, high technological product requirements, as well as hiring and maintaining qualified
employees. An analysis of corporate-specific risk factors
during the reporting period resulted in a higher level of
risk over the previous year.
EQS’s many growth activities were conducted using
conservative forecasts. Risk assessment in comparison
to the previous year produced, in sum, an increased
risk situation. While the planned continuation of global
expansion poses increased internationalization risks,
these risks are offset by decreased risk potential with
regard to EQS’s existing customers base. By expanding
business partnerships and winning new customers as a
result of the new Market Abuse Regulation, EQS further
improved its market share in its core market in 2016. In
addition, 95% of all EQS customers account individually for
a client share of less than 1%, while the revenue share of
individual customers never exceeds 5% of total revenues.
The new US office and taking the majority share of
ARIVA.DE both led to an overall Integration and strategy
risk which is relatively high.
Due to the extensive further development of the
COCKPIT platform, including the newly-developed
INSIDER MANAGER as well as product adaptations within
the framework of our global expansion, risk assessment
in the area of products and services risks has increased
compared to the previous year.
A need for specialised personnel and management staff
within the Group leads to a high level of personnel risk.
The risk probability of losing key personnel remained
at the same levels as the previous year. A lack of skilled
workers in the IT sector has intensified in Germany.
However, the Group’s risk has been reduced by expanding
its technology location in India. The language risk is not
to critical in the IT area, as communication can be done
either in English or German.
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Legislative changes resulting from MAR have increased
compliance obligations for the EQS Group as a stocklisted company. Although we already have all necessary
control mechanisms in the area of Inside Management,
for reasons of prudence, we have raised the probability of
damages. Overall, increased control requirements and
risk result from the company‘s growth, particularly in the
area of personnel.
Information technology risk has increased in the
reporting period, as well. As a technology company, we
place great value on the continuous modernisation of our
IT infrastructure and optimisation of such factors such
as security, high availability, and increased speed in order
to map efficient work processes. We are also working to
continuously improve existing IT processes, thus reducing
risk. The international roll-out of our infrastructure within
the context of the company’s global expansion, on the
other hand, increases risk. The risk situation for the area
Systemic Risk remains unchanged over the previous year.
By contrast, we have increased our risk assessment in the
area of data security and copyrights after a 2015 breach
in the systems of our American competitors. As a result,
several security measures were taken in order to better
protect our systems from external attacks in 2015. No
warranties exist from software modules.

In the course of a 10% capital increase in December
2016, our equity ratio and liquidity position improved,
significantly reducing the probability of a liquidity risk
has reduced significantly. However, the potential risk
amount has increased to an extreme high. Additionally,
it was possible for us to keep payment default risk at
the previous year’s level, thereby reducing the default
rate relative to revenues. Our exposure is limited due to
relatively low revenue per individual customer, as well as to
the relatively high solvency of our stock-listed customers.
To minimise risk in some areas, we employ pre-payment
agreements and credit card payments. The potential of
risk due to currency fluctuations is increasing due to an
increase in foreign currency transactions. In summary, no
current financial risks exist that could lead to a significant
deterioration of the financial situation of EQS Group AG.

Other risks
There were no significant changes in organisational and
management risk during the period under review. The risk
buffers were actually significantly increased due to the
strong growth in sales.

Financial Risks
Financial risks in the form of liquidity and payment
default risks for EQS Group AG have decreased over the
last year.
The risk of low return on investments has increased
due to an increased number of investments compared to
previous year’s level. In the last few years, comprehensive
experience in our operative business or associated
business areas helps us assess risk and continue to hold
risk at comparatively low levels.

RISK REPORT | 29

Overall Risk Position
EQS Group’s overall risk increased by +9% on the
December 31, 2016 balance sheet. Absolute risk level as
a function of average required risk capital rose to € 677K
(€ 623K) and thus remained at a high level. On the one
hand, these high risks are the unavoidable result of an
overall strategy of international growth and the continuous legal changes resulting from new market requirements. On the other hand, EQS’s expansion reduces
our dependency on the domestic market and provides
for successive, measured risk diversification. Taken in
relation to our net assets, financial situation, and earnings
position, and measured against EQS’s history of expected
Group EBIT, risk capital is merely a fraction and is covered
many times over by the financial strength of the company.
Presently, there are no other known or foreseeable risks
which could individually or reciprocally have a negative
or substantial impact on the Group’s net asset position,
financial status, or earnings position.
Composition of the required risk capital according to the
Group’s internal risk-catalog (in EUR ‚000):

2016

2015

2014

Environmental risks

101

141

210

Corporate risk

437

379

290

Financial risk
Required risk capital

140

103

96

677

623

596

Risk area
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» Opportunity Report «
In addition to risks, opportunities arising from the Group’s
strategies are evaluated regularly. These opportunities
are divided into three distinct categories:
Opportunities arising from changes in the business
framework, Corporate strategy opportunities, Performance-related opportunities.

Opportunities arising from changes in the
business framework
This category describes appreciation of value potential
which is based on such factors as favourable market
developments, amendments to legislation, the regulatory
environment, as well as on trends in the industry and in
customer behavior.
For the current fiscal year, the following opportunities
have arisen:
»» A
 n international trend of continued increases in regulations for listed companies by national legislatures,
regulators, and the stock exchanges Increased surveillance and tougher sanctions by the Financial Supervisory Authority in cases of market manipulation or
disregard of regulations (€ 1 million – € 5 million p.a.)

Corporate strategy opportunities
»» S
 trategic opportunities have arisen from the implementation of overarching corporate strategies.
»» S
 trategic expansion of the investor relations product
range intensifies cooperation with customers and
increases the overall revenue per customer (mid-term
potential of € 500K – €2.5 million p.a.)
»» I ncrease share of licensing revenues by broadening
the COCKPIT product range with additional software
modules which will result in an increase in average sales
per customer (medium-term € 500K to € 2.5 million p.a.)
»» A
 cquire new customers through expanded statutory
obligations within the framework of the Market Abuse
Regulation (€ 250K to € 1million p.a.)
»» G
 rowth opportunities due to intensified marketing of
premium distribution in Regulatory Information & News
(€ 100K to € 500K p.a.)
»» S
 tructured claim management for the billing of
additional services (€ 100K – € 0.25 million p.a.)

Performance-related opportunities
»» I nstitutional investors’ demand for best practice
investor relations solutions (€ 100K – € 500K p.a.)
»» P
 rivate investors’ demand for greater transparency and
improved access to company information € 50K million
- € 100K p.a.)
»» C
 ontinuous increase in Digital Investor Relations
budgets (€ 100K – € 500K p.a.)
»» I ncrease customer demand for a comprehensive and
integrated range of products due to the growing
complexity of the media (€ 100K – € 500K p.a.)
»» P
 ositive economic outlook for 2017 and beyond with
increasing IPOs and budgets (€ 100K –€ 500K p.a.)

Performance-related opportunities are closely linked
to the company‘s business, comprising both efficiency
improvements, as well as potential for increases in appreciation (financial outcome not quantifiable).
»» I ntroduction of a balanced scorecard system for the
efficient work assessment of employees
»» I ndividual personnel development concepts for
sustainable development and motivation of employees
»» I ncreased efficiency of internal work processes through
an integrated, cross-divisional ERP system and the
introduction of new CRM software
»» F
 urther increased customer satisfaction through
attractive, innovative products, and intensive consultation and support

OPPORTUNITY REPORT | 31

» Forecast report «
According to the World Bank‘s half-yearly report
published in January 2017, the global economy‘s growth
in 2017 is expected to reach + 2.7% (2.3% growth in 2016).
This forecast assumes an increase in raw material exports
with increased consumption in industrialized countries.
On the other hand, low levels of both investment and
productivity growth is expected for emerging markets.
existing political uncertainties remain potential political
risk factors, including the European debt crises, BREXIT,
and the new US administration. On the other hand,
stronger growth in the US economy could provide a
positive surprise.
Due to the overall macroeconomic situation in 2017, we do
not expect any noteworthy impetus for EQS Group AG’s
business development abroad. The three mega trends
of digitization, regulation, and globalization continue
to be decisive for us. We will benefit from the following
regulations in Europe: Market Abuse Regulation, Mifid II,
and PRIIP Regulation.
In its annual economic forecast, the Deutsche Bundesbank
in December 2016 predicted the German economy
will grow in 2017, with a forecasted + 1.8% rise in GDP.
This growth prognosis rests on a favorable labor market
situation as well as a significant increase in real disposable
income for private households. Despite a tense European
economic situation and weaker demand from emerging
markets, economic development looks to remain positive
for coming years.
In the domestic equities market, we expect a weak IPO
environment, with between 5-10 public offerings in 2017,
a number similar to the previous year. However, we do not
expect a significant number of de-listings. We will benefit
from the regulatory environment in 2017, particularly in
Germany. EQS Group AG expects double-digit sales
growth for 2017 as a result of the MAR. Licensing
agreements for the INSIDER MANAGER which were
signed in 2016, as well as new customers acquired as a
result of new MAR obligations, offer a base growth effect
with € 650K in sales for 2017. Increased cross-selling and
additional sales opportunities from newly won customers
is expected. We anticipate a slightly disproportionate
increase in EBIT due to growth in scalable business areas.

As in 2017, our subsidiary ARIVA.DE AG should continue
to benefit from the run-up to the new PRIIP regulation
taking effect on January 1, 2018. The consolidation of
sales and profits as of July 1, 2016 produces a base effect,
which will be most apparent in a growth in sales (increase
of > 50%). On the profit side, there are seasonal effects,
due to the portal business generating strong profits in
Q4 of each year. Therefore, there is no similar base effect
comparable to the revenue side.
After stabilizing in 2015 and 2016, our subsidiary EQS
Financial Markets & Media GmbH expects a revenue
recovery in 2017.
We expect to see more IPOs as well as high trading
turnover in 2017 on international capital markets,
especially on Asian, UK, and US stock markets. The
Shanghai stock market has stabilized after turmoil in 2016
and the number of IPOs has begun to pick up.
In the medium-term, we expect new regulations and
higher transparency requirements for Chinese capital
markets, similar to those currently in place and about to
take effect in Europe, in order to better protect investors
from risks. As a result, we expect double-digit sales
growth in Asia, with small losses for 2017. Break-even is a
real possibility with above-average development in 2017.
In Switzerland, we expect single-digit sales growth
with a double-digit EBIT margin for 2017, due to our
position as market leader as well as a higher level of
market saturation.
Despite persistent political and economic uncertainties,
we are confident that Russia will again be able to achieve
clear double-digit sales growth in rubles in 2017.
Simultaneously, we predict a first-time double-digit EBIT
margin in the 2017 financial year.
We do not expect any impact from BREXIT in the UK in the
short- to medium-term, and expect a high level of capital
market activity, with a large number of IPOs for the
British capital market. The MAR is generating significant
momentum and we plan to double sales in GBP while
reducing operating losses.
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Our established companies in the USA and United Arab
Emirates plan to make their first significant revenue
contributions in 2017, albeit at a low level, accompanied
by corresponding start-up losses.

For the 2017 financial year, within the above-described
conditions, we forecast a sales increase of + 20% to +
25% for the EQS Group (Concern), resulting in € 31.2
million to € 32.5 million. The share of inorganic growth
caused by ARIVA .DE AG is around 10%.

We plan to generate negative EBIT contributions totaling
€ 800K to €1 million for the emerging markets of New
York, London, Shanghai, Singapore, and Dubai.

We plan an increase of non-IFRS EBIT (prior to acquisition
expenses & purchase price allocation as well as scheduled
depreciation of customer bases) in 2017 of +10% to +20%,
or € 3.6 million to € 3.9 million (2016: € 3.3 million).

We forecast a significant +15% to +20% revenue
increase for the current 2017 fiscal year in the Regulatory
Information & News segment, specifically as a result of
innovations in European capital market regulation.

Based on the current Group structure, we expect average
annual revenue growth of +10% to +15% for an average
annual non-IFRS EBIT increase of + 20% to + 25% for
the five-year period from 2017 to 2021.

We also expect sales growth of + 25% to + 30% for the
Products & Services segment. This increase can be
attributed to the base effect ARIVA.DE AG has in the areas
of Websites & Platforms and Distribution & Media (Portal),
as well as in the continuation of growth in XML submission
and webcasts.

EQS Group AG will continue to pursue the principles of a
conservative and risk-conscious treasury policy. A capital
increase or borrowing will only be pursued for acquisitions
or subsequent investments.

Comparison of projected figures with actual target values of EQS Group AG:
in €
millions

Achieved
Revenues

2017

Forecasted
Revenues

Non-IFRS EBIT

Forecasted
Non-IFRS EBIT

31.2-32.5

3.6-3.9

2016*

26.1

23.0-23.9

3.3

3.4-3.6

2016

26.1

20.2 – 21.1

3.3

3.1 – 3.3

2015

18.4

18.0 – 18.8

3.0

3.0 – 3.15

* Increase of the forecast after majority purchase of ARIVA.DE AG effective July 1, 2016

Munich, March 31, 2017

Achim Weick
(Gründer & CEO)

Christian Pfleger
(COO)
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» Consolidated Financial Statements «

» Consolidated income statement from Jan. 1, 2016 to Dec. 31, 2016 «
Note

2016
EUR

2015
EUR

Revenues

6

26,061,153

18,377,162

Other income

7

476,459

255,979

Own cost capitalised

8

396,468

299,684

Purchased services

9

-4,144,165

-2,872,347

Personnel expenses

10

-12,896,585

-8,462,669

Depreciation & amortisation

11

-1,511,566

-853,379

Other expenses

12

-5,718,845

-4,380,615

2,662,919

2,363,815

Operating result (EBIT)
Interest income

13

111,363

24,368 *

Interes expenses

14

-125,316

-82,885 *

Income from associated companies

15

-737,705

42,630

Other financial income/expenses

16

-136,416

122,826 *

1,774,845

2,470,754 *

-960,442

-1,345,837 *

Group net income

814,403

1,124,917 *

- thereof attributable to the owner of the company

514,943

1,124,890 *

- thereof attributable to non-controlling interests

299,460

27

168,596

385,045

Other comprehensive income

168,596

385,045

Comprehensive income

982,999

1,509,962 *

- thereof attributable to the owner of the company

683,359

1,509,933

- thereof attributable to non-controlling interests

299,640

29

Profit before tax (EBT)
Income taxes

17

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:
Currency translations

32

Earnings per share - basic and diluted

18

0.43

* Prior-year figures adjusted. We refer to Point 2. „Significant accounting and valuation methods“ (2.4 Changes in the previous year‘s
figures) in the notes
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0.96 *

» Consolidated balance sheet as of Dec. 31, 2016 «
Assets
Note

31.12.2016
EUR

31.12.2015
EUR

Intangible assets

20

26,314,211

17,850,305 *

Tangible assets

21

2,139,673

1,355,644

At-equity investments

22

0

2,130,788

Long-term financial assets

23

1,246,340

1,050,168

Other long-term assets

24

9,386

3,857

Deferred tax assets

17

679,399

386,230

Non-current assets

30,389,009

22,776,992 *

Current assets
Trade accounts receivables

25

3,907,935

2,794,446

Construction contracts

26

101,041

104,754

Tax assets

17

582,304

45,151

Current financial assets

23

259,481

104,715

Other current assets

24

553,063

315,944

Cash and cash equivalents

27

6,610,186

3,607,357

12,014,010

6,972,366

42,403,019

29,749,358 *

Total assets

Equity and Liabilites
Note

31.12.2016
EUR

31.12.2015
EUR

1,189,980

Equity
Issued capital

28

1,308,978

Treasury shares

28

-3,700

-6,049

Capital surplus

29

10,257,828

5,064,191

Retained earnings

31

9,924,286

10,301,080 *

Currency translation

32

767,503

Non-controlling interests

33

2,969,155
25,224,050

598,907
15
17,148,124 *

Non-current liabilities
Non-current provisions

34

151,200

Non-current financial liabilities

35

5,072,712

Deferred tax liabilities

17

2,013,148

149,900
6,357,071 *
768,945 *

7,237,060

7,275,916 *

Current liabilities
Current provisions

34

1,299,763

710,249

Trade account payable

37

1,533,923

696,808

Liabilities from percentage-of-completion

38

0

Current financial liabilities

35

4,151,227

20,300
1,966,674 *

Income tax liabilities

17

297,918

Other current liabilities

39

2,659,078

361,540
1,569,747 *

9,941,908

5,325,319

Total equity and liabilities

42,403,019

29,749,358 *

* Prior-year figures adjusted. We refer to Point 2. „Significant accounting and valuation methods“ (2.4 Changes in the previous year‘s
figures) in the notes
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» Consolidated Cash flow statement from Jan. 1, 2016 to Dec. 31, 2016 «
2016
EUR ’000

+

Group earnings

814

Income taxes

961

+

Interest expenses

-

Interest income

-

Income from associated companies

2015
EUR ’000

125

1,125 *
1,346 *
83 *

-111

-24

-20

-43

-217

-23

-/+

Profit/loss on disposals of property, plant and equipment

+/-

Other non-cash income/expenses (e.g. unrealised profit and loss from currency differences
and partial profits realised using the percentage of completion method)

+/-

Depreciation on fixed assets

1,512

853

+/-

Change in provisions

386

121

-/+

Increase/decrease of inventories, trade accounts receivables and other assets not
attributable to investment or financing activities (except for income tax)

369

378

+/-

Increase/decrease of trade payables and other liabilities not attributable to investment or
financing activities (except for income tax)

706

742

-120

-56

-

Interest expenses paid

+

Interest income paid

-

Income tax paid

=

Operating Cash Flows

-

Purchase of property, plant and equipment

+

Proceeds from disposals of property, plant and equipment

-

130 *

93

0

-1,302

-995

3,473

3,637 *

-772

-904

2,705

41

Purchase of intangible assets

-784

-459

-300

-656

-

Acquisition of non-current financial assets

+

Proceeds from disposals of non-current financial assets

-

Acquisition of subsidiaries and business units

+/-

277

Increase/decrease of trade payables and other liabilities attributable to investment
activities

+

Dividends received

=

Cash flows from investment activities

+

Cash receipts from the issue of capital (capital increases, sale on entity's shares, et seq.)

-

Cash payments to owners and minority shareholders (dividends, acquisition of entity's
shares, redemption of shares, other distributions)

+

Cash proceeds from issuing bonds/loans and short or long-term borrowings

-

Cash repayments of bonds/loans or short or long-term borrowings

42

0

-3,731

-1,046

-104

0

13

0

-2,931

-3,024

5,279

568

-890

-883

2,050

4,200

-3,993

-1,774

=

Cash Flows from financing activities

2,446

+

Change in cash funds from cash relevant transactions

2,988

2,111
2,724 *

+

Cash funds at the beginning of period

3,607

1,370

+
=

Change in cash funds from exchange rate movements
Cash funds at the end of period

15
6,610

-487 *
3,607

* Prior-year figures adjusted. We refer to Point 2. „Significant accounting and valuation methods“ (2.4 Changes in the previous year‘s
figures) in the notes
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» Consolidated statement of changes in equity as of Dec. 31, 2016 «
Capital surplus

Retained
earnings

Currency
translations

Attributable
to owners of
the parent

Non-controlling
interests

Total equity

EUR´000
-25

EUR´000
4,440

EUR´000
10,088

EUR´000
214

EUR´000
15,907

EUR´000
-37

EUR´000
15,870

0

0

0

1,125 *

385

1,510

0

1,510

0

0

0

8 *

0

8

0

8

Issued capital

Treasury
shares

EUR´000
1,190

Comprehensive income
2015
Adjustments refer to
corrections

As of Dec. 31, 2014

Sale of treasury shares

0

19

550

0

0

569

0

569

Dividend payment

0

0

0

-883

0

-883

0

-883

Share-based
compensation

0

0

74

0

0

74

0

74

0

0

0

-37

0

-37

37

0

1,190

-6

5,064

10,301 *

599

17,148

0

17,148

0

0

0

513

169

682

300

982
5,208

Purchase of
non-controlling interests
As of Dec. 31, 2015
Comprehensive income
2016

119

0

5,089

0

0

5,208

0

Sale of treasury shares

Capital increase

0

2

68

0

0

70

0

70

Dividend payment

0

0

0

-890

0

-890

0

-890

Share-based
compensation

0

0

37

0

0

37

0

37

Additional
non-controlling interests
arising on acquisition

0

0

0

0

0

0

2,738

2,738

0

0

0

0

0

0

-69

-69

1,309

-4

10,258

9,924

768

22,255

2,969

25,224

Transactions with
non-controlling interests
As of Dec. 31, 2016

* Prior-year figures adjusted. We refer to Point 2. „Significant accounting and valuation methods“ (2.4 Changes in the previous year‘s
figures) in the notes
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» 1. General information «
The company EQS Group AG (“EQS Group“) was established with a notarial deed (UR no. 409/200 of the Notary
Dr. Oliver Vossius, Munich) on 3 February 2000. The head
office of the company company is based in Karlstrasse
47, 80333 Munich, Germany. The company is registered in
the Commercial Register of the District Court of Munich
under HRB 131048. The consolidated financial statement
applies to the company itself and its subsidiary companies
(referred to together as the “group” and individually as
the “group companies”). The group operates in the online
communication sector worldwide.
The consolidated financial statement was prepared in
accordance with the International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRS) which had been adopted by the
European Union (EU) as of 31 December 2016 and which

are applicable to the company. The consolidated financial
statement was supplemented with a consolidated
management report as well as the applicable mandatory
disclosures according to section 315a, para. 1 of the
German Commercial law.
The Group’s functional and presentation currency of the
consolidated financial statements is the Euro. Unless
otherwise stated, the figures are rounded to a thousand
Euro.
Due to rounding, it is possible that individual figures in
this consolidated financial statements do not exactly add
up to the stated sum, and that the percentages shown do
not exactly reflect the absolute values to which they refer.

» 2. Significant accounting policies «
2.1 Basis of preparation
The consolidated ﬁnancial statements have been
prepared on the historical cost basis except for certain
properties and ﬁnancial instruments that are measured
at revalued amounts or fair values at the end of each
reporting period, as explained in the accounting policies
below.
Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement
date, regardless of whether that price is directly observable or estimated using another valuation technique.
In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the
Group takes into account the characteristics of the asset
or liability if market participants would take those characteristics into account when pricing the asset or liability at
the measurement date. Fair value for measurement and/or
disclosure purposes in these consolidated ﬁnancial statements is determined on such a basis, except for sharebased payment transactions that are within the scope
of IFRS 2, leasing transactions that are within thescope
of IAS 17, and measurements that have some similarities
to fair value but are not fair value, such as net realisable
value in IAS 2 or value in use in IAS 36.

In addition, for ﬁnancial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based
on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are observable and the signiﬁcance of the inputs
to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which are
described as follows:
»» L
 evel 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity
can access at the measurement date;
»» L
 evel 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and
»» L
 evel 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.
The principal accounting policies are set out below.

NOTES | GENERAL INFORMATION | 40

2.2

Application of new and revised International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs)

In the current year, the Group has applied a number of amendments to IFRSs issued by the International Accounting
Standards Board (IASB) that are mandatorily effective for an accounting period that begins on or after 1 January 2016.

Amendments to IFRS 10, IFRS 12 and IAS 28

Investment Entities: Applying the Consolidation
Exception

Amendments to IAS 27

Equity Method in Separate Financial Statements

Amendments to IFRS 11

Accounting for Acquisitions of Interests in Joint
Operations

Amendments to IAS 1

Diclosure Inititative

Amendments to IAS 16 and IAS 38

Clarification of Acceptable Methods of Depreciation
and Amortisation

Amendments to IAS 16 and IAS 41

Agriculture: Bearer Plants

Amendments to IAS 19

Defined Benefit Plans: Employee Contributions

Amendments to IFRSs Annual Improvements to IFRSs

2010 -2012 Cycle

Amendments to IFRSs Annual Improvements to IFRSs

2012 -2014 Cycle

NOTES | GENERAL INFORMATION | 41

Amendments to IFRS 10, IFRS 12 and IAS 28
Investment Entities: Applying the Consolidation
Exception
The amendments clarify that the exemption from
preparing consolidated ﬁnancial statements is available to
a parent entity that is a subsidiary of an investment entity,
even if the investment entity measures all its subsidiaries
at fair value in accordance with IFRS 10. Consequentital
amendments have also been made to IAS 28 to clarify that
the exemption from applying the equity method is also
applicable to an investor in an associate or joint venture
if that investor is a subsidiary of an investment entity that
measures all its subsidiaries at fair value.
The amendments further clarify that the requirement for
an investment entity to consolidate a subsidiary providing
services related to the former’s investment activities
applies only to subsidiaries tha are not investment entities
themselves.
Moreover, the amendments clarify that in applying the
equity method of accounting to an associate or a joint
venture that is an investment entity, an investor may
retain the fair value measurements that the associate or
joint venture used for its subsidiaries.

Amendments to IAS 27 Equity Method in Separate Financial Statements
The amendments focus on separate ﬁnancial statements
and allow the use of the equity method in such statements. Speciﬁcally, the amendments allow an entity to
account for investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and
associates in its separate ﬁnancial statements:
»» at cost;
»» in accordance with IFRS 9 (or IAS 39 for entities that
have not yet adopted IFRS 9); or
»» u
 sing the equity method as described in IAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures.
The same accounting must be applied to each category of
investments.
The amendments also clarify that when a parent ceases to
be an investment entity, or becomes an investment entity,
it should account for the change from the date when the
change in status occurs.

NOTES | GENERAL INFORMATION | 42

Amendments to IFRS 11 Accounting for Acquisitions of Interests in Joint Operations
The amendments to IFRS 11 provide guidance on how to
account for the acquisition of a joint operation that constitutes a business as deﬁned in IFRS 3 Business Combinations. Speciﬁcally, the amendments state that the relevant
principles on accounting for business combinations in IFRS
3 and other standards (e.g. IAS 12 Income Taxes regarding
the recognition of deferred taxes at the time of acquisition
and IAS 36 Impairment of Assets regarding impairment
testing of a cash-generating unit to which goodwill on
acquisition of a joint operation has been allocated) should
be applied. The same requirements should be applied to
the formation of a joint operation if and only if an existing
business is contributed to the joint operation by one of
the parties that participate in the joint operation.
A joint operator is also required to disclose the relevant
information required by IFRS 3 and other standards for
business combinations.
The amendments apply prospectively to acquisitions of
interests in joint operations (in which the activities of
the joint operations constitute businesses as deﬁned in
IFRS 3) occurring from the beginning of annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2016.

Amendments to IAS 1 Disclosure Initiative
The amendments were a response to comments that there
were difficulties in applying the concept of materiality in
practice as the wording of some of the requirements in
IAS 1 had in some cases been read to prevent the use of
judgement. Certain key highlights in the amendment are
as follows:
»» A
 n entity should not reduce the understandability of its
financial statements by obscuring material information
with immaterial information or by aggregating material
items that have different natures or functions.
»» A
 n entity need not provide a specific disclosure
required by an IFRS in the information resulting from
that disclosure is not material.
»» In the other comprehensive income section of a
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, the amendments require separate disclosures
for the following items:

»» the share of other comprehensive income of
asscociates and joint ventures accounted for
using the equity method that will be reclassified
subsequently to profit or loss.

Amendments to IAS 16 and IAS 38 Clariﬁcation
of Acceptable Methods of Depreciation and
Amortisation
The amendments to IAS 16 prohibit entities from using
a revenue-based depreciation method for items of
property, plant and equipment. The amendments to IAS
38 introduce a rebuttable presumption that revenue
is not an appropriate basis for amortisation of an intangible asset. This presumption can only be rebutted in the
following two limited circumstances:
a) when the intangible asset is expressed as a measure of
revenue; or
b) when it can be demonstrated that revenue and
consumption of the economic beneﬁts of the intangible asset are highly correlated.
The amendments apply prospectively.

Amendments to IAS 16 and IAS 41 Agriculture:
Bearer Plants
The amendments to IAS 16 and IAS 41 deﬁne a bearer plant
and require biological assets that meet the deﬁnition of a
bearer plant to be accounted for as property, plant and
equipment in accordance with IAS 16, instead of IAS 41. In
terms of the amendments, bearer plants can be measured
using either the cost model or the revaluation model set
out in IAS 16.
The produce growing on bearer plants continues to be
accounted for in accordance with IAS 41.
As a transition provision on initial application, entities
need not disclose the quantitative information required
by paragraph 28(f) of IAS 8 for the current period.
However, quantitative information for each prior period
presented is still required. Also, on the initial beginning
of the earliest period presented. Any difference between
the previous carrying amount and fair value should be
recognised in opening retained earnings at the beginning
of the earliest period presented.

»» the share of other comprehensive income of
associates and joint ventures accounted for
using the equity method that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss; and
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Amendments to IAS 19 Defined Benefit Plans:
Employee Contributions
The amendments to IAS 19 clarify the accounting
treatment for contributions from employees or third
parties to a deﬁned beneﬁt plan. According to the amendments, discretionary contributions made by employees
or third parties reduce service cost upon payment of
these contributions to the plan. When the formal terms
of the plan specify contributions from employees or third
parties, the accounting depends on whether the contributions are linked to service, as follows:
»» I f the contributions are not linked to services (e.g.
contributions are required to reduce a deﬁcit arising
from losses on plan assets or from actuarial losses), they
affect the remeasurement of the net deﬁned beneﬁt
liability (asset).

»» I f contributions are linked to services, they reduce
service costs. If the amount of contribution is dependent
on the number of years of service, the entity should
reduce service cost by attributing it to the contributions to periods of service using the attribution method
required by IAS 19 paragraph 70 (for the gross beneﬁts).
If the amount of contribution is independent of the
number of years of service, the entity is permitted to
either reduce service cost in the period in which the
related service is rendered, or reduce service cost by
attributing the contributions to the employees’ periods
of service in accordance with IAS 19 paragraph 70.
The amendment requires retrospective application.

Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2010 – 2012 Cycle
IFRS 2
Share-based Payment

Deﬁnition of vesting condition

The amendment is to clarify the definition of vesting condition and market
condition to ensure the consistent
classification of conditions attached
to a share-based payment. It also adds
definitions for ‘performance condition’
and ‘service condition’ which were previously included as part of the definition of ‚vesting condition‘.

IFRS 3
Business Combinations

Accounting for contingent consideration in a business combination

The amendment clarifies that contingent consideration should be measured at fair value at each reporting
date, irrespective of whehter or not
the contingent consideration falls
within the scope pf IFRS 9 or IAS 39.
Changes in fair value (other than
measurement period adjustmetns as
defined in IFRS 3) should be recognized
in profit and loss.

IFRS 8
Operating Segments

Disclosure about judgements involved
in deciding whether or not to aggregate operation segments

The amendment requires an entity
to disclose the judgements made by
management in applying the aggregation criteria to operating segments,
including a brief description of the
operating segments aggregated and
the econominc indicators assessd in
determining whether the operating
segments share similar economic characteristics.
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When reconciliation of the total of the
reportable segments’ assets to the
entity’s assets is required

Clarifies that a reconciliation of the
total of the reportable segments‘
assets to the entity’s assets should only
be provided if information about the
amount of the segment assets are regularly provided to the chief operating
decision-maker.

IFRS 13
Fair Value Measurement

Short-term receivables and payables

Clarifies that the issuance of IFRS 13
and consequential amendments to
IAS 39 and IFRS 9 did not remove the
ability to measure short-term receivables and payables with no stated
interest rate at their invoice amounts
without discounting, if the effect of
discounting is immaterial. This amendment does not include any effective
date because this is just to clarify the
intended meaning in the basis for
conclusions.

IAS 16
Property, Plant and Equipment

Revaluation method- proportionate
restatement of accumulated depreciation (amortisation)

The amendments remove perceived
inconsistencies in the accounting for
accumulated depreciation/amortisation when an item of property, plant
and equipment or an intangible asset
is revalued. The amendment standards
clarify that the gross carrying amount
is adjusted in a manner consistent with
the revaluation of the carrying amount
of the asset and that accumulated depreciation/amortization is the difference between the gross carrying amount
and the carrying amount after taking
into account accumulated impairment
losses.

Key management personnel

The amendment clarifies that a
management entity providing key
management personnel services to
the reporting entity or to the parent of
the reporting entity is a related party
of the reporting entity. Consequently,
the reporting entity should disclose as
related party transactions the amounts
incurred for the service paid or payable
to the management entity for the
provision of key management personnel services. However, disclosure
of the components of compensation
to key management personnel that is
paid by the management entity to the
management entity’s employees or
directors is not required.

IAS 38
Intangible Assets

IAS 24
Related Party Disclosures
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Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2012-2014 Cycle
The Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2012-2014 Cycle include a number of amendments to various IFRSs, which are summarised below.

IFRS 5
Non-current Assets Held for Sale and
Discontinuied Operations

Changes in methods of disposal

IFRS 7
Servicing contracts
Financial Instruments: Disclosures (with
consequential amendments to IFRS 1)

The amendments to IFRS 5 introduce
speciﬁc guidance in IFRS 5 for when an
entity reclassiﬁes an asset (or disposal
group) from held for sale to held for
distribution to owners (or vice versa).
The amendments clarify that such
a change should be considered as a
continuation of the original plan of
disposal and hence requirements set
out in IFRS 5 regarding the change of
sale plan do not apply. The amendments also clariﬁes the guidance for
when held-for-distribution accounting
is discontinued
The amendments to IFRS 7 provide
additional guidance to clarify whether
a servicing contract is continuing involvement in a transferred asset for the
purpose of the disclosures required in
relation to transferred assets.

Applicability of the amendments to
IFRS 7 on offsetting disclosure to condensed interim financial statements

Clarify that the offsetting disclosures
are not explicitly required for all interim periods. However, the disclosure
may need to be included in the condensed interim financial statements to
company with IAS 34 Interim Financial
Reporting.

IAS 19
Employee Benefits

Discount rate: regional market issue

The amendments clarify that the
high quality corporate bonds used to
estimate the discount rate for post-employment benefits should be issued
in the same currency as the benefits
to be paid. These amendments would
result in the depth of the market for
high quality corporate bonds being
assessed at currency level.

IAS 34
Interim Financial Reporting

Disclosure of information included ‘
elsewhere in the interim financial
report’

The amendments clarify the requirements relating to information required
by IAS 34 that is presented elsewhere
within the interim financial report but
outside the interim financial statements. The amendments require that
such information be incorporated by
way of a cross-reference from the interim financial statements to the other
part of the interim financial report that
is available to users n the same terms
and at the same time as the interim
financial statements.
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2.3 New and revised IFRSs in issue but not yet effective
The Group has not applied the following new and revised IFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective:

IFRS 9

Financial Instruments (#2)

IFRS 15

Revenue from Contracts with Customers (#2) and
related Clarifications (#2,4)

IAS 16

Leases (#3,4)

Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and
its Associate or Joint Venture (#5)

Amendments to IAS 12

Recognistion of Deferred Tax Assets for Unreaslised
Losses (#1,4)

Amendments to IAS 7

Disclosure Initiative (#1,4)

Amendments to IFRS 2

Classification and Measurement of Share-based
Payment Transactions (#2,4)

Amendments to IFRS 4

Applying IFRS 9 with IFRS 4 (#2,4)

Annual Improvements to IFRS

2014 – 2016 Cycle
(IFRS 1 and IAS 28: #2,4; IFRS 12: #1,4)

Amendments to IFRIC 22

Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance
Consideration (#2,4)

Amendments to IAS 40

Transfers of Investmenty Property (#2,4)

#1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017, with earlier application permitted.
#2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018, with earlier application permitted.
#3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019, with earlier application permitted.
#4 EU-Endorsement still outstanding.
#5 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined.

IFRS 14 Regulatory Deferral Accounts are not applicable since the endorsment in European law has been rejected.
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IFRS 9 Financial Instruments
IFRS 9 issued in November 2009 introduced new requirements for the classiﬁcation and measurement of ﬁnancial
assets. IFRS 9 was subsequently amended in October
2010 to include requirements for the classiﬁcation and
measurement of ﬁnancial liabilities and for derecognition, and in November 2013 to include the new requirements for general hedge accounting. Another revised
version of IFRS 9 was issued in July 2014 mainly to
include a) impairment requirements for ﬁnancial assets
and b) limited amendments to the classiﬁcation and
measurement requirements by introducing a ‘fair value
through other comprehensive income’ (FVTOCI) measurement category for certain simple debt instruments.
Key requirements of IFRS 9:
»» a
 ll recognised ﬁnancial assets that are within the scope
of IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement are required to be subsequently measured at
amortised cost or fair value. Speciﬁcally, debt investments that are held within a business model whose
objective is to collect the contractual cash ﬂows, and that
have contractual cash ﬂows that are solely payments
of principal and interest on the principal outstanding
are generally measured at amortised cost at the end
of subsequent accounting periods. Debt instruments
that are held within a business model whose objective
is achieved both by collecting contractual cash ﬂows
and selling ﬁnancial assets, and that have contractual
terms that give rise on speciﬁed dates to cash ﬂows
that are solely payments of principal and interest on the
principal amount outstanding, are generally measured
at FVTOCI. All other debt investments and equity investments are measured at their fair value at the end of
subsequent accounting periods. In addition, under IFRS
9, entities may make an irrevocable election to present
subsequent changes in the fair value of an equity investment (that is not held for trading) in other comprehensive income, with only dividend income generally
recognised in proﬁt or loss;

»» w
 ith regard to the measurement of ﬁnancial liabilities
designated as at fair value through proﬁt or loss, IFRS
9 requires that the amount of change in the fair value
of the ﬁnancial liability that is attributable to changes
in the credit risk of that liability is presented in other
comprehensive income, unless the recognition of the
effects of changes in the liability’s credit risk in other
comprehensive income would create or enlarge an
accounting mismatch in proﬁt or loss. Changes in fair
value attributable to a ﬁnancial liability’s credit risk are
not subsequently reclassiﬁed to proﬁt or loss. Under
IAS 39, the entire amount of the change in the fair value
of the ﬁnancial liability designated as fair value through
proﬁt or loss is presented in proﬁt or loss;
»» in relation to the impairment of ﬁnancial assets, IFRS 9
requires an expected credit loss model, as opposed to an
incurred credit loss model under IAS 39. The expected
credit loss model requires an entity to account for
expected credit losses and changes in those expected
credit losses at each reporting date to reﬂect changes
in credit risk since initial recognition. In other words, it is
no longer necessary for a credit event to have occurred
before credit losses are recognised; and
»» t he new general hedge accounting requirements
retain the three types of hedge accounting mechanisms currently available in IAS 39. Under IFRS 9,
greater ﬂexibility has been introduced to the types of
transactions eligible for hedge accounting, speciﬁcally
broadening the types of instruments that qualify for
hedging instruments and the types of risk components of non-ﬁnancial items that are eligible for hedge
accounting. In addition, the effectiveness test has
been overhauled and replaced with the principle of
an ‘economic relationship’. Retrospective assessment
of hedge effectiveness is also no longer required.
Enhanced disclosure requirements about an entity’s
risk management activities have also been introduced.
The Group is currently investigating the effects of the
application of the standard to the consolidated financial
statements. Based on current knowledge, no significant
effects are expected from the changes to the classification and measurement of financial instruments.

NOTES | GENERAL INFORMATION | 48

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers and related Clarifications
IFRS 15 establishes a single comprehensive model for
entities to use in accounting for revenue arising from
contracts with customers. IFRS 15 will supersede the
current revenue recognition guidance including IAS 18
Revenue, IAS 11 Construction Contracts and the related
Interpretations when it becomes effective.
The core principle of IFRS 15 is that an entity should
recognise revenue to depict the transfer of promised
goods or services to customers in an amount that
reﬂects the consideration to which the entity expects
to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services.
Speciﬁcally, the Standard introduces a 5-step approach to
revenue recognition:

IFRS 16 Leases
IFRS 16 governs the recognition, measurement, disclosure
and disclosure obligations (including sublease). For leasing
companies, the standard provides for a single accounting
model. This model leads the leasing company to record
all assets and liabilities from leasing agreements in the
balance sheet, unless the term is 12 months or less or is a
low-value asset (in each case the right to vote). The leasing
company still distinguishes finance and lease agreements
for finance purposes. IFRS 16 thus replaces the following
standards and interpretations:
»» IAS 17 Leases
»» I FRIC 4 Determining whether an agreement contains
a lease

»» Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with a customer.

»» SIC-15 Operating leases - Incentives

»» S
 tep 2: Identify the performance obligations in the
contract.

»» S
 IC-27 Evaluating th substance of transactions in the
legal form of a lease

»» Step 3: Determine the transaction price.

The Group is currently evaluating the effects of applying
the standard to the consolidated financial statements.

»» S
 tep 4: Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract.
»» S
 tep 5: Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity
satisﬁes a performance obligation.
Under IFRS 15, an entity recognises revenue when (or as)
a performance obligation is satisﬁed, i.e. when ‘control’
of the goods or services underlying the particular performance obligation is transferred to the customer.
Far more prescriptive guidance has been added in IFRS 15
to deal with speciﬁc scenarios. Furthermore, extensive
disclosures are required by IFRS 15.
In April 2016, the IASB issued Clarifications to IFRS 15 in
relation to the identfication of performance obligations,
principal versus agent considerations, as well as licensing
application guidance.
The Group is currently examining the effects of applying
IFRS 15 to the consolidated financial statements. Based
on current knowledge, no significant effects are expected
from the application of IFRS 15.

Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture
The amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 deal with situations where there is a sale or contribution of assets
between an investor and its associate or joint venture.
Speciﬁcally, the amendments state that gains or losses
resulting from the loss of control of a subsidiary that does
not contain a business in a transaction with an associate
or a joint venture that is accounted for using the equity
method, are recognised in the parent’s proﬁt or loss
only to the extent of the unrelated investors’ interests
in that associate or joint venture. Similarly, gains and
losses resulting from the remeasurement of investments
retained in any former subsidiary (that has become an
associate or a joint venture that is accounted for using the
equity method) to fair value are recognised in the former
parent’s proﬁt or loss only to the extent of the unrelated
investors’ interests in the new associate or joint venture.
The effective date of the amendments has yet to be set
by the IASB; however, earlier application permitted. The
directors of the Company do not anticipate that the application of these amendments will have a material impact
on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.
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Amendments to IAS 12 Recognition of Deferred
Tax Asses for Unrealised Losses

Amendments to IFRS 2 Classification and Measurement of Share-based Payment Transactions

The amendments clarify the following:

The amendments clarify the following:

»» D
 ecreases below cost in the carrying amount of a
fixed-rate debt instrument measured at fair value for
which the tax base remains at cost give rise to a deductible temporary difference, irrespective of whether
the debt instrument’s holder expects to recover the
carrying amount of the debt instrument by sale or by
use, or whether it is probable that the issuer will pay all
the contractual cash lows;

»» I n estimating the fair value of a cash-settled share-based
payment, the accounting for the effects of vesting
and non-vesting conditions should follow the same
approach as for equity-settled share-based payments.

»» W
 hen an entity assesses whether taxable profits will
be available against which it can utilise a deductible
temporary difference, and the tax law restricts the utilisation of losses to deduction against income of a speciic
type (e.g. capital losses can only be set of against capital
gains), an entity assesses a deductible temporary difference in combination with other deductible temporary
differences of that type, but separately from other
types of deductible temporary differences;
»» T
 he estimate of probable future taxable profit may
include the recovery of some of an entity’s assets for
more than their carrying amount if there is sufficient
evidence that it is probable that the entity will achieve
this; and
»» I n evaluating whether sufficient future taxable profits
are available, an entity should compare the deductible
temporary differences with future taxable profits
excluding tax deductions resulting from the reversal of
those deductible temporary differences
The amendments apply retrospectively for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2017 with earlier application permitted. The directors of the Company do not
anticipate that the application of these amendments
will have a material impact on the Group‘s consolidated
inancial statements.

»» W
 here tax law or regulation requires an entity to
withhold a specified number of equity instruments
equal to the monetary value of the employee’s tax
obligation to meet the employee’s tax liability which is
then remitted to the tax authority, i.e. the share-based
payment arrangement has a ‘net settlement feature’,
such an arrangement should be classified as equitysettled in its entirety, provided that the share-based
payment would have been classified as equity-settled
had it not included the net settlement feature.
»» A
 modification of a share-based payment that changes
the transaction from cash-settled to equity-settled
should be accounted for as follows:
»» the original liability is derecognised;
»» t he equity-settled share-based payment is
recognised at the modification date fair value
of the equity instrument granted to the extent
that services have been rendered up to the
modiication date; and
»» a
 ny difference between the carrying amount
of the liability at the modification date and the
amount recognised in equity should be recognised in profit or loss immediately.
The amendments are effective for annual reporting
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018 with earlier
application permitted. The directors of the Company do
not anticipate that the application of the amendments
in the future will have a significant impact on the Group’s
consolidated financial statements.

Amendments to IAS 7 Disclosure Initiative
The amendments require an entity to provide disclosures that enable users of inancial statements to evaluate
changes in liabilities arising from inancing activities.
The amendments apply prospectively for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2017 with earlier application permitted. The directors of the Company do not
anticipate that the application of these amendments
will have a material impact on the Group‘s consolidated
financial statements.
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Amendments to IFRS 4: Applying IFRS 9 Financial Instruments with IFRS 4 Insurance Contracts
With the application of IFRS 9 with IFRS 4, companies
issuing insurance contracts within the scope of IFRS 4 will
be granted two options:
»» C
 ompanies can reclassify some of the expenses and
income from the profit and loss account to the other
comprehensive income resulting from qualifying assets.
This is the so-called overlap approach.

The application of both approaches is voluntary, and
companies are allowed to abandon the application before
issuing the new standard to insurance contracts. The
amendments have no effect on the Group, since the latter
does not issue insurance contracts.

»» C
 ompanies whose prevailing business is the issuing of
insurance contracts within the scope of IFRS 4 have the
possibility of a temporary suspension of the application
of IFRS 9. This is the so-called postponement approach.
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Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards 2014 – 2016 Cycle

IFRS 1
First time Adoption of IFRS

Deletion of the temporary exemptions in paragraphs
E3-E7 of IFRS 1 because they have fulfilled their intended purpose.

IFRS 12
Disclosure of Interest in Other Entities

Clarify the scope of standard by specifying that the disclosure requirements in the standard, with the exception of those set out in paragraphs B10-B16, sholud
be applied to the holdings of a company referred to in
paragraph 5, held as held for sale, as held for distribution purposes or as discontinued operations according
to IFRS 5

IAS 28
Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures

Clarification that the option right to invest in an associate or joint venture held by a company which is a venture capital company or another qualifying company is
measured at fair value with recognition of the changes
in profit or loss.

The directors of the Company do not anticipate that the application of the amendments in the future will
have a significant impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

IFRIC Interpretation 22: Foreign Currency
Transactions and Advance Consideration

Amendments to IAS 40: Transfers of
Invetmenty Property

The Interpretation clarifies that the assets, income and
expenses accounted for following a foreign currency
transaction are to be translated at the same exchange
rate as any related receipts or payments of advance consideration.

This specifies that a property may only be transferred to
or from the investment property classification when there
has been an actual change in use and not when there is a
mere change of intent concerning the property.

The directors of the Company do not anticipate that
the application of thes amendment will have a material
impact on the Group‘s consolidated financial statements.

The amendments are effective for annual reporting
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018. The directors
of the Company do not anticipate that the application of
the amendment in the future will have a significant impact
on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.
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2.4 Changes in prior-year figures
2.4.1 Changes according to IAS 8 - Errors
During the first-time consolidation of the subgroup EQS
Asia Ltd. as of April 14, 2014, a purchase price allocation
according to IFRS 3 was made. In 2016 it became apparent
that the customer bas generated by the purchase price
allocation was not subject to any deferred tax in accordance with IFRS 3.18 and IAS 12.15.
The situation described above is an error according to
IAS 8.41 et seq. which was corrected retrospectively
beginning with the effective date of April 14, 2014.
During the first-time consolidation of the subsidiary
Obsidian IR Ltd. as of December 17, 2015, a purchase
price allocation according to IFRS 3 was made. In 2016 it
became apparent that the customer bas generated by the
purchase price allocation was not subject to any deferred
tax in accordance with IFRS 3.18 and IAS 12.15.
The situation described above is an error according to
IAS 8.41 et seq. which was corrected retrospectively
beginning with the effective date of December 17, 2015.
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2.4.2 Other adjustments
In the case of long-term financial liabilities, an adjustment
was made on the basis of the current interest rate for
fixed-interest loans.In the statement of comprehensive
income, minority interests were incorrectly shown in
other comprehensive income.

In addition to the error corrections, the following further
adjustements were made to the previous year‘s figures:
In order to hedge the risk of exchange rate risks arising
from the net investment for the purchase of Tensid AG,
a foreign exchange contract for the acquisition of Swiss
francs above TEUR 2,200 was concluded on December 2,
2015, with a price of 1.0855 (TCHF 2.388). The maturity
date of the contract was January 4, 2016. As of the
balance sheet date 31 December 2015, the price was
1.0835. As a result, the derivative had a value of EUR 4
thousand as of the balance sheet date. This gain from the
derivative was erroneously recorded in equity as a result
of the sale of the derivative; as did the deferred tax liabilities of EUR 1 thousand. However, this effect would have
had to be recognized in the income statement as well as
the deferred tax liabilities.

The non-controlling interests were reported incorrectly in
the other comprehensive income.
The other adjustments were also carried out retrospectively in order to ensure the previous year‘s comparison.

The following final items as of December 31, 2015 are affected by the adjustments:
Other adjustments
EUR ’000

After
adjustments
EUR ’000

490

0

17,850

36

-17

10,301

6,340

0

17

6,357

315

454

0

769

Current financial liabilities

1,850

0

117

1,967

Other current liabilities

1,686

0

-117

1,570

Before adjustments
EUR ’000

Errors - IAS 8
EUR ’000

Intangible assets

17,360

Retained earnings

10,282

As of Dec. 31, 2015
Consolidated balance sheet

Non-current financial liabilities
Deferred tax liabilities

Consolidated income statement
Interest income

20

0

4

24

Interest exepenses

-66

0

-17

-83

Other financial income/expenses

125

2

-4

123

Income taxes

1,372

-26

0

1,346

Group net income

1,115

24

-14

1,125

Earnings per share

0.95

0.01

0.00

0.96

10,282

36

-17

10,301

Consolidated statement of changes in equity
Retained earnings
Consolidated Cash flow statement
Group earnings

1,115

24

-14

1,125

Income taxes

1,372

-26

0

1,346

The adjustments have not resultet in any material effects of the asset, liability, financial and profit position of the group.
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2.5 Basis of consolidation
The consolidated ﬁnancial statements incorporate
the ﬁnancial statements of the Company and entities
controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control is
achieved when the Company:
»» has power over the investee;
»» is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee;
»» and has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.
The Company reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are
changes to one or more of the three elements of control
listed above.
When the Company has less than a majority of the voting
rights of an investee, it has power over the investee when
the voting rights are sufﬁcient to give it the practical
ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee
unilaterally. The Company considers all relevant facts and
circumstances in assessing whether or not the Company’s
voting rights in an investee are sufﬁcient to give it power,
including:
»» t he size of the Company’s holding of voting rights
relative to the size and dispersion of holdings of the
other vote holders;
»» p
 otential voting rights held by the Company, other vote
holders or other parties;
»» r ights arising from other contractual arrangements;
and
»» a
 ny additional facts and circumstances that indicate
that the Company has, or does not have, the current
ability to direct the relevant activities at the time that
decisions need to be made, including voting patterns at
previous shareholders’ meetings.
Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Company
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the
Company loses control of the subsidiary. Speciﬁcally,
income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed
of during the year are included in the consolidated
statement of proﬁt or loss and other comprehensive
income from the date the Company gains control until the

date when the Company ceases to control the subsidiary.
Proﬁt or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the Company and
to the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive
income of subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the
Company and to the non-controlling interests even if this
results in the non-controlling interests having a deﬁcit
balance.
When necessary, adjustments are made to the ﬁnancial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting
policies into line with the Group’s accounting policies.
All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash ﬂows relating to transactions between
members of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Business combinations
Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a
business combination is measured at fair value, which is
calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values
of the assets transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred
by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree and
the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for
control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are
generally recognised in proﬁt or loss as incurred.
At the acquisition date, the identiﬁable assets acquired
and the liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair
value, except that:
»» d
 eferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets or liabilities
related to employee beneﬁt arrangements are recognised and measured in accordance with IAS 12 Income
Taxes and IAS 19 respectively;
»» l iabilities or equity instruments related to share-based
payment arrangements of the acquiree or share-based
payment arrangements of the Group entered into to
replace share-based payment arrangements of the
acquiree are measured in accordance with IFRS 2 at the
acquisition date; and
»» a
 ssets (or disposal groups) that are classiﬁed as held for
sale in accordance with IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held
for Sale and Discontinued Operations are measured in
accordance with that Standard.
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Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the
acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree
(if any) over the net of the acquisition-date amounts
of the identiﬁable assets acquired and the liabilities
assumed. If, after reassessment, the net of the acquisition-date amounts of the identiﬁable assets acquired and
liabilities assumed exceeds the sum of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests
in the acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess is
recognised immediately in proﬁt or loss as a bargain
purchase gain.

in accordance with IAS 39, or IAS 37 Provisions, Contingent
Liabilities and Contingent Assets, as appropriate, with the
corresponding gain or loss being recognised in proﬁt or
loss.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership
interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate
share of the entity’s net assets in the event of liquidation
may be initially measured either at fair value or at the
non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of the
recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identiﬁable net
assets. The choice of measurement basis is made on a
transaction-by-transaction basis. Other types of non-controlling interests are measured at fair value or, when applicable, on the basis speciﬁed in another IFRS.

If the initial accounting for a business combination is
incomplete by the end of the reporting period in which
the combination occurs, the Group reports provisional
amounts for the items for which the accounting is incomplete. Those provisional amounts are adjusted during the
measurement period (see above), or additional assets
or liabilities are recognised, to reﬂect new information
obtained about facts and circumstances that existed at
the acquisition date that, if known, would have affected
the amounts recognised at that date.

When the consideration transferred by the Group in
a business combination includes assets or liabilities
resulting from a contingent consideration arrangement,
the contingent consideration is measured at its acquisition-date fair value and included as part of the consideration transferred in a business combination. Changes
in the fair value of the contingent consideration that
qualify as measurement period adjustments are adjusted
retrospectively, with corresponding adjustments against
goodwill. Measurement period adjustments are adjustments that arise from additional information obtained
during the ‘measurement period’ (which cannot exceed
one year from the acquisition date) about facts and
circumstances that existed at the acquisition date.
The subsequent accounting for changes in the fair value
of the contingent consideration that do not qualify as
measurement period adjustments depends on how
the contingent consideration is classiﬁed. Contingent
consideration that is classiﬁed as equity is not remeasured at subsequent reporting dates and its subsequent
settlement is accounted for within equity. Contingent
consideration that is classiﬁed as an asset or a liability is
remeasured at subsequent reporting dates

When a business combination is achieved in stages, the
Group’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree
is remeasured to its acquisition-date fair value and the
resulting gain or loss, if any, is recognised in proﬁt or loss.
Amounts arising from interests in the acquiree prior to
the acquisition date that have previously been recognised
in other comprehensive income are reclassiﬁed to proﬁt
or loss where such treatment would be appropriate if that
interest were disposed of.

2.5.2 Investments in associates
An associate is an entity over which the Group has
signiﬁcant inﬂuence. Signiﬁcant inﬂuence is the power to
participate in the ﬁnancial and operating policy decisions
of the investee but is not control or joint control over
those policies.
The results and assets and liabilities of associates are
incorporated in these consolidated ﬁnancial statements
using the equity method of accounting, except when
the investment, or a portion thereof, is classiﬁed as held
for sale, in which case it is accounted for in accordance
with IFRS 5. Under the equity method, an investment in
an associate is initially recognised in the consolidated
statement of ﬁnancial position at cost and adjusted
thereafter to recognise the Group’s share of the proﬁt or
loss and other comprehensive income of the associate.
When the Group’s share of losses of an associate exceeds
the Group’s interest in that associate (which includes
any long-term interests that, in substance, form part of
the Group’s net investment in the associate), the Group
discontinues recognising its share of further losses.
Additional losses are recognised only to the extent that
the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations
or made payments on behalf of the associate.
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An investment in an associate is accounted for using
the equity method from the date on which the investee
becomes an associate. On acquisition of the investment in
an associate, any excess of the cost of the investment over
the Group’s share of the net fair value of the identiﬁable
assets and liabilities of the investee is recognised as
goodwill, which is included within the carrying amount of
the investment. Any excess of the Group’s share of the net
fair value of the identiﬁable assets and liabilities over the
cost of the investment, after reassessment, is recognised
immediately in proﬁt or loss in the period in which the
investment is acquired.
The requirements of IAS 39 are applied to determine
whether it is necessary to recognise any impairment loss
with respect to the Group’s investment in an associate.
When necessary, the entire carrying amount of the investment (including goodwill) is tested for impairment in
accordance with IAS 36 Impairment of Assets as a single
asset by comparing its recoverable amount (higher of value
in use and fair value less costs of disposal) with its carrying
amount, any impairment loss recognised forms part of the
carrying amount of the investment. Any reversal of that
impairment loss is recognised in accordance with IAS 36 to
the extent that the recoverable amount of the investment
subsequently increases.
The Group discontinues the use of the equity method
from the date when the investment ceases to be an
associate, or when the investment is classiﬁed as held for
sale. When the Group retains an interest in the former
associate and the retained interest is a ﬁnancial asset,
the Group measures the retained interest at fair value at
that date and the fair value is regarded as its fair value on
initial recognition in accordance with IAS 39. The difference between the carrying amount of the associate at
the date the equity method was discontinued, and the
fair value of any retained interest and any proceeds from
disposing of a part interest in the associate is included in
the determination of the gain or loss on disposal of the
associate. In addition, the Group accounts for all amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive income
in relation to that associate on the same basis as would
be required if that associate had directly disposed of the
related assets or liabilities. Therefore, if a gain or loss
previously recognised in other comprehensive income by
that associate would be reclassiﬁed to proﬁt or loss on
the disposal of the related assets or liabilities, the Group
reclassiﬁes the gain or loss from equity to proﬁt or loss (as
a reclassiﬁcation adjustment) when the equity method is
discontinued.

The Group continues to use the equity method when an
investment in an associate becomes an investment in a
joint venture or an investment in a joint venture becomes
an investment in an associate. There is no remeasurement
to fair value upon such changes in ownership interests.
When the Group reduces its ownership interest in an
associate or a joint venture but the Group continues to
use the equity method, the Group reclassiﬁes to proﬁt or
loss the proportion of the gain or loss that had previously
been recognised in other comprehensive income relating
to that reduction in ownership interest if that gain or loss
would be reclassiﬁed to proﬁt or loss on the disposal of
the related assets or liabilities.
When a group entity transacts with an associate or a joint
venture of the Group, proﬁts and losses resulting from
the transactions with the associate are recognised in the
Group’s consolidated ﬁnancial statements only to the
extent of interests in the associate that are not related
to the Group.

2.5.3 Foreign currencies
In preparing the ﬁnancial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the
entity’s functional currency (foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates of exchange prevailing at the dates of
the transactions. At the end of each reporting period,
monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are
retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in
foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing
at the date when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost
in a foreign currency are not retranslated.
»» E
 xchange differences on monetary items are recognised in proﬁt or loss in the period in which they arise
except for:
»» e
 xchange differences on foreign currency borrowings relating to assets under construction for future
productive use, which are included in the cost of those
assets when they are regarded as an adjustment to
interest costs on those foreign currency borrowings;
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»» e
 xchange differences on transactions entered into in
order to hedge certain foreign currency risks (see 3.28
below for hedging accounting policies); and
»» e
 xchange differences on monetary items receivable
from or payable to a foreign operation for which
settlement is neither planned nor likely to occur
(therefore forming part of the net investment in the
foreign operation), which are recognised initially in
other comprehensive income and reclassiﬁed from
equity to proﬁt or loss on repayment of the monetary
items.
For the purposes of presenting these consolidated
ﬁnancial statements, the assets and liabilities of the
Group’s foreign operations are translated into Currency
Units using exchange rates prevailing at the end of each
reporting period. Income and expense items are translated at the average exchange rates for the period,
unless exchange rates ﬂuctuate signiﬁcantly during that
period, in which case the exchange rates at the dates of
the transactions are used. Exchange differences arising,
if any, are recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in equity (and attributed to non-controlling
interests as appropriate).

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal of the
Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation, a disposal
involving loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a
foreign operation, or a partial disposal of an interest in a
joint arrangement or an associate that includes a foreign
operation of which the retained interest becomes a
ﬁnancial asset), all of the exchange differences accumulated in equity in respect of that operation attributable
to the owners of the Company are reclassiﬁed to proﬁt
or loss.
In addition, in relation to a partial disposal of a subsidiary
that includes a foreign operation that does not result in
the Group losing control over the subsidiary, the proportionate share of accumulated exchange differences are
re-attributed to non-controlling interests and are not
recognised in proﬁt or loss. For all other partial disposals
(i.e. partial disposals of associates or joint arrangements
that do not result in the Group losing signiﬁcant inﬂuence
or joint control), the proportionate share of the accumulated exchange differences is reclassiﬁed to proﬁt or loss.
Goodwill and fair value adjustments to identiﬁable assets
acquired and liabilities assumed through acquisition of
a foreign operation are treated as assets and liabilities
of the foreign operation and translated at the rate of
exchange prevailing at the end of each reporting period.
Exchange differences arising are recognised in other
comprehensive income.

The exchange rates used for currency translation are as follows:
EUR/RUB

EUR/HKD

EUR/CHF

EUR/INR

EUR/GBP

EUR/USD

EUR/AED

Exchange rate as of Dec. 31, 2016

64.30

8.18

1.07

71.59

0.86

1.05

3.86

Exchange rate as of Dec. 31, 2015

80.67

8.44

1.08

72.02

0.73

1.09

---

Average exchange rate 2016

74.14

8.59

1.09

74.37

0.82

1.11

4.15

Average exchange rate 2015

68.07

8.60

1.07

71.20

0.73

---

---
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2.6 Revenue recognition
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable. Revenue is reduced for estimated
customer returns, rebates and other similar allowances.

2.6.1 Rendering of services
The group sells services. These services are provided
on a temporal basis and/or as a fixed price contract.
The services partially consist of contractually agreed
development services which are reported according
to IAS 11 pursuant to the percentage-of-completion
method. This is possible because the stage of completion
of construcktion contract is reliably estimated and the
inflow of reveue is sufficiently secure. With fixed price
contracts, the stage of completion is determined on the
basis of the accrued costs in relation to the total costs
(cost-to-cost) method. A receivable is shown for all construction contracts in progress with a gross amount due
from customers, i.e. if the sum of costs incurred including
disclosed profits exceeds the sum of partial invoices and/
or received payments. Conversely, construction contracts
in which the payments exceed the revenue recoverable on
a percentage basis are shown in the liabilities.
Regularly recurring revenue from service contracts is
distributed over the duration of the contract.

2.6.2 Royalties
Royalty revenue is recognised on an accrual basis in accordance with the substance of the relevant agreement
(provided that it is probable that the economic beneﬁts
will ﬂow to the Group and the amount of revenue can be
measured reliably). Royalties determined on a time basis
are recognised on a straight-line basis over the period of
the agreement. Royalty arrangements that are based on
production, sales and other measures are recognised by
reference to the underlying arrangement.

2.6.3 Dividend and interest income
Dividend income from investments is recognised when
the shareholder’s right to receive payment has been
established (provided that it is probable that the economic
beneﬁts will ﬂow to the Group and the amount of income
can be measured reliably).
Interest ime from a ﬁnancial asset is recognised when it
is probable that the economic beneﬁts will ﬂow to the
Group and the amount of income can be measured reliably.

Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by reference
to the principal outstanding and at the effective interest
rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly discounts
estimated future cash receipts through the expected life
of the ﬁnancial asset to that asset’s net carrying amount
on initial recognition.

2.6.4 Rental income
The Group’s policy for recognition of revenue from
operating leases is described in note 2.12 below.

2.6.5 Construction contracts
When the outcome of a construction contract can be
estimated reliably, revenue and costs are recognised
by reference to the stage of completion of the contract
activity at the end of the reporting period, measured
based on the proportion of contract costs incurred for
work performed to date relative to the estimated total
contract costs, except where this would not be representative of the stage of completion. Variations in contract
work, claims and incentive payments are included to the
extent that the amount can be measured reliably and its
receipt is considered probable.
When the outcome of a construction contract cannot be
estimated reliably, contract revenue is recognised to the
extent of contract costs incurred that it is probable will be
recoverable. Contract costs are recognised as expenses in
the period in which they are incurred.
When it is probable that total contract costs will exceed
total contract revenue, the expected loss is recognised as
an expense immediately.
When contract costs incurred to date plus recognised
proﬁts less recognised losses exceed progress billings,
the surplus is shown as amounts due from customers
for contract work. For contracts where progress billings
exceed contract costs incurred to date plus recognised
proﬁts less recognised losses, the surplus is shown as the
amounts due to customers for contract work.
Amounts received before the related work is performed
are included in the consolidated statement of ﬁnancial
position, as a liability, as advances received. Amounts
billed for work performed but not yet paid by the
customer are included in the consolidated statement of
ﬁnancial position under trade and other receivables.
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2.7 Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax
currently payable and deferred tax.
Current and deferred tax are recognised in proﬁt or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in
which case, the current and deferred tax are also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity
respectively. Where current tax or deferred tax arises
from the initial accounting for a business combination, the
tax effect is included in the accounting for the business
combination.

2.7.1 Current tax
The tax currently payable is based on taxable proﬁt for
the year. Taxable proﬁt differs from ‘proﬁt before tax’ as
reported in the consolidated statement of proﬁt or loss
and other comprehensive income/statement of proﬁt
or loss because of items of income or expense that are
taxable or deductible in other years and items that are
never taxable or deductible. The Group’s current tax is
calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

2.7.2 Deferred tax
Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
in the consolidated ﬁnancial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable
proﬁt. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised
for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets
are generally recognised for all deductible temporary
differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable
proﬁts will be available against which those deductible
temporary differences can be utilised. Such deferred tax
assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary
difference arises from the initial recognition (other than
in a business combination) of assets and liabilities in a
transaction that affects neither the taxable proﬁt nor the
accounting proﬁt. In addition, deferred tax liabilities are
not recognised if the temporary difference arises from
the initial recognition of goodwill.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences associated with investments in
subsidiaries and associates, and interests in joint ventures,
except where the Group is able to control the reversal
of the temporary difference and it is probable that the
temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable
future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible
temporary differences associated with such investments
and interests are only recognised to the extent that it
is probable that there will be sufﬁcient taxable proﬁts
against which to utilise the beneﬁts of the temporary
differences and they are expected to reverse in the
foreseeable future.
The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufﬁcient taxable
proﬁts will be available to allow all or part of the asset to
be recovered.
Deferred tax liabilities and assets are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the
liability is settled or the asset realised, based on tax rates
(and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.
The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reﬂects the tax consequences that would follow from
the manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount
of its assets and liabilities.

2.8 Earnings per share
The determination of the earnings per share occurs
according tot he provisions of IAS 33.
When determining the amount of earnings per share,
the earnings attributable to the bearers of the common
shares of the parent company are divided by the weighted
average number of shares in circulation over the course
of the year.
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2.9 Intangible assets

Internally-generated intangible assets – research and development expenditure

Intangible assets acquired separately

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an
expense in the period in which it is incurred.

Intangible assets with ﬁnite useful lives that are acquired
separately are carried at cost less accumulated amortization and accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation
is recognised on a straight-line basis over their estimated
useful lives. The estimated useful life and amortisation
method are reviewed at the end of each reporting
period, with the effect of any changes in estimate being
accounted for on a prospective basis.
Intangible assets with indeﬁnite useful lives that are
acquired separately are carried at cost less accumulated
impairment losses.

An internally-generated intangible asset arising from
development (or from the development phase of an
internal project) is recognised if, and only if, all of the
following have been demonstrated:
»» t he technical feasibility of completing the intangible
asset so that it will be available for use or sale;
»» t he intention to complete the intangible asset and use
or sell it;
»» the ability to use or sell the intangible asset;

The useful lives of intangible assets are as follows:
»» h
 ow the intangible asset will generate probable future
economic beneﬁts;
Software
Industrial property rights
Licences
Client base, customer relationship
Software created in-house

3 – 5 years
2 – 10 years
3 years
15 years
5 years

»» t he availability of adequate technical, ﬁnancial and
other resources to complete the development and to
use or sell the
»» intangible asset; and
»» t he ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset during its development.

Goodwill
Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried
at cost as established at the date of acquisition of the
business less accumulated impairment losses, if any.
For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is
allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units
(or groups of cash-generating units) that is expected to
beneﬁt from the synergies of the combination.
A cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been
allocated is tested for impairment annually, or more
frequently when there is an indication that the unit may
be impaired. If the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is less than its carrying amount, the impairment
loss is allocated ﬁrst to reduce the carrying amount of
any goodwill allocated to the unit and then to the other
assets of the unit pro rata based on the carrying amount
of each asset in the unit. Any impairment loss for goodwill
is recognised directly in proﬁt or loss. An impairment loss
recognised for goodwill is not reversed in subsequent
periods.
On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit, the
attributable amount of goodwill is included in the determination of the proﬁt or loss on disposal.

The amount initially recognised for internally-generated
intangible assets is the sum of the expenditure incurred
from the date when the intangible asset ﬁrst meets the
recognition criteria listed above. Where no internally-generated intangible asset can be recognised, development
expenditure is recognised in proﬁt or loss in the period in
which it is incurred.
Subsequent to initial recognition, internally-generated
intangible assets are reported at cost less accumulated
amortisation and accumulated impairment losses, on
the same basis as intangible assets that are acquired
separately.
Development expenses amounting to €1,588K (2015:
€740K) were recognized as expenses, thereof €396K
(2015: €300K) have been capitalised in 2016.
In the subsequent periods, internally generated intangible assets, just as acquired intangible assets, are valued
at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment
losses. Capitalised development costs are generally
amortized on a useful life of 5 years.
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Intangible assets acquired in a business
combination
Intangible assets acquired in a business combination and
recognised separately from goodwill are initially recognised at their fair value at the acquisition date (which is
regarded as their cost).
Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets
acquired in a business combination are reported at
cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated
impairment losses, on the same basis as intangible assets
that are acquired separately.

Derecognition of intangible assets

2.10 Tangible assets
Fixtures and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.
Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost
or valuation of assets (other than freehold land and
properties under construction) less their residual values
over their useful lives, using the straight-line method. The
estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation
method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period,
with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for
on a prospective basis.
Scheduled depreciation are bases on the following useful
lives of tangible assets:

Computer, IT equipment
Office equipment
Leaseholder installations

An item of tangible asses is derecognised upon disposal
or when no future economic beneﬁts are expected to
arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or
loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of
property, plant and equipment is determined as the
difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset and is recognised in proﬁt or loss.

2.11 Impairment of tangible and intangible assets other than goodwill

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when
no future economic beneﬁts are expected from use or
disposal. Gains or losses arising from derecognition of
an intangible asset, measured as the difference between
the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the
asset, are recognised in proﬁt or loss when the asset is
derecognised.

Property

term, assets are depreciated over the shorter of the lease
term and their useful lives.

35 – 60 years
3 – 7 years
10 – 13 years
5 – 13 years

Assets held under ﬁnance leases are depreciated over
their expected useful lives on the same basis as owned
assets. However, when there is no reasonable certainty
that ownership will be obtained by the end of the lease

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews
the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets
to determine whether there is any indication that those
assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such
indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset
is estimated in order to determine the extent of the
impairment loss (if any). When it is not possible to estimate
the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group
estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating
unit to which the asset belongs. When a reasonable and
consistent basis of allocation can be identiﬁed, corporate
assets are also allocated to individual cash-generating
units, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest
group of cash-generating units for which a reasonable
and consistent allocation basis can be identiﬁed.
Intangible assets with indeﬁnite useful lives and intangible
assets not yet available for use are tested for impairment
at least annually, and whenever there is an indication that
the asset may be impaired.
Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use,
the estimated future cash ﬂows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reﬂects
current market assessments of the time value of money
and the risks speciﬁc to the asset for which the estimates
of future cash ﬂows have not been adjusted.
If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating
unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is
reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss
is recognised immediately in proﬁt or loss, unless the
relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which
case the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation
decrease.
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2.12 Leasing
Leases are classiﬁed as ﬁnance leases whenever the terms
of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classiﬁed
as operating leases.

The Group as lessor
Amounts due from lessees under ﬁnance leases are recognised as receivables at the amount of the Group’s net
investment in the leases. Finance lease income is allocated
to accounting periods so as to reﬂect a constant periodic
rate of return on the Group’s net investment outstanding
in respect of the leases.
Rental income from operating leases is recognised on
a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease.
Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging
an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of
the leased asset and recognised on a straight-line basis
over the lease term.

The Group as lessee
Assets held under ﬁnance leases are initially recognised as
assets of the Group at their fair value at the inception of
the lease or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum
lease payments. The corresponding liability to the lessor
is included in the consolidated statement of ﬁnancial
position as a ﬁnance lease obligation.
Lease payments are apportioned between ﬁnance
expenses and reduction of the lease obligation so as
to achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining
balance of the liability. Finance expenses are recognised
immediately in proﬁt or loss, unless they are directly
attributable to qualifying assets, in which case they are
capitalised in accordance with the Group’s general policy
on borrowing costs. Contingent rentals are recognised as
expenses in the periods in which they are incurred.

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense
on a straight-line basis over the lease term, except where
another systematic basis is more representative of the
time pattern in which economic beneﬁts from the leased
asset are consumed. Contingent rentals arising under
operating leases are recognised as an expense in the
period in which they are incurred.
In the event that lease incentives are received to enter
into operating leases, such incentives are recognised as a
liability. The aggregate beneﬁt of incentives is recognised
as a reduction of rental expense on a straight-line basis,
except where another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which economic beneﬁts
from the leased asset are consumed.

2.13 Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time
to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to
the cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are
substantially ready for their intended use or sale.
Investment income earned on the temporary investment
of speciﬁc borrowings pending their expenditure on
qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs
eligible for capitalisation.
All other borrowing costs are recognised in proﬁt or loss
in the period in which they are incurred.
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2.14 Financial assets

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets are recognised when a group entity
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instruments.

Financial assets are classiﬁed as at FVTPL when the
ﬁnancial asset is contingent consideration that may be
paid by an acquirer as part of a business combination to
which IFRS 3 applies or held for trading, or it is designated
as at FVTPL.

Financial assets are initially measured at fair value.
Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of ﬁnancial assets (other than ﬁnancial
assets at fair value through proﬁt or loss) are added to
or deducted from the fair value of the ﬁnancial assets,
as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs
directly attributable to the acquisition of ﬁnancial assets
at fair value through proﬁt or loss are recognised immediately in proﬁt or loss.
Financial assets are classiﬁed into the following speciﬁed
categories:

A ﬁnancial asset is classiﬁed as held for trading if:
»» it has been acquired principally for the purpose of
selling it in the near term; or
»» o
 n initial recognition it is part of a portfolio of identiﬁed
ﬁnancial instruments that the Group manages together
and has a recent actual pattern of short-term proﬁttaking; or
»» it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a
hedging instrument.

»» fair value through proﬁt or loss (FVTPL)
»» held-to-maturity investments

A ﬁnancial asset other than a ﬁnancial asset held for
trading or contingent consideration that may be paid
by an acquirer as part of a business combination may be
designated as at FVTPL upon initial recognition if:

»» available-for-sale (AFS)
»» loans and receivables
The classiﬁcation depends on the nature and purpose
of the ﬁnancial assets and is determined at the time of
initial recognition. All regular way purchases or sales
of ﬁnancial assets are recognised and derecognised on
a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are
purchases or sales of ﬁnancial assets that require delivery
of assets within the time frame established by regulation
or convention in the marketplace.

»» s uch designation eliminates or signiﬁcantly reduces a
measurement or recognition in-consistency that would
otherwise arise; or
»» t he ﬁnancial asset forms part of a group of ﬁnancial
assets or ﬁnancial liabilities or both, which is managed
and its performance is evaluated on a fair value basis,
in ac-cordance with the Group’s documented risk
management or investment strategy, and information
about the grouping is provided internally on that basis;
or

2.14.1 Classification and Measurement
»» it forms part of a contract containing one or more
embedded derivatives, and IAS 39 permits the entire
combined contract to be designated as at FVTPL.

Effective interest method
The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a debt instrument and of allocating
interest income over the relevant period. The effective
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated
future cash receipts (including all fees and points paid or
received that form an integral part of the effective interest
rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts)
through the expected life of the debt instrument, or,
where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying
amount on initial recognition.

Financial assets at FVTPL are stated at fair value, with any
gains or losses arising on remeas-urement recognised in
proﬁt or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in proﬁt
or loss incorpo-rates any dividend or interest earned on
the ﬁnancial asset and is included in the ‘other gains and
losses’ line item.

Income is recognised on an effective interest basis for
debt instruments other than those ﬁnancial assets
classiﬁed as at FVTPL.
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Held-to-maturity investments
Held-to-maturity investments are non-derivative ﬁnancial
assets with ﬁxed or determinable payments and ﬁxed
maturity dates that the Group has the positive intent and
ability to hold to maturity. Subsequent to initial recognition, held-to-maturity investments are measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method less
any impairment.

Available-for-sale ﬁnancial assets
(AFS ﬁnancial assets)
AFS ﬁnancial assets are non-derivatives that are either
designated as AFS or are not classiﬁed as
»» loans and receivables,
»» held-to-maturity investments or

Dividends on AFS equity instruments are recognised
in proﬁt or loss when the Group’s right to receive the
dividends is established.
The fair value of AFS monetary ﬁnancial assets denominated in a foreign currency is determined in that foreign
currency and translated at the spot rate prevailing at the
end of the reporting period. The foreign exchange gains
and losses that are recognised in proﬁt or loss are determined based on the amortised cost of the monetary asset.
Other foreign exchange gains and losses are recognised in
other comprehensive income.
AFS equity investments that do not have a quoted market
price in an active market and whose fair value cannot be
reliably measured and derivatives that are linked to and
must be settled by delivery of such unquoted equity
investments are measured at cost less any identiﬁed
impairment losses at the end of each reporting period.

»» ﬁnancial assets at fair value through proﬁt or loss.
Listed redeemable notes held by the Group that are
traded in an active market are classiﬁed as AFS and are
stated at fair value at the end of each reporting period.
The Group also has investments in unlisted shares that are
not traded in an active market but that are also classiﬁed
as AFS ﬁnancial assets and stated at fair value at the end
of each reporting period (because the directors consider
that fair value can be reliably measured).
Changes in the carrying amount of AFS monetary ﬁnancial
assets relating to changes in foreign currency rates,
interest income calculated using the effective interest
method and dividends on AFS equity investments are
recognised in proﬁt or loss. Other changes in the carrying
amount of available-for-sale ﬁnancial assets are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated
under the heading of investments revaluation reserve.
When the investment is disposed of or is determined to be
impaired, the cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in the investments revaluation reserve is reclassiﬁed
to proﬁt or loss.

Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative ﬁnancial assets
with ﬁxed or determinable payments that are not quoted
in an active market. Loans and receivables (including
trade and other re-ceivables, bank balances and cash) are
measured at amortised cost using the effective inter-est
method, less any impairment.
Interest income is recognised by applying the effective
interest rate, except for short-term receivables when the
effect of discounting is immaterial.
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2.14.2 Impairment of financial assets
Financial assets, other than those at FVTPL, are assessed
for indicators of impairment at the end of each reporting
period. Financial assets are considered to be impaired
when there is objective evidence that, as a result of one or
more events that occurred after the initial recognition of
the ﬁnancial asset, the estimated future cash ﬂows of the
investment have been affected.

For ﬁnancial assets that are carried at cost, the amount
of the impairment loss is measured as the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present
value of the estimated future cash ﬂows discounted at
the current market rate of return for a similar ﬁnancial
asset. Such impairment loss will not be reversed in subsequent periods.

For AFS equity investments, a signiﬁcant or prolonged
decline in the fair value of the security below its cost is
considered to be objective evidence of impairment.

The carrying amount of the ﬁnancial asset is reduced by
the impairment loss directly for all ﬁnancial assets with
the exception of trade receivables, where the carrying
amount is reduced through the use of an allowance
account. When a trade receivable is considered uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account.
Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off
are credited against the allowance account. Changes in
the carrying amount of the allowance account are recognised in proﬁt or loss.

For all other ﬁnancial assets, objective evidence of
impairment could include:
»» s igniﬁcant ﬁnancial difﬁculty of the issuer or counterparty;
»» b
 reach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in
interest or principal payments;
»» it becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or ﬁnancial re-organisation; or
»» t he disappearance of an active market for that ﬁnancial
asset because of ﬁnancial difﬁculties.
For certain categories of ﬁnancial assets, such as trade
receivables, assets are assessed for impairment on a
collective basis even if they were assessed not to be
impaired individually. Objective evidence of impairment
for a portfolio of receivables could include the Group’s
past experience of collecting payments, an increase in
the number of delayed payments in the portfolio past the
average credit period of 60 days, as well as observable
changes in national or local economic conditions that
correlate with default on receivables.
For ﬁnancial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount
of the impairment loss recognised is the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present
value of estimated future cash ﬂows, discounted at the
ﬁnancial asset’s original effective interest rate.

When an AFS ﬁnancial asset is considered to be impaired,
cumulative gains or losses previously recognised in other
comprehensive income are reclassiﬁed to proﬁt or loss in
the period.
For ﬁnancial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in a
subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss
decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to
an event occurring after the impairment was recognised,
the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed
through proﬁt or loss to the extent that the carrying
amount of the investment at the date the impairment is
reversed does not exceed what the amortised cost would
have been had the impairment not been recognised.
In respect of AFS equity securities, impairment losses
previously recognised in proﬁt or loss are not reversed
through proﬁt or loss. Any increase in fair value subsequent to an impairment loss is recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated under the
heading of investments revaluation reserve. In respect of
AFS debt securities, impairment losses are subsequently
reversed through proﬁt or loss if an increase in the fair
value of the investment can be objectively related to an
event occurring after the recognition of the impairment
loss.
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2.14.3 Derecognition of financial assets

2.16 Equity instruments

The Group derecognises a ﬁnancial asset when the
contractual rights to the cash ﬂows from the asset expire,
or when it transfers the ﬁnancial asset and substantially
all the risks and re-wards of ownership of the asset to
another party. If the Group neither transfers nor retains
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and
continues to control the transferred asset, the Group
recognises its retained interest in the asset and an
associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If
the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership of a transferred ﬁnancial asset, the Group
continues to recognise the ﬁnancial asset and also recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a
residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting
all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by a group
entity are recognised at the proceeds received, net of
direct issue costs.

On derecognition of a ﬁnancial asset in its entirety, the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the
sum of the consideration received and receivable and
the cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity
is recognised in proﬁt or loss.
On derecognition of a ﬁnancial asset other than in
its entirety (e.g. when the Group retains an option
to repurchase part of a transferred asset), the Group
allocates the previous carrying amount of the ﬁnancial
asset between the part it continues to recognise under
continuing in-volvement, and the part it no longer recognises on the basis of the relative fair values of those parts
on the date of the transfer. The difference between the
carrying amount allocated to the part that is no longer
recognised and the sum of the consideration received for
the part no longer recognised and any cumulative gain
or loss allocated to it that had been recognised in other
comprehensive income is recognised in proﬁt or loss. A
cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised in other
comprehensive income is allocated between the part that
contin-ues to be recognised and the part that is no longer
recognised on the basis of the relative fair values of those
parts.

Repurchase of the Company’s own equity instruments is
recognised and deducted directly in equity. No gain or loss
is recognised in proﬁt or loss on the purchase, sale, issue
or cancellation of the Company’s own equity instruments.
Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity
are classiﬁed as either ﬁnancial liabilities or as equity in
accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangements and the deﬁnitions of a ﬁnancial liability and an
equity instrument.

2.17 Share-based payment transactions of
the Company
Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and
others providing similar services are measured at the fair
value of the equity instruments at the grant date.
The fair value determined at the grant date of the
equity-settled share-based payments is expensed on
a straight-line basis over the vesting period, based on
the Group’s estimate of equity instruments that will
eventually vest, with a corresponding increase in equity.
At the end of each reporting period, the Group revises its
estimate of the number of equity instruments expected
to vest. The impact of the revision of the original
estimates, if any, is recognised in proﬁt or loss such that
the cumulative expense reﬂects the revised estimate,
with a corresponding adjustment to the equity-settled
employee beneﬁts reserve.

2.15 Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and bank balances are valued at cost. They include
cash on hand and on-demand bank deposits.
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2.18 Provisions

Warranties

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past
event, it is probable that the Group will be required to
settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made
of the amount of the obligation.

Provisions for the expected cost of warranty obligations
under local sale of goods legislation are recognised at
the date of sale of the relevant products, at the directors’
best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the
Group’s obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate
of the consideration required to settle the present
obligation at the end of the reporting period, taking
into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding
the obligation. When a provision is measured using the
cash ﬂows estimated to settle the present obligation, its
carrying amount is the present value of those cash ﬂows
(when the effect of the time value of money is material).
When some or all of the economic beneﬁts required to
settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a
third party, a receivable is recognised as an asset if it is
virtually certain that reimbursement will be received and
the amount of the receivable can be measured reliably.

2.19 Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities are classiﬁed as either ﬁnancial liabilities ‘at FVTPL’ or ‘other ﬁnancial liabilities’.
Financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value.
Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of ﬁnancial liabilities (other than
ﬁnancial liabilities at fair value through proﬁt or loss)
are added to or deducted from the fair value of the
ﬁnancial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition.
Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition
of ﬁnancial liabilities at fair value through proﬁt or loss are
recognised immediately in proﬁt or loss.

Onerous contracts
Financial liabilities at FVTPL
Present obligations arising under onerous contracts
are recognised and measured as provisions. An onerous
contract is considered to exist where the Group has a
contract under which the unavoidable costs of meeting
the obligations under the contract exceed the economic
beneﬁts expected to be received from the contract.

Financial liabilities are classiﬁed as at FVTPL when the
ﬁnancial liability is contingent consideration that may be
paid by an acquirer as part of a business combination to
which IFRS 3 applies or held for trading, or it is designated
as at FVTPL.
A ﬁnancial liability is classiﬁed as held for trading if:

Restructurings
A restructuring provision is recognised when the Group
has developed a detailed formal plan for the restructuring and has raised a valid expectation in those affected
that it will carry out the restructuring by starting to
implement the plan or announcing its main features to
those affected by it. The measurement of a restructuring
provision includes only the direct expendi-tures arising
from the restructuring, which are those amounts that are
both necessarily en-tailed by the restructuring and not
associated with the ongoing activities of the entity.

»» it has been incurred principally for the purpose of
repurchasing it in the near term;
»» o
 n initial recognition it is part of a portfolio of identiﬁed
ﬁnancial instruments that the Group manages together
and has
»» a recent actual pattern of short-term proﬁt-taking; or
»» it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a
hedging instrument.
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A ﬁnancial liability other than a ﬁnancial liability held for
trading or contingent consideration that may be paid
by an acquirer as part of a business combination may be
designated as at FVTPL upon initial recognition if:
»» s uch designation eliminates or signiﬁcantly reduces a
measurement or recognition inconsistency that would
otherwise arise;
»» t he ﬁnancial liability forms part of a group of ﬁnancial
assets or ﬁnancial liabilities or both, which is managed
and its performance is evaluated on a fair value basis,
in accordance with the Group’s documented risk
management or investment strategy, and information
about the grouping is provided internally on that basis;
or
»» it forms part of a contract containing one or more
embedded derivatives, and IAS 39 permits the entire
combined contract to be designated as at FVTPL.
Financial liabilities at FVTPL are stated at fair value, with
any gains or losses arising on remeasurement recognised
in proﬁt or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in proﬁt or
loss incorporates any interest paid on the ﬁnancial liability
and is included in the ‘other gains and losses’ line item.

Other financial liabilities
Other ﬁnancial liabilities (including borrowings and
trade and other payables) are subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.
The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a ﬁnancial liability and of allocating
interest expense over the relevant period. The effective
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated
future cash payments (including all fees and points paid
or received that form an integral part of the effective
interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or
discounts) through the expected life of the ﬁnancial
liability, or (where appropriate) a shorter period, to the
net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Derecognition of financial liabilities
The Group derecognises ﬁnancial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled
or have expired. The difference between the carrying
amount of the ﬁnancial liability derecognised and the
consideration paid and payable is recognised in proﬁt or
loss.

2.20 Contingent liabilities acquired in a business combination
Contingent liabilities acquired in a business combination
are initially measured at fair value at the acquisition date. At
the end of subsequent reporting periods, such contingent
liabilities are measured at the higher of the amount that
would be recognised in accordance with IAS 37 and the
amount initially recognised less cumulative amortisation
recognised in accordance with IAS 18 Revenue.

2.21 Critical accounting judgements and key
sources of estimation uncertainty
In the application of the Group’s accounting policies,
the directors of the Company are required to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions about the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not
readily apparent from other sources. The estimates
and associated assumptions are based on historical
experience and other factors that are considered to be
relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.
The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates
are recognised in the period in which the estimate is
revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the
period of the revision and future periods if the revision
affects both current and future periods.

2.21.1 Critical judgements in applying accounting policies
The following are the critical judgements, apart from
those involving estimations, that the directors have made
in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies
and that have the most signiﬁcant effect on the amounts
recognised in the consolidated ﬁnancial statements.

Provisions for bonus or commission payments
The employees of the group receive a voluntary payment
for the preceding financial year. The determination of the
amount of the provision is a discretionary exercise by the
executive management on the basis of the development of
business in the appropriate companies. On 31 December
2016, the value totalled TEUR 1,077 (2015: TEUR 491).
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Stage of completion construction contracts

Impairment of goodwill

With fixed price contracts, the stage of completion is
determined on the basis of the accrued costs in relation
to the total costs (cost-to-cost) method. In individual
cases, however, it is necessary to estimate the stage of
completion according to the overall progress, since a
cost-to-cost method would not lead to meaningful results.
The choice of the method for determining the degree of
compleion is at the judgement of the management and is
made individually for each existing project together with
the responsible project manager.

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an
estimation of the value in use of the cash-generating units
to which goodwill has been allocated. The value in use
calculation requires the directors to estimate the future
cash ﬂows expected to arise from the cash-generating
unit and a suitable discount rate in order to calculate
present value. Where the actual future cash ﬂows are less
than expected, a material impairment loss may arise.

Internally generated intangible assets

Useful lives of property, plant and equipment

For the capitalization of internally generated intangible
assets, there is a high margin of discretion in the distinction between research and development, which consists
of activating or not activating the costs incurred.

The useful lives of the scheduled depreciation are based
on estimates and are reviewed on each reporting date.
The useful lives are considered reasonable in the current
financial year. Modified assumptions or circumstances
could make changes necessary in the future.

2.21.2 Key sources of estimation uncertainty

Assets that are subject to scheduled depreciation are
tested for impairment in accordance with IAS 36 if such
events or changes in the circumstances indicate that
the carrying amount may no longer be recoverable.
An impairment loss is recognized in the amount of the
carrying amount that exceeds the recoverable amount.
The recoverable amount is the higher of the fair value of
the asset less costs to sell and the value in use.

The following are the key assumptions concerning
the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period that may have
a signiﬁcant risk of causing a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next
ﬁnancial year.

There was no impairment requirement in the fiscal year.

There was no impairment requirement in the fiscal year.

Recoverability of internally generated intangible asset
During the year, the management re-evaluated the value
of the internally generated intangi-ble assets. Impairment
exists when the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its
recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the
higher of the two amounts from the fair value less costs
to sell and the value in use.
The project continues to progress in a satisfactory
manner, and customer reaction has reconﬁrmed the
directors’ previous estimates of anticipated revenues
from the project. This situation will be closely monitored,
and adjustments made in future periods if future market
activity indicates that such adjustments are appropriate.

Fair value measurements and valuation
processes
Some of the Group’s assets and liabilities are measured at
fair value for ﬁnancial reporting purposes. The board of
directors of the Company has set up a valuation committee,
which is headed up by the Chief Financial Officer, to
determine the appropriate valuation techniques and
inputs for fair value measurements.
In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the
Group uses market-observable data to the extent it is
available. Where Level 1 inputs are not available, the
Group engages third party qualiﬁed valuers to perform
the valuation. The valuation committee works closely
with the qualiﬁed external valuers to establish the appropriate valuation techniques and inputs to the model. The
Chief Financial Officer reports the valuation committee’s
ﬁndings to the board of directors of the Company every
quarter to explain the cause of ﬂuctuations in the fair
value of the assets and liabilities.
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» 3.Business combinations «
Subsidiaries acquired

Company

Tensid AG

ARIVA.DE AG

Principal activity

Proportion of voting
Date of acquisition equity interets acquired
(%)

Costs
EUR’000

Provider of digital corporate communications in Switzerland

Jan. 1, 2016

100.000

4,307

Provider of financial data and software
solutions
for financial institutions

July 1, 2016

50.002

1,345
5,652

The two companies were acquired with the aim of continuing the expansion of the Group’s activities.
The acquisition of ARIVA.DE AG took place in the course
of a successive business combination. At the time of
control the fair value of the equity held amounted to
EUR.962 million. The loss from the revaluation of the
share amounts to EUR.758 million and is shown as income
from associated companies in the income statement.

During the year 2016, Tensid AG was merged retrospectively with EQS Schwei AG as of 1 January 2016. Nevertheless, in the following remarks, the purchased company
Tensid AG is used.

Consideration transferred
Tensid AG
EUR‘000

ARIVA.DE AG
EUR‘000

Cash

3,880

1,228

Contingent consideration arrangements
Total

427
4,307

117
1,345

As part of the agreement on the contingent consideration
of Tensid AG, a purchase price adjustments was carried
out in February 2016 as predefined limits on working
capital were reached or fallen below. This was recorded in
the amount of EUR.085 million. Furthermore, during the
first three years after the date of completion, the vendors
have jointly been entitled to a variable purchase price of
CHF.200 million per year, total CHF.600 million as long
as certain earn out measures are met by the vendor. The
achievement of these measures is considered probable by
the management. For this reason, the reported amount
of EUR.427 million represents the estimated fair value of
this obligation at the date of acquisition.

As part of the acquisition of ARIVA.DE AG, the company
has committed itself to a purchase price additional
payment of EUR 4 per share acquired. The payment shall
be due in the following year, if the annual profit for the
year exceeds EUR.250 million in 2016 and 2017 respectively. The management currently assumes that the
condition for the payment of the purchase price after
payment will be fulfilled on both reporting dates.
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Assets acquired and liabilities recognised at the date of acquisition
Tensid AG
EUR ’000

ARIVA.DE AG
EUR ’000

Total
EUR ’000

Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents

621

189

810

Trade and other receivables
Non-current assets

699

1,644

2,343

Customer base

1,852

2,871

4,723

Intangible assets

-

2

2

Tangible assets

-

3,071

3,071

Deferred tax assets
Current liabilities

-

226

226

Financial liabilities

-

-2,390

-2,390

Provisions

-

-205

-205

-708

-453

1,161

-40

-128

-168

-223
2,201

-1,045
3,782

-1,268
5,983

Trade and other liabilities
Income tax liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Deferred tax liabilities
Net asset

There are no receivables or assets that are uncollectible.

Non-controlling interests
The non-controlling interests (49.998% shareholding in
ARIVA.DE AG) were recognized at the time of acquisition
and are valued at their fair value. The fair value was determined by means of a discounted cash flow method in which

the future cash flows of ARIVA.DE AG are discounted to
the acquisition date at an interest rate at the acquisition
date and at a risk-adequate rate. In addition, profit multipliers and working capital adjustments were applied.
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Goodwill arising on acquisition

Consideration transferred

Tensid AG
EUR ’000

ARIVA.DE AG
EUR ’000

Total
EUR ’000

4,307

1,345

5,652

Plus: previous at-equity investments
(25.44% in ARIVA.DE AG)

-

1,393

1,393

Plus: non-controlling interests
(49.998% in ARIVA.DE AG)

-

2,738

2,738

-3,782
1,693

-5,983
3,799

Less: fair value of identifiable net assets acquired
Goodwill arising on acquistion

-2,201
2,106 *

* Prior-year figures adjusted. We refer to Point 2. „Significant accounting and valuation methods“ (2.4 Changes in the previous year‘s
figures) in the notes

Goodwill arose in the acquisitions of Tensid AG and ARIVA.
DE AG of EUR3.799 million because the consideration
paid included amounts that would take advantage of
the expected synergies, revenue growth, future market
developments and the existing workforce of the two
companies. These benefits are not recognized separately

from goodwill because they do not meet the recognition
criteria for identifiable intangible assets.
None of the goodwill arising on these acquisitions is
expected to be deductible for tax purposes.

Net cash outflow on acquisition of subsidiaries

Tensid AG
EUR ’000

ARIVA.DE AG
EUR ’000

Total
EUR ’000

Consideration paid in cash

3,880

1,228

5,108

Less: cash and cash equivalent balance acquired
Net cash outflow

-621
3,259

-189
1,693

-810
3,799

Impact of acquisitions on the results of the
Group
Included in the profit of the year is EUR.268 million attributable to the additional business generated by Tensid
EQS AG and EUR.614 million attributable to ARIVA.DE AG.
Revenue of the year includes EUR2.153 million in respect
of Tensid EQS AG and EUR4.752 in respect of ARIVA.DE
AG.

Had the business combination been effected at 1 January
2016, the revenue of the Group from continuing operations would have been EUR28.750 million and the profit
of the year EUR.913 million.
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» 4.Subsidiaries «
Details oft he Group’s material subsidiaries at the end oft he reorting period are as follows:

Share in equity
Name

EQS Group AG
EQS Financial Markets & Media GmbH

Headquarter

Dec. 31. 2016

Dec. 31. 2015

Consolidation
method

Munich

holding
company

holding
company

Full consolidation

Munich

100.00%

100.00%

Full consolidation

Moscow

100.00%

100.00%

Full consolidation

Baar

100.00%

100.00%

Full consolidation

Hong Kong

100.00%

100.00%

Full consolidation

Cochin

99.96%

99.96%

Full consolidation

Hong Kong

100.00%

100.00%

Full consolidation

EQS Maitu Shangwu Consulting Co. Ltd.

Shenzhen

100.00%

100.00%

Full consolidation

Shenzhen Maitu Shidai Technology Co. Ltd.

Shenzhen

100.00%

100.00%

Full consolidation

Hong Kong

100.00%

100.00%

Full consolidation

Singapore

100.00%

100.00%

Full consolidation

EQS Group Ltd.

London

100.00%

100.00%

Full consolidation

EQS Group Inc.

New York

100.00%

100.00%

Full consolidation

Kiel

51.25%

25.44%

Full consolidation
previous year:
At-equity

Dubai

100.00%

-

Full consolidation

EquityStory RS, LLC
Tensid EQS AG (former: EQS Schweiz AG)
EQS Asia Limited
EQS Web Technologies Pvt. Ltd.
EQS TodayIR Limited

TodayIR Holdings Limited (Taiwan)
EQS Digital IR Pte. Ltd.

ARIVA.DE AG
EQS Group FZ-LLC

For detailed information to non-controlling interests we refer to note 33.

Changes in the equity ratio of subsidiaries
During the financial year the Group purchased 1.25% of the shares of the ARIVA.DE AG. This increased the share in equity
to 51.25%. The purchase of EUR.065 million has been paid by cash. The difference of EUR.3 million between the purchase
price and the decrease in the minorities was recorded in retained earnings.
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» 5. Segment information «
For the purpose of the corporate management, the group
is organised by products and services into business units
and has the follwing two reportable operation segments:

Products & Services comprises of the business divisions:

»» Regulatory Information & News and

»» Websites & Platforms

»» Products & Services.

»» Reports & Webcasts

»» Distribution & Media

The operating result of the business divisions is separately
monitored by Management in order to decide on distribution of resources and to determine profitability of the
divisions. The development of the segements is based on
the adjusted EBIT (Non-IFRS EBIT).

The table below provides information regarding income and results of the business segments of the group.
Regulatory
Information & News
EUR ’000

Products &
Services
EUR ’000

External revenues

9,872

Internal revenues

0

Consolidation
EUR ’000

Group
EUR ’000

16,190

0

26,061

544

-544

0

9,872

16,734

-544

26,061

Other operating income

115

361

0

476

Own cost capitalised

269

127

0

396
-22,760

Jan. 1, 2016 to Dec. 31, 2016

Segment revenues

Operating expenses

-8,115

-15,189

544

thereof purchased services

-1,789

-2,899

544

-4,144

thereof personnel expenses

-4,409

-8,488

0

-12,897

thereof other expenses

-1,917

-3,802

0

-5,719

Depreciation & amortisation

-578

-933

0

-1,511

thereof on tangible assets

-195

-345

0

-540

thereof on intangible assets

-368

-556

0

-924

thereof on low-value assets
Operating result (EBIT)

-15
1,563

-32
1,100

0
0

-47
2,663

Financial expenses/income

-88

-62

0

-150

0

-738

0

-738

1,475

300

0

1,775

-799

-162

0

-961

20

4

0

24

676

138

0

814

Income from associated companies
Profit before tax (EBT)
Income taxes
included amount of deferred taxes
Group earnings
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Jan. 1, 2015 to Dec. 31, 2015

Regulatory
Information & News
EUR ’000

Products &
Services
EUR ’000

Consolidation
EUR ’000

Group
EUR ’000

18,377

5,954

12,423

0

External revenues

0

631

-631

0

Internal revenues

5,954

13,054

-631

18,377

Segment revenues
Other operating income

86

170

0

256

239

61

0

300
-15,716

Own cost capitalised
-4,442

-11,905

631

-1,273

-2,230

631

-2,872

thereof purchased services

-2,009

-6,454

0

-8,463

thereof personnel expenses

-1,160

-3,221

0

-4,381

-257

-596

0

-853

-74

-207

0

-281

thereof on intangible assets

-178

-382

0

-560

thereof on low-value assets
Operating result (EBIT)

-5
1,580

-7
784

0
0

-12
2,364

Operating expenses

thereof other expenses
Depreciation & amortisation
thereof on tangible assets

Financial expenses/income

43

21

0

64 *

0

43

0

43

1,623

848

0

2,471 *

-884

-462

0

-1,346 *

67

35

0

102 *

739

386

0

1,125 *

Income from associated companies
Profit before tax (EBT)
Income taxes
included amount of deferred taxes
Group earnings

* Prior-year figures adjusted. We refer to Point 2. „Significant accounting and valuation methods“ (2.4 Changes in the previous year‘s
figures) in the notes

As a result of changes in management monitoring, the
disclosures on segment assets and segment liabilities
were omitted.

but the benefit is incurred by the Regulatory Information
& News segment. Billing between the segments take
place based on the price comparison method.

Intersegment revenues are based on intersegment billing
regarding the filing service of annual financial statements
with the Federal Gazette (XML conversion). In this respect,
the sevice is provided by the segment Products & Services

The revenues in each of the foreign countries remain
below 10% of the groups revenues. Therefore geographic
segmentation has not been done. No customer is responsible for more than 10% of revenue.
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» Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income «

» 6. Revenues «
The breakdown oft he Group’s revenues is as follows:

Revenue from the rendering of services
Construction contract revenue
Total

2016
EUR ’000

2015
EUR ’000

26,056

18,298

5

79

26,061

18,377

2016
EUR ’000

2015
EUR ’000

0

20

12

139

» 7. Other income «
Income from the reduction of the specific valuation
allowance on receivables
Income from the reversal of provisions

7

7
41

Rental income

239
29

Net cash decrease on acquisition of subsidiaries

113

0

76

23

476

256

Income of amounts previously written-off
Income from the sale of tangible assets

Others
Total

26

No other gains or losses have been recognised in respect of loans and receivables, other than as disclosed in notes 7 and 12 and impairment losses recognised/reversed in respct of trade receivables.

» 8. Own cost capitalised «
Own software

2016
EUR ’000

2015
EUR ’000

396

300

During the financial year the mainly new projects being capitalised were the
INSIDER MANAGER as part of the COCKPIT of €222K and LEI platform (Legal
Entity Identifier) of €91K (2015: MAILING €153K and COCKPIT adjustments €65K).
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» 9. Purchased services «
2016
EUR ’000

2015
EUR ’000

4,144

2,872

Cost of services

The increase mainly result of the consolidation of ARIVA.DE AG and the introduction of the new MAR products.

» 10. Personnel expenses «
Wages/Salaries

2016
EUR ’000

2015
EUR ’000

11,312

7,427

Equity-settled share-based payments

107

78

Mandatory social expenses

643

397

Voluntary social expenses

56

43

Other employee benefits
Total

779

518

12,897

8,463

The increases mainly result from the acquisitions and the increase in personnel at
the parent company.

» 11. Depreciation & amortisation «
Depreciation on tangible assets
Depreciation on intangible assets
Total

2016
EUR ’000

2015
EUR ’000

569

293

943
1,512

560
853

The amortisation on intangible assets includes amortisation on acquired customer
base amounting to €.619 million (2015: €.353 million).
The amortisation of tangible assets includes amortisation on property amouting
to €20K (2015: EUR 0).

NOTES | CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME | 79

» 12. Other expenses «
2016
EUR ’000

2015
EUR ’000

1,652

1,344

Insurances/contributions/fees

163

100

IT-costs/maintenance

832

617

1,203

922

Telecommunication/office

643

383

Consulting fees

775

775

Losses on receivables/provisions for bad debts

177

85

Others
Total

274

155

5,719

4,381

2016
EUR ’000

2015
EUR ’000

Rental expenses

Advertising and travel expenses

» 13. Interest income «
1

1

Loans

20

14

Tax refunds

0
90

4

111

24 *

Cash in banks

Others
Total

5 *

* Prior-year figures adjusted. We refer to Point 2. „Significant accounting and valuation
methods“ (2.4 Changes in the previous year‘s figures) in the notes

The other interest income includes income from the subsequent measurement
oft he loan liabilities according to the effective interest method in the amount of
€90K.
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» 14. Interest expenses «
2016
EUR ’000

2015
EUR ’000

120

63

Tax liabilities

0

1

Discounting of liabilities

5

Loans and bank overdrafts

2

0
125

Others
Total

17 *
83 *

* Prior-year figures adjusted. We refer to Point 2. „Significant accounting and valuation
methods“ (2.4 Changes in the previous year‘s figures) in the notes

The weighted average financing cost rate used to measure the fair value of the
financial liabilities is 1.26% per year (2015: 1.18% per year). The effects are included
in other interest expenses.

» 15. Loss/Income from associated companies «
Income from ARIVA.DE AG (At-equity)
Loss revaluation At-equity-investment ARIVA.DE AG
Total

2016
EUR ’000

2015
EUR ’000

20

43

-758

0

-738

43

This position includes the prorated attributable At-equity income of ARIVA.DE
AG.

» 16. Other financial income/expenses «
2016
EUR ’000

Net gain/loss of currency translations

-136

2015
EUR ’000

123 *

* Prior-year figures adjusted. We refer to Point 2. „Significant accounting and valuation
methods“ (2.4 Changes in the previous year‘s figures) in the notes

The currency translation is mainly attributable to the exchange rate of the Hong
Kong Dollar to Euro, amounting to €27K (2015: €135K) and the Great Britain Pound
to Euro, amounting €-163K (2015: €13K).

NOTES | CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME | 81

» 17. Income taxes «
Income tax recognised in profit or loss
2016
EUR ’000

2015
EUR ’000

985

1,243

-25
960

1,346 *

Current tax
In respect of the current year
Deferred tax
In respect of the current year
Total

103 *

* Prior-year figures adjusted. We refer to Point 2. „Significant accounting and valuation
methods“ (2.4 Changes in the previous year‘s figures) in the notes

The group tax rate is calculated based on the taxable income in accordance with
fiscal regulations. The predicted Group tax rate for the entire year 2016 amounts
to 32.95% (2015: 33.16%) and includes the German corporation tax as well as the
solidarity surcharge and trade tax and therefore may differ from the actual group
tax rate at the end of the year. The tax rate of the subsidiaries differ between 0%
to 35%.
The income tax expenses for the year can be reconciled to the accounting profit
as follows.

2016
EUR ’000

Profit before tax from continuing operations

1.775

2015
EUR ’000

2.471 *

585

819

Effect of differing foreign tax rates

91

2

Effect of expenses that are not deductible in determining taxable profit

26

21

Effect of unused tax losses and tax offsets not recognised as deferred tax assets

313

366

Income tax expense calculated at 32.95% (2015: 33.16%)

Others
Total
Effective tax rate

-30

35

985
55.49%

1,243
50.30%

* Prior-year figures adjusted. We refer to Point 2. „Significant accounting and valuation
methods“ (2.4 Changes in the previous year‘s figures) in the notes

No tax consequences for the group resulted from the distribution of dividends to
shareholders.
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Income tax recognised directly in equity
2016
EUR ’000

2015
EUR ’000

186

148

Deferred tax
Translation of foreign operations

Current tax assets and liabilities
Dec. 31, 2016
EUR ’000

Dec. 31, 2015
EUR ’000

582

45

298

362

Current tax assets
Tax refund receivable
Current tax liabilities
Income tax payable

Deferred tax balances
The following is an analysis of the deferred tax assets and liabilities in the consolidated balance sheet:
Dec. 31, 2016
EUR ’000

679

Deferred tax assets
Deferred tax liabilities
Total

Dec. 31, 2015
EUR ’000

386

-2,013

-769 *

-1,334

-383

* Prior-year figures adjusted. We refer to Point 2. „Significant accounting and valuation
methods“ (2.4 Changes in the previous year‘s figures) in the notes

Dec. 31, 2016
EUR ’000

Deferred tax assets in relation to:

Dec. 31, 2015
EUR ’000

Tax losses

114

24

Currency translation

226

203

Temporary differences in balance sheet
Total

339
679

159
386
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Deferred tax liabilities in relation to:

Dec. 31, 2016
EUR ’000

At-equity recognition

Dec. 31, 2015
EUR ’000

0

8

471

239

2

0

Construction contracts

14

14

Currency translation

40

Non-current assets
Current assets

Customer base
Total

1,486
2,013

54
454 *
769

* Prior-year figures adjusted. We refer to Point 2. „Significant accounting and valuation
methods“ (2.4 Changes in the previous year‘s figures) in the notes

Unused tax losses
No deferred tax assets for unused foreign tax losses could be capitalised. This is
due to a partial usability of unused tax losses within the planning period.

Unrecognisable deferred tax assets for unused tax losses

2016
EUR ’000

2015
EUR ’000

313

366
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» 18. Earnings per share «
The calculation of the diluted and undiluted earnings per share is as follows:

2016
EUR ’000

515

Profit of the year attributable to owners of the Company

2015
EUR ’000

1,125 *

in thousand

in thousand

1,191

1,172

Weighted average number of ordinary shares adjusted
for the dilution
Earnings per share (diluted and undiluted)

0.43

0.96 *

* Prior-year figures adjusted. We refer to Point 2. „Significant accounting and valuation
methods“ (2.4 Changes in the previous year‘s figures) in the notes

As a result of the capital increase during the year and the changes in treasury
stock, the ordinary shares were adjusted accordingly.

» 19. Dividends «
Dividend on the ordinary shares:
Dividend for 2015: EUR 0.75 per share

890

Dividend on the ordinary shares proposed in the annual general
meeting: (not reported as a liability as of December 31)
Dividend for 2016: EUR 0.75 per share

981
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» Consolidated Balance Sheet «

» 20. Intangible assets and Goodwill «
Own software
EUR ’000

Other software
and licences
EUR ’000

Customer base
EUR ’000

As of January 1, 2015

550

1,772

5,001

Additions 2015

300

158

0

0

0

0

573 *

566 *

Goodwill
EUR ’000

Total
EUR ’000

Acquisition and/or manufacturing costs:

Addition by first consolidation 2015

10,966 *

Disposals 2015

0

0

0

0

Currency difference

0

1

246 *

377 *

As of December 31, 2015

850

1,931

Additions 2016

5,820

11,909

18,289
458
1,139
0
624
20,510

392

393

0

0

785

Addition by first consolidation 2016

0

-9

4,723

3,798

8,512

Disposals 2016

0

0

0

0

0

0
1,242

12
2,327

16
10,559

82
15,789

110
29,917

As of January 1, 2015

151

1,528

420

0

2,099

Depreciation & amortisation and valuation
allowances 2015

106

102

353 *

0

561

0

0

0

0
773 *

0
0

0
2,660

619

0

943

Currency difference
As of December 31, 2016
Depreciation & amortisation and valuation
allowances:

Disposals 2015

0

0

Currency difference
As of December 31, 2015

0
257

0
1,630

Depreciation & amortisation and valuation
allowances 2016

153

171

0

0

0

0

0

Currency difference
As of December 31, 2016

Disposals 2016

0
410

0
1,801

0
1,392

0
0

0
3,603

Book value:
As of December 31, 2016

832

525

9,167

15,789

26,314

As of December 31, 2015

593

301

5,047 *

11,910 *

17,850

As of January 1, 2015

399

244

4,581

10,966

16,190

* Prior-year figures adjusted. We refer to Point 2. „Significant accounting and valuation methods“ (2.4 Changes in the previous year‘s
figures) in the notes
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Allocation of goodwill to cash-generating units
For impariment test purposes the goodwill is allocated to the cash generating units. In principle the subsidiary represents
the cash generating unit.
The carrying amount of goodwill was allocated to cash-generating units as follows:

Book value Goodwill
Dec. 31, 2016
EUR ’000

Book value Goodwill
Dec. 31, 2015
EUR ’000

Former: Deutsche Gesellschaft für Ad-hoc-Publizität mbH (DGAP)

4,761

4,761

EQS Financial Markets & Media GmbH

2,434

2,434

EquityStory RS, LLC
Former: EQS Corporate Communications GmbH
EQS TodayIR Ltd.
EQS Group Ltd. (former Obsidian IR LTD)
Tensid EQS AG
ARIVA.DE AG
Total

14

14

460

460

3,799

3,680 *

480

561 *

2,148

-

1,693
15,789

11,910

* Prior-year figures adjusted. We refer to Point 2. „Significant accounting and valuation methods“ (2.4 Changes in the previous year‘s
figures) in the notes

Former: Deutsche Gesellschaft für
Ad-hoc-Publizität (DGAP)

EQS Financial Markets & Media GmbH

The recoverable amount of this cash-generating unit
is determined based on a value in use calculation which
uses cash flow projections based on financial budgets
approved by the directors covering a five-year period, and
a discount rate of 6.02% (2015: 5.65%).
Cash flow projections during the budget period are based
on the same expected gross margins as well as the same
estimated price increase rate. The cash flows beyond
that five-year period have been extrapolated without
using a steady growth rate. The directors believe that
any reasonably possible change in the key assumptions
on which recoverable amount is based would not cause
the aggregate carrying amount to exceed the aggregate
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit. The
company was amalgamated to the EQS Group AG in the
year 2014.

The recoverable amount of this cash-generating unit
is determined based on a value in use calculation which
uses cash flow projections based on financial budgets
approved by the directors covering a five-year period, and
a discount rate of 6.02% (2015: 6.09%).
Cash flow projections during the budget period are based
on the same expected gross margins as well as the same
estimated price increase rate. The cash flows beyond that
five-year period have been extrapolated using a steady
1.0% (2015: 2%) growth rate. The directors believe that
any reasonably possible change in the key assumptions
on which recoverable amount is based would not cause
the aggregate carrying amount to exceed the aggregate
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit.
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EquityStory RS. LLC
The recoverable amount of this cash-generating unit
is determined based on a value in use calculation which
uses cash flow projections based on financial budgets
approved by the directors covering a five-year period, and
a discount rate of 12.69% (2015: 10.98%).
Cash flow projections during the budget period are based
on the same expected gross margins as well as the same
estimated price increase rate. The cash flows beyond
that five-year period have been extrapolated without
using a steady growth rate. The directors believe that
any reasonably possible change in the key assumptions
on which recoverable amount is based would not cause
the aggregate carrying amount to exceed the aggregate
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit.

EQS Corporate Communications GmbH
The recoverable amount of this cash-generating unit
is determined based on a value in use calculation which
uses cash flow projections based on financial budgets
approved by the directors covering a five-year period, and
a discount rate of 6.02% (2015: 5.57%).
Cash flow projections during the budget period are based
on the same expected gross margins as well as the same
estimated price increase rate. The cash flows beyond that
five-year period have been extrapolated using a steady
1.0% (2015: 0%) growth rate. The directors believe that
any reasonably possible change in the key assumptions
on which recoverable amount is based would not cause
the aggregate carrying amount to exceed the aggregate
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit. The
company was amalgamated to the EQS Group AG in the
year 2013.

EQS TodayIR Ltd.
The recoverable amount of this cash-generating unit
is determined based on a value in use calculation which
uses cash flow projections based on financial budgets
approved by the directors covering a five-year period, and
a discount rate of 8.53% (2015: 6.04%).

Cash flow projections during the budget period are based
on the same expected gross margins as well as the same
estimated price increase rate. The cash flows beyond that
five-year period have been extrapolated using a steady
2.0% (2015: 0%) growth rate. The directors believe that
any reasonably possible change in the key assumptions
on which recoverable amount is based would not cause
the aggregate carrying amount to exceed the aggregate
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit.

EQS Group Ltd.
The recoverable amount of this cash-generating unit
is determined based on a value in use calculation which
uses cash flow projections based on financial budgets
approved by the directors covering a five-year period, and
a discount rate of 7.34% (2015: 5.09%).
Cash flow projections during the budget period are based
on the same expected gross margins as well as the same
estimated price increase rate. The cash flows beyond that
five-year period have been extrapolated using a steady
1.0% (2015: 0%) growth rate. The directors believe that
any reasonably possible change in the key assumptions
on which recoverable amount is based would not cause
the aggregate carrying amount to exceed the aggregate
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit.

Tensid AG
The recoverable amount of this cash-generating unit
is determined based on a value in use calculation which
uses cash flow projections based on financial budgets
approved by the directors covering a five-year period, and
a discount rate of 6.02%.
Cash flow projections during the budget period are based
on the same expected gross margins as well as the same
estimated price increase rate. The cash flows beyond
that five-year period have been extrapolated using a
steady 1.0% growth rate. The directors believe that any
reasonably possible change in the key assumptions on
which recoverable amount is based would not cause the
aggregate carrying amount to exceed the aggregate
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit. The
company was amalgamated to the EQS Schweiz AG (now:
Tensid EQS AG) in the year 2016.
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ARIVA.DE AG
The recoverable amount of this cash-generating unit
is determined based on a value in use calculation which
uses cash flow projections based on financial budgets
approved by the directors covering a five-year period, and
a discount rate of 6.02%.

»» F
 or the UK (EQS Group Ltd.) we see a clear crosselling
potential for existing customers as well as new
customer growth due to the market abuse regulation
for the years 2017 to 2021. We expect a clearly doubledigit increase in sales (average growth rate 35% to 40%).

Cash flow projections during the budget period are based
on the same expected gross margins as well as the same
estimated price increase rate. The cash flows beyond
that five-year period have been extrapolated using a
steady 1.0% growth rate. The directors believe that any
reasonably possible change in the key assumptions on
which recoverable amount is based would not cause the
aggregate carrying amount to exceed the aggregate
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit.

»» F
 or our swiss subsidiary Tensid EQS AG we anticipate
an average growth in sales of 5% per year for the years
2017 to 2021 due to the already high market share and
market maturity.
»» I n the course oft he PRIIPS regulation (beginning
January 1, 2018) we expect an average increase in sales
of 15% to 20% per year for our subsidiary ARIVA.DE AG.
»» F
 or the group we expect average revenue growth of
10% to 15% for the years 2017 to 2021.

Key planning assumptions for the five-year
period under review:
»» I n the segment Regulatory Information & News of EQS
Group AG we assume an average growth rate of 5% to
10% due to the positive impact of the market abuse
regulation.

»» O
 n the expenditure side, due to the scalable business,
we expect a 5% to 10% increase and thus a disproportionaly slow development in comparison with the
revenues.

»» I n the segment Products & Services of EQS Group AG
we expect an average growth rate of 5% to 10% for the
years 2017 to 2021 particularly due to crossselling sales.
»» W
 e expect a gradual revcovery from the current low
level (average growth rate of 35% to 40%) in the area of
media planning (EQS Financial Markets & Media GmbH).
»» F
 or Russia (EquityStory RS LLC) we expect growth
to continue (average growth rate 10%) despite the
currently difficult environment due to our marketleading position.
»» F
 or the afiliate EQS Asia Ltd. we plan crossselling
potential for existing customers as well as new customer
growth in the upcoming years and expect a double-digit
growth rate of 10% to 15% per year.
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Significant intangible assets
For additions to own software we refer to note 8.
The most significant additions to intangible assets result
from the values of the the first-time consolidation of
Tensid AG and ARIVA.DE AG (on acquisition).
The addition of goodwill results from the purchase price
allocation on Tensid AG in the amount of EUR2.106 million
as well as of ARIVA.DE AG in the amount of EUR1.693
million.
The addition to the other software consist of EUR4.723
million from the customers base of Tensid AG and ARIVA.
DE AG as part of the business combinations.
The calculation of the customer base of Tensid AG
acquired under the purchase price allocation is based on
the achievable annual revenues based on the customer
structure assumend in the context of a discounted cash
flow method to a total of 15 years. An estimated churn
rate of 5% per year is assumed. The calculation is divided
into three phases with different growth rates. In the first
two years, revenue growth of 3%, in the next five years 2%
each year and 1% in the remaining years will be assumed.
The planning assumptions are identical to the assumptions made in the valuation of goodwill.
The calculation of the customer base of ARIVA.DE AG
acquired under the purchase price allocation is basded on
the achievable annual revenues based on the customer
structure assumend in the context of a discounted cash
flow method to a total of 15 years. An estimated churn
rate of 10% per year is assumed. The calculation is divided
into three phases with different growth rates. In the
first two years, revenue growth of 15%, in the next five
years 10% each year and 5% in the remaining years will be
assumed. The planning assumptions are identical to the
assumptions made in the valuation of goodwill.
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» 21. Tangible assets «
Furniture and office equipment
EUR ’000

Acquisition costs:
As of January 1, 2015

2,142

Additions 2015

904

Disposals 2015

98

Currency difference

13

As of December 31, 2015

2,961

Additions 2016

789

Addition by first consolidation 2016

3,077

Disposals 2016

2,550

Currency difference
As of December 31, 2016

3
4,280

Depreciation & amortisation and valuation allowances:
As of January 1, 2015

1,392

Depreciation & amortisation and valuation allowances 2015
Disposals 2015

293
80

As of December 31, 2015

1,605

Depreciation & amortisation and valuation allowances 2016
Disposals 2016

569
52

Currency difference
As of December 31, 2016

18
2,140

Book value:
As of December 31, 2016

2,140

As of December 31, 2015

1,356

As of January 1, 2015

750

The addition from the first-time consolidation includes a property of ARIVA.DE AG,
which was sold until December 31, 2016.
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» 22. At-equity investments «
Dec. 31, 2016
EUR ’000

Dec. 31, 2015
EUR ’000

Non-current assets

-

760

Current assets

-

388

Current liabilities

-

-165

Non-current liabilities
Proportionate share in net assets

-

-420

0

563

2016
EUR ‚000

2015
EUR ‚000

-

1,245

ARIVA.DE AG

25.44% share in the balance sheet of the associated company:

25.44% share in the revenues and the profit of the associated company:

Revenues
Profit/Loss
Book value of the investment

20

43

-

2,131

The shares (25.44% of the share capital) held by the associated company ARIVA.DE AG up to June 30, 2016 were accounted
for using the equity method. As of July 1, 2016 ARIVA.DE AG was fully consolidated due to the acquisition of control
(see point 3).

» 23. Other financial assets «
Financial assets designated at fair value

Currency forward

Dec. 31, 2016
EUR ’000

Dec. 31, 2015
EUR ’000

0

4

The derivative existed outside any hedging relationships because no hedge
accounting was applied.

Loans carried at amortised cost
Dec. 31, 2016
EUR ’000

Dec. 31, 2015
EUR ’000

Loans

1,279

1,046

Deposits
Total

227
1,506

105
1,151
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Originally, loans amounting to EUR1.067 million were issued to foreign directors
within a management participation programm. These loans relate to financing
the purchase of shares of the parent company up to 1% per employee. The
interest rate amounted to 2%. Repayments must be made by 2022, at the latest.
The loans are collateralised.
In 2016 a loan was also granted to a related company, the Neufeldtneun GmbH &
Co. KG, to whom the property was sold, up to EUR.300 million.

Dec. 31, 2016
EUR ’000

Current
Non-current
Total

Dec. 31, 2015
EUR ’000

259

105

1,246
1,506

1,050
1,155

Dec. 31, 2016
EUR ’000

Dec. 31, 2015
EUR ’000

» 24. Other assets «
416

247

VAT

43

35

Receivables from employees

30

11

Receivables from health insurance/insurances

38

0

35
562

27
320

Advance payments

Others
Total

Advance payments are payments for services to be performed in the following
year.

Dec. 31, 2016
EUR ’000

Dec. 31, 2015
EUR ’000

Current

553

316

Non-current
Total

9
562

4
320
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» 25. Trade accounts receivable «
Dec. 31, 2016
EUR ’000

Dec. 31, 2015
EUR ’000

Trade accounts receivable

3,984

2,820

Valuation allowances on receivables
Total

-76
3,908

-26
2,794

The average credit period on sales is 21 days. However, this may vary somewhat
depending in the country’s activity. In the case of trade receivables older than
90 days, impairments are normally made on the basis of historically proven
experience with respect to the counterparty and in consideration of the current
financial situation of the opposing parties.
There are 4 customers (2015: 0) with trade receivables that account for more
than 5% but less than 10% of the total amount of trade receivables.

Age of receivables that are past due but not impaired
Neither overdue
Total nor written down
EUR‘000

EUR‘000

Overdue but not written down
(days)

Overdue
and partially
written down

22-30
30-60
> 60
EUR‘000 EUR‘000 EUR‘000

EUR‘000

As of Dec.
31, 2016

3,908

2,236

469

203

819

181

As of Dec.
31, 2015

2,794

2,024

377

158

80

155

Changes in the allowance for doubtful debts
Dec. 31, 2016
EUR ’000

Dec. 31, 2015
EUR ’000

As of January 1, 2016

26

45

Additions recognised as an expense

76

25

-26

-44

76

26

Consumption/reversal
Total

When determining the recoverability of trade receivables, any change in the
creditworthiness since the grant of the payment objective has been taken into
account by the reporting date. There is no significant concentration of the credit
risk due to the fact that the customer base is broad and there are nor correlations.
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» 26. Construction contracts «
Dec. 31, 2016
EUR ’000

Dec. 31, 2015
EUR ’000

116

285

Construction contracts with a debit balance

0

2

-15
101

-182
105

Dec. 31, 2016
EUR ’000

Dec. 31, 2015
EUR ’000

6,610

3,607

Already invoiced revenues
Advance payment received
Total

» 27. Cash and cash equivalents «
Cash in banks

The increase is mainly due to the capital increase in December 2016.
As of December 31, 2016 the group has unused credit limits in the amount of
EUR1.275 million (2015: EUR.770 million).
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» 28. Issued capital / Treasury shares «
Issued capital break down as follows:
Dec. 31, 2016
EUR ’000

Dec. 31, 2015
EUR ’000

Ordinary shares

1,309

1,190

Treasury shares
Total

-4
1,305

-6
1,184

The Issued capital is fully paid and is divided into 1,308,978 no-par value
bearer shares. As of December 31, 2016 the number of issued shares totalled
1,308,978.
Based on the resolution at the Annual General meeting on June 12, 2015, the
Management Board is authorised, with Supervisory Board approval, to increase
share capital once or several times up to EUR 594,990 until June 11, 2020
through issuance of new no-par value registered shares and / or new no-par
value registered preferences without voting rights against cash and / or investment in-kind (Authorised Capital 2015). As a result of the capital increase on
December 20, 2016 the Authorised Capital 2015 was reduced to EUR 475,992.
By resolution of the Annual General Meeting on May 28, 2014, the capital of the
company was conditionally increased to EUR 594,990 by issuing up to 594,990
no-par value registered shares carrying dividend rights from the beginning
of the fiscal year of issue (Contingent Capital 2014). The contingent capital
increase is exclusively for the granting of shares to the holders of convertible
bonds and / or bonds with warrants which are issuded by the company or by
a 100% direct or indirect share capital pursuant to the authorization of the
Annual General Meeting of May 28, 2014 to May 27, 2019.
As of December 31, 2016 the parent company holds in total 3,700 (2015: 6,049)
common shares as treasury shares. This is equivalent to 0.29% (2015: 0.51%) of
the issued capital.
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» 29. Capital surplus «
Dec. 31, 2016
EUR ’000

Dec. 31, 2015
EUR ’000

January 1, 2016

5,064

4,441

Capital increase

5,089

0

37

73

68
10,258

550
5,064

Share-based compensation
Sale of treasury shares
Total

» 30. Share based payment «
Employee participation programm
The company launched an employee participation programm. In accordance
with the resolution, participants are granted bonus shares when certain conditions are met. The bonus shares are issued to those employees of EQS Group AG
and their domestic subsidiaries who acquire EQS shares as self-investment over
a period of 12 months and do not sell them during this investment period and
a subsequent holding period of 12 months. Students, trainees and members of
the management are not entitled to attend the programm.
The acquisition of each individual share within the framework of the investment
period entitles the participant to the subscription of further EQS shares in the
proportion of 1:1 in accordance with the conditions of the plan. The shares
acquired and the shares granted are held on a bank deposit during the entire
term. If the plan conditions are fully met after the end of the holding period, the
bonus shares will be allocated to the participants.

Fair value of bonus shares
The the fair value of each bonus shares for the tranche 2015 amounted to
EUR 33.50. The reserve is calculated based on the previous price development
taking into account a fluctuation rate of 5%.
In January 2016, another new tranche (MESP Tranche 2016) was issued. Share
dividends for this tranche are expected to take place in January 2018. The fair
value of each stock dividend amount to EUR 34.00. The reserve is calculated on
the previous price development taking into account a fluctuation rate of 5%.
The effects on the income for the period as well as the capital surplus in 2016
amount to €37K (2015: €73K).
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» 31. Retained earnings «
Dec. 31, 2016
EUR ’000

Dec. 31, 2015
EUR ’000

January 1, 2016

10,301

10,087

Group earnings

514

1,125 *

0

Adjustments according to IAS 8
Dividend payment
Purchase of minority interests
Total

9 *

-890

-883

0

-37
10,301

9,924

* Prior-year figures adjusted. We refer to Point 2. „Significant accounting and valuation
methods“ (2.4 Changes in the previous year‘s figures) in the notes

The dividend payment is calculated by the number of shares available at the date
of the distribution. Treasury shares are not eligible for dividend payments.

» 32. Currency translation «
Dec. 31, 2016
EUR ’000

Dec. 31, 2015
EUR ’000

January 1, 2016

599

214

Currency translations

131

289

Deferred tax
Total

38
768

96
599

Curreny translations arising from the translation of the functional currency of
foreign operations into the reporting currency of the Group (Euro) are recognized directly in other comprehensive income in the consolidated financial statements and cumulated in foreign currency translation reserves. Translation differences previously recognized in the reserve from foreign currency translation
are transferred to the statement of comprehensive income when a partial or
complete sale of the foreign business operation takes place.
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» 33. Non-controlling interests «
January 1, 2016
Purchase of non-controlling interests
Total

Dec. 31, 2016
EUR ’000

Dec. 31, 2015
EUR ’000

0

-37

2,969
2,969

37
0

The amount of the previous year relates to the non-controlling interest of the
purchased TodayIR Group in 2014.
The increase in non-controlling interests in 2016 is the result of the acquisition of
the share capital of ARIVA.DE AG (see point 3).
As of December 31, 2016 the non-controlling interests amounted to 48.75%.
The consolidated profit of the year attributable to non-controlling interests
amounts to EUR.299 million.
The following table shows the most important financial figures of ARIVA.DE AG
(before consolidation):

Dec. 31, 2016
EUR ’000

Dec. 31, 2015
EUR ’000

Non-current assets

4,094

3,485

Current assets

3,341

1,527

Current liabilities

-1,850

-885

Non-current liabilities
Net assets

-1,291
4,294

-2,297
1,830

2016
EUR ’000

2015
EUR ’000

7,474

4,894

713

133

Revenues
Profit
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» 34. Provisions «
As of Jan. 1,
2016
EUR ’000

Consumption 2016
EUR ’000

Reversal
2016
EUR ’000

Additions
2016
EUR ’000

Additions
initial consolidation
2016
EUR ’000

13

0

0

0

0

0

0

13

Obligation to reverse
contructional changes

137

0

0

0

0

1

0

138

Employer´s liability
insurance association

28

-27

-1

34

0

0

0

34

Bonuses/commissions

491

-484

-4

619

448

0

7

1,077

Outstanding invoices

31

-27

-4

41

10

0

0

51

Annual/consolidated
financial statements
fees

73

-70

-3

58

0

0

0

58

87

-70

0

63

0

0

0

80

860

-678

-12

815

458

1

7

1,451

Storage of business
documents

Annual/consolidated
financial statements
audit fees
Total

2016
EUR ‚000

2015
EUR ‚000

Current

1,300

710

Non-current
Total

151
1,451

150
860

Compounding/Discounting
2016
EUR ’000

Currency
translation
As of
2016 Dec. 31, 2016
EUR ’000
EUR ’000

Storage of business documents

Bonuses/commissions

The provision was formed due to the legal obligation to
store business documents, which stipulates a retention
period of up to 10 years.

These amounts are payments for bonuses and commissions for the actual staff. Bonuses will be paid in April.
Decision regarding the bonus payments are made by the
management board. Decisions regarding bonus payments
for the Management Board are made by the Supervisory
Board.

Obligation to reverse constructional changes
The obligation is a result of the relocation of the office of
the headquarter in 2015 and its corresponding expenses
to reverse constructional changes.

Employer’s liability insurance association
The amount has been estimated based on demand for
payment of the previous year including the actual changes
in staff and salary structure.

Outstanding invoices
For the purpose of an accrual accounting presentation
of expenses, the amount of outstanding invoices for
services already made, has been estimated and shown as
provisions.

Annual/consolidated financial statements fee
and audit fees
These amounts are a result of estimates for the fee for
annual financial statements and audit.
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» 35. Financial liabilities «
Dec. 31, 2016
EUR ’000

Dec. 31, 2015
EUR ’000

Unsecured - at amortised cost
23

17

6,395

6,617

Directors' remuneration

14

46

Debtors' credit balances

52

6

Business trips/other personnel expenses

48

58

312

331

Credit card statements
Borrowings

Obligation in respect of contracts with rent-free
period

6,844

7,075 *

Secured - at amortised cost
Deposit
Finance lease (see note 36)

5

7

557

0

562

7 *

Designated at fair value
Contingent consideration arrangements

Total

1,818

1,242

1,818

1,242

9,224

8,324 *

* Prior-year figures adjusted. We refer to Point 2. „Significant accounting and valuation
methods“ (2.4 Changes in the previous year‘s figures) in the notes

The contingent consideration arrangements relates to the last tranche of the
acquired TodayIR-Group as well as to the earn-out agreements for the purchase
of Tensid AG and ARIVA.DE AG.

Dec. 31, 2016
EUR ’000

Dec. 31, 2015
EUR ’000

Current

4,151

1,967

Non-current
Total

5,073

6,357
8,324 *

9,224

* Prior-year figures adjusted. We refer to Point 2. „Significant accounting and valuation
methods“ (2.4 Changes in the previous year‘s figures) in the notes

Credit card statements are the amounts as of the December 31, 2016 which have
not yet been debited.
Borrowings are fixed-interest loans with a maximum maturity of 5 years (2015: 5
years) taken out by credit institutions. The weighted average effective interest
rate on loans is 1.18% per year (2015: 0.95%). The amount outstanding is adjusted
by changes in the fair value.
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» 36. Obligations under finance leases «
Leasing arrangements
The group leased certain of its equipment under finance leases. The average lease term is three to five years (2015: three to
five years). Interest rates underlying all obligations under finance leases are fixed at respective contract dates ranging from
3% to 4.95% (2015: 3.9% to 4.95%) per annum.

Finance lease liabilities

Minimum lease payments

Present value of minimum lease
payments

Dec. 31, 2016
EUR’000

Dec. 31, 2015
EUR ’000

Not later than one year

239

-

229

-

Later than one year and not later than five years

340

-

328

-

0

-

0

-

579

0

557

0

-22
557

0

0
557

0

Later than five years
Less: future finance charges
Present value of minimum lease payments

Included in the consolidated financial statements as financial liabilities:
Dec. 31, 2016
EUR ’000

Dec. 31, 2015
EUR ’000

Current

229

0

Non-current
Total

328

0

557

0

The carrying amount of equipment held as part of as finance lease amounted to
EUR.342 million (2015: EUR 0).

» 37. Trade accounts payable «
Trade accounts payable
Advanced payments received on account of
construction contracts
Total

Dec. 31, 2016
EUR ’000

Dec. 31, 2015
EUR ’000

1,514

695

20

2

1,534

697

Trade accounts payable do not bear interest and usually have a maturity of 30
days on average.
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Dec. 31, 2016 Dec. 31, 2015
EUR ’000
EUR ’000

» 38. Liabilities from percentage-of-completion «
Dec. 31, 2016
EUR ’000

Dec. 31, 2015
EUR ’000

0

20

Dec. 31, 2016
EUR ’000

Dec. 31, 2015
EUR ’000

VAT

208

302

Tax on wages

189

96

2,202

1,151

53

14

7
2,659

7
1,570

Dec. 31, 2016
EUR ’000

Dec. 31, 2015
EUR ’000

Current

2,659

1,570

Non-current
Total

0
2,659

0
1,570

Liabilites from PoC

» 39. Other liabilities «

Advance payment from customers
Vacation
Others
Total

The increase of the advanced payments from customers is mainly due to the new
initial consolidation of the ARIVA.DE AG as well as the Tensid AG.
The other liabilities do not bear interest and usually have a maturity of 30 days
on average.
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» Additional Reporting Components «

» 40. Financial instruments «
40.1 Capital management
The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will be able to
continue as going concerns while maximising the return to stakeholders through
the optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s overall strategy
remains unchanged from the previous year.
The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt (borrowings offset by
cash and bank balances) and equity of the Group (comprising issued capital,
reserves, retained earnings and non-controlling interests).
The Group is not subject to any externally imposed capital requirements.
The Group’s risk management committee reviews the capital structure of the
Group on a gearing ratio basis, the ratio of net financial debt to the sum of equity
andnet financial debt. Net financial liabilities include interest-bearing loans,
trade payables plus other liabilities and less cash. Shareholder’s equity includes
equity capital attributable to equity holders of the parent company.

Dec. 31, 2016
EUR ’000

Dec. 31, 2015
EUR ’000

Financial liabilities

9,224

8,324 *

Trade accounts payable, income tax liabilities and
other current and non-current liabilities

6,504

3,417 *

Cash
Net debt

-6,610
9,118

-3,607
8,134

Equity

25,224

17,148 *

Equity and net debt

34,342

25,282 *

Net debt to equity ratio

26.6%

32.2% *

* Prior-year figures adjusted. We refer to Point 2. „Significant accounting and valuation
methods“ (2.4 Changes in the previous year‘s figures) in the notes

The group has a target gearing ratio of 25% to 50%.
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40.2 Categories of financial instruments
Dec. 31, 2016
EUR ’000

Dec. 31, 2015
EUR ’000

Cash and bank balances

6,610

3,607

Loans and receivables

5,413

3,945

0

4

At amortised costs

8,939

7,779

Designated as at FVTPL

1,819

1,242 *

Financial assets

Derivates
Financial liabilities

557

Liabilities from finance lease

0

* Prior-year figures adjusted. We refer to Point 2. „Significant accounting and valuation
methods“ (2.4 Changes in the previous year‘s figures) in the notes

40.3 Financial risk management objectives
The Group’s Corporate Treasury function provides services to the business,
coordinates access to domestic and international ﬁnancial markets, monitors
and manages the ﬁnancial risks relating to the operations of the Group through
internal risk reports which analyse exposures by degree and magnitude of risks.
These risks include market risk (including currency risk, interest rate risk and
other price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.

40.4 Market risk
Market risk entails the possibility that the fair value or future cash flows of a
financial intrument might fluctuate owing to changes in market prices. Market
risk encompasses the three following types of risk: foreign exchange risk,
interest risk and other price risks such as share price risk. Among other factors,
the financial instruments exposed to market risk include interest-bearing loans
and financial assets available for sale.
The sensitivity analyses in the following sections refer to the situation on 31
December 2016 and/or 2015.
The sensitivity analyses were compiled on the basis of the hedging relationships
that existed on 31 December 2016 and under the premise that the net debt, the
ratio of fixed and variable interest on liabilities and the share of financial instruments in foreign currencies remain constant.
The possible impact of changes to the market variables on the book values oft he
provisions and accounts payable from foreign business operations were omitted
from the analyses.
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40.5 Foreign currency risk managment
The Group undertakes transactions denominated in foreign currencies; consequently, exposures to exchange rate fluctuation arise. Foreign currency risks
arising from the inclusion of foreign subsidiaries in the consolidated financial
statements (translation risks) are disregarded.
Currently, no hedging measures are used to hedge currency risks.
The carrying amount of the Group’s foreign currency denominated monetary
assets and monetary liabilities at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

Liabilities
Dec. 31, 2016
EUR ’000

Dec. 31, 2015
EUR ’000

Assets
Dec. 31, 2016 Dec. 31, 2015
EUR ’000
EUR ’000

USD

20

-

78

-

CHF

983

126

181

109

GBP

135

170

120

56

RUB

65

39

14

178

HKD

1,873

1,834

69

238

INR

7

19

72

35

AED

-

-

63

-

Foreign currency sensitivity analyses
The Group is mainly exposed tot he currencies mentioned in the table above.
The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 10% increase and decrease
in the EUR against the relevant foreign currencies. 10% is the sensitivity rate used
when reporting foreign currency risk internally to key management personnel
and represents management’s assessment of the reasonably possible change
in foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding
foreign currency denominated monetary items and adjusts their translation at
the period end for a 10% change in foreign currency rates. The sensitivity analysis
includes external loans as well as loans to foreign operations within the Group
where the denomination of the loan is in a currency other than the functional
currency of the lender or the borrower. A positive number below indicates an
increase in proﬁt or equity where the CU strengthens 10% against the relevant
currency. For a 10% weakening of the EUR against the relevant currency, there
would be a comparable impact on the proﬁt or equity, and the balances below
would be negative.
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Group earnings

Equity

2016
EUR ’000

2015
EUR ’000

Dec. 31, 2016 Dec. 31, 2015
EUR ’000
EUR ’000

Impact CHF

-

4

80

2

Impact HKD

-

6

180

160

Impact GBP

-

-

1

11

Impact AED

2

-

6

-

Impact USD

1

-

6

-

Impact RUB

-

-

5

14

Impact INR

-

-

6

2

The sales denominated in foreign currencies are seasonal, with sales in the last
quarter of the financial year generally higher. This leads to an increase in trade
receivables in foreign currency at the end of the reporting period.

40.6 Interest rate risk management
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial
instrument might fluctuate owing to changes in interest rates in the market.
On the balance sheet date there were nor interest rate risks to the long term
loans, since these are guaranteed with a fixed rate of interest throughout their
lifespan. In addition to this – if at all – short term bank overdrafts are only drawn
upon which do not attract an interest risk.
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40.7 Share price risk
Publicly listed equity securities are susceptible to market price risks which result
from the uncertainities regarding the future value developments of these
securities. On the balance sheet date, the group holds treasury shares to the
value of €4K (2015: €6K) as publicly listed equity instruments.

40.8 Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk of a business partner failing to fulfil its obligations
surrounding a financial instrument, which subsequently leads to a financial loss.
In the scope of its business operations, the group is exposed to default risks (in
particular, risks resulting from trade account receivables and loans issued), as
well as risks in the scope of its financing activities, including deposits with banks
and other financial instruments.
Credit risk from receivables: the credit risk from receivables due from customers
is managed by the corresponding business unit on the basis of the guidelines,
regulations and control mechanisms of the group for the management of credit
risk with customers. Credit limits are assessed for all customers on the basis
of the internal risk classification attributes. Outstanding receivables due from
customers are monitored n a regular basis so that the group is not exposed
to any major risk of default. With foreign customers, business transactions in
the parent company are increasingly being completed on the basis of advance
payments.
Apart from 4 companies, which were included as new accounts receivable by the
business combinations, the Group is not exposed to any material default risks
of a contracting party. However, the concentration of default risks with respect
to the 4 companies remained below 10% of the total trade receivables in the
reporting year.
The default risk from liquid funds is low as the contracting parties are banks with
excellent credit ratings from international credit rating agencies.
The Group does not have collateral or other credit enhancement measures that
would reduce the default risk from financial assets.
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40.9 Liquidity risk management
Ultimate responsibility for liquidity risk management rests with the board of directors, which has established an appropriate liquidity risk management framework for the management of the Group’s short-, medium- and long-term funding and
liquidity management requirements. The Group manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate reserves, banking facilities
and reserve borrowing facilities, by continuously monitoring forecast and actual cash ﬂows, and by matching the maturity
proﬁles of ﬁnancial assets and liabilities. Furthermore the Group has additional undrawn facilities at its disposal to further
reduce liquidity risk.
The following tables detail the Group’s remaining contractual maturity for its non-derivative ﬁnancial liabilities with agreed
repayment periods. The tables have been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash ﬂows of ﬁnancial liabilities based on
the earliest date on which the Group can be required to pay. The tables include both interest and principal cash ﬂows. To
the extent that interest ﬂows are ﬂoating rate, the undiscounted amount is derived from interest rate curves at the end
of the reporting period. The contractual maturity is based on the earliest date on which the Group may be required to pay.

Weighted
average effective interest
%

Less than
1 month

1–3
months

4 – 12
month

1–5
years

more than
5 years

Total
amount

Carrying
amount

EUR ’000

EUR ’000

EUR ’000

EUR ’000

EUR ’000

EUR ’000

EUR ’000

Non-interest bearing

-

126

23

27

143

130

449

449

Finance lease liability

3.86

20

41

178

340

0

579

557

1.26

186

568

3,095

4,496

0

8,345

8,218

332

632

3,300

4,979

130

9,373

9,224

Weighted
average effective interest
%

Less than
1 month

1–3
months

4 – 12
month

1–5
years

more than
5 years

Total
amount

Carrying
amount

EUR ’000

EUR ’000

EUR ’000

EUR ’000

EUR ’000

EUR ’000

EUR ’000

Non-interest bearing

-

83

55

27

143

149

457

457

Finance lease liability

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

1.18

0

479

1,431

6,106

0

8,016

7,867 *

83

534

1,458

6,249

149

8,473

8,324 *

Financial year
as of Dec. 31, 2016

Fixed interest rate
instruments
Total

Financial year
as of Dec. 31, 2015

Fixed interest rate
instruments
Total

* Prior-year figures adjusted. We refer to Point 2. „Significant accounting and valuation methods“ (2.4 Changes in the previous year‘s
figures) in the notes

The Group has access to financing facilities as described in note 27, of which €1.275 million were unused at the end of
the reporting period (2015: €770 million). The Group expects to meet its other obligations from operating cash flows and
proceeds of maturing financial assets.
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40.10

Fair value measurements

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities that are measured at fair value on a
recurring basis
Some of the Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period.
The following table gives information about how the fair values of these financial assets and financial liabilities are determined.

Financial liabilities

Contingent consideration in a business
combination

Fair value
as at
Dec. 31,
2016

Dec. 31,
2015

Fair value
hierarchy

Liabilities
EUR
1.819.000

Liabilities
EUR
1.242.000

Level 3

Valuation
technique(s) and
key input(s)

Discounted cash
flow method

Significant unobservable inputs(s)

Relationship of unobservable
inputs to fair value

A slight increase in the
discount rate used in
Discount rate 1.75%
isolation would result in a
(2015: 2.0%)
significant decrease in the
fair value.

Input factors at Level 1 are proce quotations in active markets for identical assets or liabilities, which the company has
access to on the reporting date.
Input factors at Level 2 are market prices other than those listed at Level 1, which are either directly or indirectly observable
for the asset or liability.
Input factors at Level 3 are unobservable input factors for the asset or liability.
There were no transfers between the levels in the period.
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Fair value oft he Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities that not are measured at fair value
(but fair value disclosures are required)
Except as detailed in the following table, the directors consider that the carrying amount of financial assets and financial
liabilities recognized in the consolidated financial statements approximate their fair values:

As of Dec. 31. 2016
Level 1
EUR ’000

Level 2
EUR ’000

Level 3
EUR ’000

Total
EUR ’000

0

1,347
1,347

0

1,347
1,347

0

6,522
6,522

0

6,522
6,522

Financial assets
Loans and receivables
Total
Financial liabilities
Bank loans
Total

As of Dec. 31. 2015
Level 1
EUR ’000

Level 2
EUR ’000

Level 3
EUR ’000

Total
EUR ’000

0

1,108
1,108

0

1,108
1,108

0

6,766
6,766

0

6,766
6,766

Financial assets
Loans and receivables
Total
Financial liabilities
Bank loans
Total
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» 41. Cash and cash equivalents «
For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash
equivalent include cash on hand and in bank, net of outstanding bank overdrafts.

» 42. Operating-Lease agreements «
The Group as lessee
Leasing arrangements
Operating leases relate to leases of IT equipment with lease terms of between 3 an 5 years as well
of property with lease terms up to 10 years. The Group does not have an option to purchase the
leased assets at the expiry of the lease periods.

Payment recognises as an expense
Dec. 31, 2016
EUR ’000

Dec. 31, 2015
EUR ’000

Minimum lease payments

1,548

1,228

Sub-lease payments received
Total

-29
1,519

-26
1,202

Dec. 31, 2016
EUR ’000

Dec. 31, 2015
EUR ’000

Not later than 1 year

1,643

1,394

Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years

5,253

4,507

4,326
11,222

4,256
10,157

Non-cancellable operating lease commitments

Later than 5 years
Total

In respect of non-cancellable operating lease arrangements the following liabilities are recognised:
Dec. 31, 2016
EUR ’000

Current
Non-current
Total

Dec. 31, 2015
EUR ’000

40

36

272
312

295
331
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» 43. Related party transactions «
Balances and transactions between the Company and its subsidiaries, which are
related parties of the Company, have been eliminated on consolidation and are
not disclosed in this note. Details of transactions between the Group and other
related parties are disclosed below.
During the year, group entitites entered into the following trading transactions
with related parties that are not members of the Group:

Sales/Purchases of/from
related parties

EQS Group AG

Subsidiaries

Sales

Purchases

Receivables

Liabilities

EUR ’000

EUR ’000

EUR ’000

EUR ’000

2016

8

27

0

13

2015

20

64

0

3

2016

2,700

0

0

0

2015

0

0

0

0

Sales of goods to related parties are carried out at standard market conditions.
The sale of the subsidiaries is the sale of property by ARIVA.DE AG to
Neufeldtneun GmbH & Co. KG.
The amounts outstanding are unsecured and will be settled in cash. No
guarantees have been given or received. No expenses has been recognized in
the current or prior year for bad or doubtful debts in respect of the amounts
owed by related parties.

Compensation of key management personnel
The remunerations of managers in key positions amounted in the fiscal year
€.567 million (2015: €.448 million), thereof variable €51K (2015: €51K). In the
total amount included is an overseas allowance and a cost of living allowance of
€67K. In the 2016 financial year, the members of the Supervisory Board received
a fixed renumeration to the amount of €48K (2015: €44K).
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» 44. Subsidiaries acquired «
Office

Share in equity

Munich

100.00%

Moscow

100.00%

Baar

100.00%

Hong Kong

100.00%

Name

EQS Financial Markets & Media GmbH
EquityStory RS, LLC
Tensid EQS AG
EQS Asia Limited
EQS Web Technologies Pvt. Ltd.

Cochin

99.96%

Hong Kong

100.00%

EQS Maitu Shangwu Consulting Co. Ltd.

Shenzhen

100.00%

Shenzhen Maitu Shidai Technology Co. Ltd.

Shenzhen

100.00%

Hong Kong

100.00%

Singapore

100.00%

EQS Group Ltd.

London

100.00%

EQS Group Inc.

New York

100.00%

EQS TodayIR Limited

TodayIR Holdings Limited (Taiwan)
EQS Digital IR Pte. Ltd.

ARIVA.DE AG
EQS Group FZ-LLC

Kiel

51.25%

Dubai

100.00%

» 45. Empoyees «
The average number of employees was 260 (2015: 182).

» 46. Auditor’s fee «
The total fee payable to the group auditor for the 2016 financial year amounted
to €75K (2015: €65K) and relates in full to the services of the annual and group
audit. No other services were provided.
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» 47. Organs of the Company «
The following persons make up the Management Board
»» Dipl.-Kfm. Achim Weick, CEO, Munich
»» Dipl.-Kfm. Christian Pfleger, COO, Munich
The following persons make up the Supervisory Board
»» Rony Vogel, MSc. Eng. And MBA, Entrepreneur and Investor, Munich (Chairman)
»» Robert Wirth, M.A. in Media Marketing, BAW, Consultant and Investor, Amberg
»» Peter Conzatti, M.A. und MBA, Fund Manager, Bad Homburg

» 48. Events after the balance sheet date «
Effective January 1, 2017, the company increased its existing stake in ARIVA.DE
AG to 67% and has also concluded a mutual option agreement with the founders
and shareholders of ARIVA.DE AG , which in the medium term will accept a full
takeover of the Company.
Effective January 22, 2017, the two companies EQS Maitu Shangwu Consulting
Co. Ltd. and Shenzhen Maitu Shidai Technology Co. Ltd. merged.
Furthermore, there are no events of particular significance for the Group.

» 49. Approval of the financial statements «
The financial statements were approved by the Managment Boad on March 31,
2017 and approved for publication.
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» 50. Exemption from the duty of disclosure «
The fully consolidated company EQS Financial Markets & Media GmbH, head
office: Munich, HRB 199404 (formerly the limited company financial.de, head
office: Munich, HRB 170868) is, pursuant to section 264 para. 3 HGB (Commercial
Code), exempt from having to prepare, having audited and having to disclose a
full annual financial statement and a management report in accordance with the
provisions for stock corporations pursuant to section 264 et seq., HGB.

Munich, March 31, 2017

Achim Weick
(Gründer und CEO)

Christian Pfleger
(COO)
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» Financial calendar of EQS Group AG «
Apr 04, 2017

Publication of Annual Report

Apr 06, 2017

m:access Analystenkonferenz

Apr 26, 2017

Munich Capital Market Conference

May 08, 2017

DVFA Spring Conference

May 17, 2017

Annual General Meeting

May 17, 2017

Publication quarterly statement (call-date Q1)

Jun 01, 2017

quirin Champions 2017 Conference

Aug 14, 2017

Publication half-yearly financial statements

Sep 06, 2017

ZKK (Zürcher Kapitalmarkt Konferenz)

Nov 15, 2017

Publication quarterly statement (call-date Q3)

Dec 12, 2017

MKK (Münchner Kapitalmarkt Konferenz)

» Stock exchange data of EQS Group AG «
Share

EQS Group AG

WKN

549416

ISIN

DE0005494165

Ticker Symbol

EQS

Type of Shares

Ordinary shares

Sector

Digital Investor Relations

Initial listing

08.06.2006

Stock Exchange Listing

Open Market, Frankfurt Stock Exchange
m:access, Munich

Market segment

Scale

Company headquarter

Munich

Number of Shares

1.308.978 units

Amount of Nominal Capital

1.308.978 Euro

Designated Sponsor

Dero Bank AG, Munich
Applicant and listing Partner
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The official version of the EQS Group annual report is in
German. The English translation is provided as a convenience to our shareholders. While we strive to provide an
accurate and readable version of our report in English,
the technical nature of anreport often yields awkward
phrases and sentences. We understand this can cause
confusion. So, please always refer to the German report
for the authoritative version.
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